
 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
TUESDAY, MARCH 10, 2020 

REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

6:30 PM 
 

 

Roll Call 
Roll Call 

Approval of Agenda 
Agenda Approval 

Announcements 
Announcements 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests 
1. Visitors & Guests 

Consent Agenda 
2. Regular Minutes: 

February 11, 2020 

Large Park Event:  

Blue Sage Center for the Arts StoryFest Closing Celebration June 27, 2020 4:00-10:00PM 

Special Event Permits:  

Blue Sage Center for the Arts – Town Park - June 27, 2020 4:00-10:00PM 

Liquor License Renewals: 

En Passant, LLC dba Salt Pollen  

Mayor’s Report 
3. Mayor’s Report 

Staff Reports 

4. Administrator’s Report 

Public Works 

Police Report 

5. Treasurer’s Report 

Disbursements 
6. Disbursements 

Unfinished Business 
7. Dark Skies Paonia – Ordinance Discussion 

8. GOCO Grant Award – Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan 

New Business 
9. The Learning Council – Large Park Event 

Street Closure 

Sponsorship in Lieu of Fees 

10. Blue Sage Center for the Arts – Letter of Support – Grant Application 

11. Colorado Oil & Gas Conservation Commission Mission Change Rulemaking – Draft Letter – Requested 

by Trustee Bachran – Local Governmental Designee (LGD) 

12. Clark Alley Sewer Line Project – Settlement Agreement 

13. Resolution 2020-04 Accepting Roop Excavating, LLC Project: Clark Alley Sewer Line Replacement 

1



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

14. Town Hall Electrical Repairs 

15. I. Town Administrator and Police Chief - Direct Reporting Relationships – Requested by Finance & 

Personnel 

16. Personnel Handbook – Addition of Language to Section 803 – Requested by Finance & Personnel 

17. Modifications to Mayor Duties – Requested by Finance & Personnel  

Committee Reports 
18. Finance & Personnel 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

19. Space 2 Create 

20. Tree Board 

Adjournment 
21. Adjournment 

 

  

2



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

3



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

 

Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting.   

 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

 

III.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the even the Board plans to discuss more than one 

of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the announcement 

of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into executive session, 

there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

 

 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT 

 

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

  

4



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Roll Call 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

5



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Agenda Approval 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

6



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Announcements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

7



 

Mayoral 
Debate 

 

• March 14th 

• 1:00pm  

• Paonia Public 
Library – 80 Samuel 

Wade Road 

 

 

 

 

8



 

Candidate 
Forum 

 

• March 17th • 

• 6:00pm – 8:00pm • 

• Town Hall 214 
Grand Avenue • 

 

 

 

 

9



10



11



12



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Visitors & Guests 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

13

1.



 

March 6, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Regular Minutes: 

February 11, 2020 

Large Park Event:  

Blue Sage Center for the Arts StoryFest Closing Celebration June 27, 

2020 4:00-10:00PM 

Special Event Permits:  

Blue Sage Center for the Arts – Town Park - June 27, 2020 4:00-10:00PM 

Liquor License Renewals: 

En Passant, LLC dba Salt Pollen  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

14

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

 Regular Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

February 11, 2020 

 

 RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

The Regular Board Meeting held Tuesday, February 11, 2020, was called to order at 6:35 PM by 

Mayor Charles Stewart, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Roll Call: 

Board members present were as follows: 

 

Mayor Charles Stewart 

Trustee William Bear 

Trustee Mary Bachran 

Trustee Karen Budinger 

Trustee Dave Knutson 

Trustee Michelle Pattison 

 

A quorum was present, and Mayor Stewart proceeded with the meeting. 

 

Approval of Agenda 

 

Motion made by Trustee Bear, seconded by Trustee Budinger to remove item 10 (WSCC) 

Western Slope Conservation Center. Move item 11 (S2C) Space to Create to visitors and guests. 

Approve the agenda as amended. Voting aye: Trustee Bear, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Bachran, 

Trustee Knutson, Trustee Pattison. Motion carries. 

 

Announcements 

None. 

Trustee Appointment – Carolyn Diehl Oath of Office. 

 

New Trustee Carolyn Diehl was sworn in on February 11, 2020, at 6:37 pm by Interim 

Administrator/Town Clerk Ferguson. 

 

Visitors and Guests 

Bill Brunner questioned the current engineer's study in regard to the Water Moratorium 

Ordinance conditions. 

Administrator Ferguson stated the engineer is informed of the Water Moratorium Ordinance 

conditions that need to be met. 

 

Space to Create-Request for Board of Trustees Commit a Town Owned Parcel for Housing 

Mayor Stewart read summary notes.  

 

Discussion ensued by the Board of Trustee members in regard to Space to Create housing 

project.  

 

Discussion Points: 

● Ownership of the property - Town of Paonia. 

● Ownership of the units 

● Financial stability  

15

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

● Financial responsibility  

● Art Space is a nonprofit and is committed to keeping the units cost affordable. 

● Property management of the units – Art Space. 

● Commitment from the Town of Paonia - when the Town applied and accepted the 

project. 

● Financial funding. 

● Water taps - how many the Town will be able to sell after the engineering is complete. 

● Property market value  

● No funds coming out from Town’s budget- the only cost to Town is time staff spent on 

the project. 

● Land remediation – apply for Brownfields grant for land remediation testing. 

● Twin Lakes property will stay under Town of Paonia - tax exempt. 

● Paonia S2C team members have been working on the project for (3yrs.) three years. 

● Traffic study - required 

● Water taps  

● Units – property tax - partners responsibility. 

 

 

Public comment Points: 

●  The Town’s long-term economy - S2C stated that it will incentives the community by 

holding creative classes, a community center, and support the arts and community 

development.  

● Bill Brunner is not in favor of the S2C housing project - wants the community to vote. 

● Chris Kendall is concerned with the viability of Twin Lakes property for the reason that it 

was formerly a sewer plant.  

● Affordable housing in Paonia - will be addressed in the Town of Paonia’s master plan. 

● Concerns with the Twin Lakes landform. 

● Utilization of the units - anyone involved in creative pursuits. 

 

The predevelopment period will show details regarding the property, cost, and if it is viable land 

to develop on. 

 

Consent Agenda 

 

Amended Minutes - Regular Board Minutes, November 18, 2019. 

Regular Minutes - January 14, 2010 

 

Amended minutes from the November 18, 2019 meeting adding the motion to place on the 

agenda discussion of creation of a water committee. 

 

Motion by Trustee Bachran, seconded by Trustee Knutson to approve the consent agenda as 

presented. Voting aye: Trustee Bear, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Knutson, 

Trustee Pattison, Trustee Diehl. Motion carries. 

 

Mayor’s Report 

Committee Appointments 

 

Mayor Stewart appointed  

● Trustee Diehl and Trustee Bear to Public Works - Utilities - Facilities. 

● Trustee Budinger and Trustee Knutson to Finance and Personnel. 

● Trustee Pattison and Trustee Bachran to Governmental Affairs and Public Safety. 

 

16

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

Staff Reports 

 

Administrators Report 

 

● 2020 Presidential Primary - ballots go out February 12, 2020. 

● 2020 Presidential Primary super Tuesday - March 03, 2020. 

● No stamp required when using a designated drop of ballot box. 

● Voters are required to sign their ballots. 

● Completed boundary and annexation survey to be included in the 2020 census. 

● Planter in front of the Town Hall’s was relocated for better access for the glass enclosed 

bulletin board  

● Soliciting bids for replacing Town Hall’s lights. 

● Streetlights ordered - date of arrival and installation of new lights undetermined. 

● Attending One Delta County meetings - in the event the board chooses to participate in 

the future.  

● The Delta County Economic Alliance meets every 2 weeks - working on developing a 

draft (IGA) Intergovernmental Agreement between individual communities and the 

county. 

● Planning and Zoning code update meeting February 27, 2020. 

 

Public Works Report 

 

● Clark sewer project finishing up the week of the 14th. 

● Clark alley - fixing in spring of 2020. 

● Bulk water fill station - (2) two quotes - (1st) first one is a new Coleman fill station - 

(2nd) second one is a retro fit into the current fill station - more information on these 

options is being gathered. 

● Water production went down from 230,000 gallons per day to 189 per day gallons - 

found large leak near the 1 mil plant - leak has been fixed 

● 2 Mil - spilling 89,000 gallons per day. 

● 1 Mil - 100,000 gallons per day. 

 

Police Report 

 

● Received applications for the administrative clerk position for the police and public 

works department – extended deadline date to receive applications to February 21, 2020. 

● Police blotter was included in the packet. 

 

Treasurer’s Report 

 

● Payroll and disbursement were reviewed. 

 

Disbursements 

 

Motion by Trustee Budinger, seconded by Trustee Knutson to approve disbursements with 

exception of Roop disbursement. Voting aye: Trustee Bear, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Budinger, 

Trustee Knutson, Trustee Pattison Trustee Diehl. Motion carries. 

 

Disbursements documents were included in the packet. 

 

Unfinished Business 

 

17

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

USDA Loan Refinance - Discussion Continued 

 

Trustee Diehl recused her vote. 

 

Discussion Points: 

● AMKO advisors’ bond - bond counsel - no fee 

● Looking into other bond counsel firms - bond counsel costs are high - a bond counsel 

price is $600 an hour. 

● Board concerned with approval of the AMKO Advisors agreement. 

● Town Attorney stated that AMKO Advisors needed to know about the current water 

moratorium, and past water issues in February 2019. 

● The Town Attorney stated that more reviews will be needed as the process moves along.  

● A memo with the review and recommendations of the AMKO Advisors agreement from 

the Town Attorney’s office was included in the packet. 

● An email from AMKO Advisors to Town Administrator Ferguson, and the Preliminary 

official statement documents were included in the packet. 

 

 

Motion by Trustee Budinger seconded by Trustee Bachran to approve the AMKO Advisors 

agreement. Voting aye: Trustee Budinger, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Bear. 

Voting nay: Trustee Pattison. Motion carried with 4 ayes and 1 nay. 

 

 

New Business 

 

Picken In the Park - Rob Miller 

 

Motion by Trustee Bachran seconded by Trustee Budinger to approve Picken in Park large park 

event. Voting aye: Trustee Bachran, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Bear, Trustee Knutson, Trustee 

Pattison, Trustee Diehl. Motion carries. 

 

Large park event and road closure applications were included in the packet. 

 

Discussion ensued by Picken in the Park event organizer Rob Miller asked the Board Members 

to waive fees in exchange for sponsorship.  

 

Discussion Points: 

● Waive park rental fees 

● Waive road closure fee 

● More lighting and plug in outlets in the park. 

 

Discussion ensued by the Board of Trustees regarding waiving fees for Picken in Park and 

concerned with the issues it can bring if approved.  

 

Discussion Points: 

● Closing North Fork - residential issue - no 

● Move porter potties along 5th street - ground is not leveled - will be looking into a better 

area to have the porter potties. 

● Approving request can cause other entities who hold similar events to request waiving 

fees from the Town Board. 

● Cost to Town - Town staff time - public works - police department 

 

18

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

Public Comment: 

● Picken in the park is a community-oriented event. 

● Picken in the Park is a fun event that is held in paonia. 

 

Motion by Trustee Pattison, seconded by Trustee Knutson to waive park and road closure fees in 

exchange for Town recognition from Picken in Park. Voting aye: Trustee Bachran, Trustee 

Budinger, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Pattison. Voting nay: Trustee Diehl, Trustee Bear. Motion 

carries with 4 ayes 2 nays. 

 

Western Slope Conservation Center – 2020 Riverpark Project Updates. 

Removed from agenda. 

 

Discussion Regarding Dogs at Large. 

 

Discussion ensued regarding the increase of dogs at large and the nuisance it has caused for the 

Town residence.  

 

Discussion Points: 

● No housing for dogs – only veterinary in paonia - Dr. Vincent retired 

● Paonia Chief Ferguson contacted Dr. Raymond a vet located in Hotchkiss on Pitkin to 

house dogs – collecting information of housing cost. 

● Town Administrator Ferguson advised to meet with Governmental Affairs regarding the 

dog’s at large issue. 

● Chief Ferguson advised residents to license their dogs with the Town – 1st offence is $50, 

2nd offence is $100, and 3rd is court summons for at dogs at large. 

● Town Administrator Ferguson advised to promote a free or reduced fee for a month to 

license dogs. 

● Increase fee for dogs at large 

● Fence Hight 

 

Motion by Trustee Pattison, seconded by Trustee Budinger to set a free month for dog license 

with plenty of advertisement. Once free month ends fee will revert back to regular cost. Voting 

aye: Trustee Pattison, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Diehl. Voting nay: Trustee 

Bear, Trustee Knutson. Motion carries with 4 ayes and 2 nays. 

 

Motion by Trustee Diehl, seconded by Trustee Pattison to refer the fence ordinance specific to 

the height to Governmental Affairs. Voting aye: Trustee Diehl, Trustee Pattison, Trustee 

Bachran, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Bear, Trustee Knutson. Motion carries. 

 

Discussion Regarding the Creation of a Municipal Water Committee. 

 

Discussion ensued by Trustee Pattison regarding the creation of a Municipal Water Committee to 

have a structured water system that will include input from the out of Town water users. 

 

Discussion Points: 

● Trustee Diehl advised to refer the subject matter to the Public Works – Utilities – 

Facilities Committee. 

● Municipal Water Committee – members to serve on the board – director of the board – 

Town Board council member to be on the Municipal Water Committee. 

● Municipal Water Committee – committee will be an advisory board only and will report 

to the Town Board. 

19

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 6 

 

● Town Attorney Nerlin advised the Town Board to discuss the subject matter further in 

reference under Title 31 in the state statues.  

● Have an adequate number of people wanting to serve on the water committee. 

 

Motion by Trustee Pattison, seconded by Trustee Diehl to instruct Town staff to put a call out to  

request applications or resumes from people, to join the Municipal Water Committee and set an 

operate application deadline date and submit the application to the Public Works committee and 

have the Public Works committee make the initial Water Committee appointment . Motion 

withdrawn by Trustee Pattison.  

 

Discussion of Proposed Language Amending Municipal Code Chapter 18 – Temporary Signs as 

Provided by Trustee Pattison. 

 

Discussion regarding the proposed language amending the temporary sign code in the Municipal 

code chapter 18 section 2. 18-6-40 was presented to the Town Board by Trustee Pattison. The 

draft ordinance was included in the packet. 

 

Discussion Points: 

● Updating the language from the Municipal code chapter 18 section 2. 18-6-40 to Trustees 

Pattison’s recommended language. 

● Town Attorney Nerlin advised the board to review the language further. 

 

Motion by Trustee Pattison, seconded by Trustee Bachran to send the drafted ordinance for 

review by Town Counsel in coordination with the Town Attorney and its understanding 

pertaining to its intent to adhere .Voting aye: Trustee Pattison, Trustee Bachran, Trustee 

Knutson, Trustee Bear, Trustee Diehl, Trustee Budinger. Motion carries. 

 

Discussion of Proposed Language Amending Municipal Code Chapter 2 – Elections as Provided 

by Trustee Pattison. 

 

Discussion regarding the proposed language amending the Elections code in the Municipal code 

chapter 2 section 2. 2-1-40 as presented to the Town Board by Trustee Pattison. 

 

Motion by Trustee Pattison, seconded by Trustee Bachran to refer the drafted ordinance to the 

Town Attorney for review. Voting aye: Trustee Pattison, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Knutson, 

Trustee Bear, Trustee Diehl, Trustee Budinger. Motion carries. 

 

Motion by Trustee Pattison, seconded by Trustee Bachran to have the Town Clerk in conjunction 

with the Town Attorney to review the drafted ordinance for issues and consider the Town 

Clerk’s revised ordinance. Voting aye: Trustee Pattison, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Knutson, 

Trustee Bear, Trustee Diehl, Trustee Budinger. Motion carries. 

 

Committee Reports 

 

Finance & Personnel 

  

● AMKO Adviser’s draft ordinance was not included on the agenda. 

● Employee liaison – appoint new member. 

 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

● (GAPS) Governmental Affairs and Public Safety priority list to be addressed at the next 

meeting on February 25, 2020. 

20

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 7 

 

● Trustee Pattison informed that a meeting with the committee member Trustee Bachran 

and Chief Ferguson to discuss dogs ‘at large issue will be scheduled.  

 

Public Works – Utilities – Facilities 

 

● On January 30, 2020 met with committee member Trustee Bachran, Town staff, and JDS 

Hydro. 

● On March 07, 2020, a Public Works – Utilities – Facilities meeting to discuss Clark 

sewer project change order and answer questions regarding the water moratorium. 

 

Space 2 Create 

 

Nothing to report. 

 

Tree Board 

 

● Arbor Day – April 24th.  

● Arbor Day celebration – May 1st – participation from students. 

● Planting trees in honor of Ed Marston and Jordan Schevene 

● Recommended Apple Valley to plant the trees. 

 

Motion by Trustee Bear, seconded by Trustee Bachran to extend the meeting to 10:30pm. Voting 

aye: Trustee Bachran, Trustee Bear, Trustee Pattison, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Diehl. Motion 

carries. 

 

Executive Session 

 

Executive session for a conference with the Town Attorney for the purpose of receiving 

legal advice on specific questions to discuss the West Fourth Street Town Lot purchase, 

acquisition, lease, transfer, or sale of real, personal, or other property interest under C.R.S. 

Section 24-6-402(4)(a); 

 

Motion to enter executive session for a conference with the Town attorney for the purpose 

of receiving legal advice on specific legal questions under interest under C.R.S. Section 24-

6-402(4)(a); regarding the West Fourth Street Town Lot. Motion made by Trustee Bachran, 

Seconded by Trustee Bear. Voting aye: Trustee Bear, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Budinger, 

Trustee Knutson, Trustee Pattison, Trustee Diehl. 

 

Executive session for a conference with the Town Attorney for the purpose of receiving 

legal advice on specific questions to discuss the purpose of determining positions relative to 

matters that may be subject to negotiations, developing strategy for negotiations, and/or 

instructing negotiators, under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(e); Clark Alley Sewer Line 

Project. 

 

 

 

Motion to enter executive session for a conference with the Town attorney for the purpose 

of receiving legal advice on the Clark Alley Sewer Line Project specific legal questions 

under interest under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(e). Motion made by Trustee Bachran, 

Seconded by Trustee Bear. Voting aye: Trustee Bear, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Budinger, 

Trustee Knutson, Trustee Pattison, Trustee Diehl. 

 

21

2.



 

 
  

FEBRUARY 11, 2020 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 8 

 

Entered executive session at 9:40pm. 

 

Returned to open meeting at 10:36pm.  

 

In attendance were: Mayor Stewart, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Bear, Trustee Budinger, Trustee 

Pattison, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Diehl, Town Attorney Nerlin, Administrator Ferguson, Public 

Works Director Travis Loberg. 

 

 

Motion by Trustee Bear, seconded by Trustee Knutson to pay Roop Excavation invoice less 

25%. Voting aye: Trustee Bear, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Knutson, Trustee 

Pattison, Trustee Diehl. 

 

 

Adjournment 

 

Motion by Trustee Bear, seconded by Trustee Bachran to adjourn the meeting. Voting aye: 

Trustee Bear, Trustee Bachran, Trustee Budinger, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Pattison, Trustee 

Diehl. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 10:39pm. 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                         Charles Stewart, Mayor  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22

2.



23

2.



24

2.



25

2.



26

2.



27

2.



28

2.



29

2.



30

2.



31

2.



32

2.



33

2.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Mayor’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

: 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

34

3.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Administrator’s Report 

Public Works 

Police Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VW – verbal warning 

WW – written warning 

CIT - citation 

CAA – clear adult arrest 

UTL – unable to locate 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

: 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

35

4.



rplwlitr.x1

Paonia Police Department
Law Incident Table, by Date and Time

Date Occurred:   02/15/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
06:55:01 ALARM PPD PPD
10:31:43 CITIZEN ASSIST PPD PPD
12:34:42 AGENCY ASSIST PPD DIST3
16:32:34 SUSPICIOUS

Address
1ST ST, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
LAMBORN MESA RD, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE;PHS, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   02/16/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
00:54:44 Noise Complaint PPD PPD CIT
13:32:36 Medical/transfe

MAIN AVE; Paonia, CO 
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

16:31:31 Information MINNESOTA AVE; back alley, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   02/18/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
12:30:00 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
17:08:36 Traffic Stop PPD DIST3 WW

18:32:38 Noise Complaint PPD PPD VW
19:39:36 SUSPICIOUS

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
50 BLOCK OF SAMUEL WADE RD., Paonia, 
CO
PAONIA AVE, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   02/19/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
13:04:06 Noise Complaint PPD PPD VW
14:36:09 Traffic Stop PPD DIST3 VW

18:34:49 DUI

Address
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO
50 BLOCK OF SAMUEL WADE RD., Paonia, 
CO
200 BLOCK OF GRAND AVE., Paonia, CO PPD PPD CAA

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   02/20/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
13:37:48 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
20:14:50 911/hangup

Address
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

36

4.



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 2 of 3

rplwlitr.x1

Date Occurred:   02/21/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
07:57:51 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
10:35:28 Traffic Stop PPD PPD VW
12:10:07 Traffic Stop PPD DIST3 CIT

14:36:41 Traffic Stop PPD PPD CIT
17:43:15 Traffic Stop

Address
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO
1000 BLOCK OF 2ND St., Paonia, CO
50 BLOCK OF SAMUEL WADE RD., Paonia, 
CO
1000 BLOCK OF 2ND St., Paonia, CO
900 BLOCK OF 2ND St., Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW

Total Incidents for this Date: 5

Date Occurred:   02/22/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
10:16:33 Traffic Stop 300 BLOCK OF SAMUEL WADE RD., Paonia,

CO
PPD DIST3 VW

10:56:57 Traffic Stop 500 BLOCK OF 2ND St., Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW
15:17:10 Code Enforce 300 BLOCK OF ORCHARD AVE., Paonia, CO PPD PPD WW
15:56:09 AGENCY ASSIST PPD DIST3
22:11:55 Traffic Stop

LAMBORN MESA RD, Paonia, CO 
400 2ND ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW

Total Incidents for this Date: 5

Date Occurred:   02/23/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
12:45:20 ANIMAL CONTROL PPD PPD WW

14:25:07 Code Enforce PPD CIT
15:16:37 SEX OFFENSE PPD PPD
22:07:57 ALARM

4TH ST; PAONIA TOWN PARK, Paonia, CO

200 BLOCK GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
2ND ST, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   02/24/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:48:14 CITIZEN ASSIST PPD PPD
20:39:05 SUSPICIOUS

Address
ORCHARD AVE, Paonia, CO 
PAONIA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   02/25/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
11:48:35 AGENCY ASSIST PPD DIST3
13:54:44 VIN INSPECTION

LAMBORN MESA RD, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

18:48:57 SHOPLIFTING 2ND ST; DONS SUPERMART, Paonia, CO PPD PPD CIT
Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   02/26/20

37

4.



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 3 of 3

Report Includes:
All dates between `00:00:01 02/15/20` and `00:00:01 03/01/20`, All agencies matching `PPD`, All disposition's, All natures,
All location codes, All cities

rplwlitr.x1

Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:11:40 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
10:33:32 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD

13:50:36 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
18:11:32 ALARM

Address
ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO
NORTH FORK AVE;  Paonia, CO

GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO
VISTA DR;creek vista apts, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

18:20:13 SUICIDE/ATTEMPT GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
18:44:21 ANIMAL CONTROL POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 6

Date Occurred:   02/27/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
12:28:18 Traffic Stop PPD PPD CIT
17:10:18 FIRE

Address
400 BLOCK OF 5TH St., Paonia, CO 
meadowbrook blvd, Paonia, CO PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   02/28/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
12:23:22 Code Enforce 300 BLOCK OF POPLAR AVE., Paonia, CO PPD PPD WW
12:29:52 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
12:54:09 Traffic Stop PPD PPD VW

20:31:17 Disturbance PPD PPD
22:01:25 CITIZEN ASSIST

300 BLOCK OF POPLAR AVE., Paonia, CO 
50 BLOCK OF SAMUEL WADE RD., Paonia, 
CO
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 5

Date Occurred:   02/29/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
08:30:49 AGENCY ASSIST PPD PPD
10:29:12 Traffic Stop PPD DIST3 VW

14:43:24 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD

16:50:09 Medical/transfe PPD PPD

16:58:09 DOMESTIC

Address
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
50 BLOCK OF SAMUEL WADE RD., Paonia, 
CO
BOX ELDER AVE;  Paonia, CO

NORTH FORK AVE; Paonia, CO

OAK AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD CAA
17:59:56 ANIMAL CONTROL BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 6

Total reported: 54 VW= 10, WW= 5, CIT=6, CAA=2.

38

4.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

39

5.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Disbursements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

40

6.



41

6.



42

6.



43

6.



44

6.



45

6.



46

6.



47

6.



48

6.



 

March 6, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Dark Skies Paonia – Ordinance Discussion 

Summary:   

At the request of Aaron Watson – Dark Skies Paonia – wishes to update the Board regarding 

Dark Skies and begin discussion of ordinance. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

49

7.



Dark Skies Paonia Update for 3/10/2020 Town Council Meeting 

IDA Lighting Ordinance Guidelines -  Summary of Main Points: 

In order to be considered for International Dark Sky Association (IDA) certification, Paonia must 
adopt a lighting ordinance compliant with 2018 IDA Community Guidelines.  
 
Following is a summary of lighting ordinance main points. More specific details can be found at 
the following web address:  
https://www.darksky.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/IDSC-Guidelines-Jun2018.pdf 

  

Summary of Dark Sky Lighting Ordinance Main Points: 

1) Color Temperature of outdoor lighting must be 3000 Kelvin or less. 

2) Outdoor lighting must be shielded so that no light is emitted above the horizontal plane 

passing through its lowest light-emitting part.  

3) Lumens per net acre caps on all outdoor lighting. 

4) Adaptive controls on all new public outdoor lighting. 

5) Restrictions on illuminated signs. 

6) Curfews and timers on athletic field lighting.  

7) Town would have 10 years to bring ALL PUBLIC and PRIVATE lighting into compliance 

with the ordinance.  

8) Town would have up to 5 years to bring all TOWN-OWNED lighting into compliance with 

the ordinance.  

                     
 

50

7.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

GOCO Grant Award – Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan 

Summary:   

Continued from previous meeting: GOCO grant award for Parks, Recreation and Trails master 

plan. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

51

8.



PROPOSAL FOR THE TOWN OF PAONIA’S
2020 PARKS, RECREATION, AND TRAILS MASTER PLAN

52

8.



53

8.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1| Cover Letter.............................................................................................................................. 2

2| Our Understanding of the Project.......................................................................................... 3

3| The Team.................................................................................................................................
LEAD FIRM

+ Western Slope Consulting

PARTNER FIRMS

+ GreenPlay 

+ Leggitt Studio

4

4| Our Work Samples & References...........................................................................................
+ Fairplay Forward | Fairplay, CO

+ River Corridor Plan & Eagle River Park | Eagle, CO

+ Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan | Glenwood Springs, CO

+ Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan | Basalt, CO

+ Crown Mountain Park Recreation Center | El Jebel, CO

12

5| Our Approach & Scope of Services........................................................................................
+ Our proposed approach

+ Community engagement activities

+ What makes our approach unique?

+ Scope of Services

16

6| Schedule for Completion & Cost of Services......................................................................... 28

Photo Credits
Cover page photos by: Nicholas Turner (Jumbo Mountain Trails photo); Town of Paonia (Paonia Town Park photo); 
Adam Sharron (Fishing the North Fork of the Gunnison photo); and,  Steven Huntley (Town of Paonia Aerial photo).

Table of Contents photo: Google Earth street view overlayed with “Festival Street” concept sketch by Jim Leggitt.

Contact Information
This proposal was a collaborative effort of our team. It has been prepared and submitted by Western Slope 
Consulting, LLC (WSC) on behalf of the team.

Davis Farrar, principal with WSC, is the primary point of contact for our team and can be reached at:

970.618.4708 | davis@coloradoplanning.com | PO Box 411, Carbondale, CO 81623

54

8.



2 |

February 7, 2020

Town of Paonia Selection Committee-

The team of Western Slope Consulting LLC (WSC), GreenPlay (GP) and Leggitt Studio (LS) is pleased to submit this response to Town of Paonia’s Request for Proposals for the 2020 Parks, Recreation, and 
Trails (PRT) Master Plan. Our team has a history of collaborating on these types of projects and a proven ability to provide the support and guidance necessary for achieving a successful project. We pride 
ourselves on delivering cost-effective and quality service that results in actionable outcomes.

Our team has no affiliation with the Town of Paonia and have not been involved with any projects there within the past five (5) years. Most members of our team do not require a license to practice in the 
State of Colorado. Those members that do require a license, have the proper licensing to practice in Colorado. To the best of our knowledge, no members of our team have had disciplinary action taken, 
or have disciplinary action pending, against them. One of my key roles is to oversee the quality of the services and deliverables that we provide to the Town of Paonia. WSC has never participated in an 
external quality control review. We would encourage the selection committee to contact the references we’ve listed with our work samples if they’s like to gain a better understanding of the quality of our 
services and deliverables.

Our team understands that we would be tasked with delivering the following:

1. A fun, creative, interactive, collaborative and inclusive community engagement process.

2. A detailed inventory and “Base Plan” that identify and document: (1) goals, policies, ideas, action items, etc. from relevant studies and plans; (2) the location, role, condition, utilization and other 
pertinent information for all components of the town’s recreation system; (3) the type, condition, participation rates and other pertinent information for special events, recreation programs, activities 
and classes offered in Paonia; (4) assets and opportunities that could serve to enhance Paonia’s recreation system, programs and events. 

3. A assessment of the Town of Paonia’s recreation system needs to determine the benefits of existing amenities and services, as well as the current and future demand for these. The needs assessment 
and inventory are to be used in identifying and highlighting potential areas of shortfall or oversupply.

4. A compilation and analysis of key regional, state and/or national recreation trends likely to impact Paonia over the next 10-15 years.  

5. A 2020 PRT Master Plan for the Town of Paonia that builds upon previous community planning efforts and includes:

• A vision and/or goals that provide direction for the 2020 PRT Master Plan and Paonia’s recreation system as a whole.

• Recommendations for policies, design criteria, level of service (LOS) standards, recreation programs and events, and capital improvement projects.

• Schematic designs, material lists and cost estimates for parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails and community gathering spaces.

• A realistic and actionable implementation plan for the community to follow and use to guide decision-making and achieve on the ground change over the coming years.

WSC’s long-term presence on Colorado’s Western Slope and experience working in rural communities brings familiarity and understanding to this project. Our team has unique knowledge of outdoor 
recreation and it’s affect on a community’s desirability, quality of life and economic opportunities:

1. I was a founding member of the Red Hill Council (www.redhillcouncil.org). The Red Hill Council is a nonprofit organization that has worked with the BLM for the past 23 years to develop roughly 
20-miles of trails on public lands north of Carbondale, CO. My role with the Red Hill Council has provided me with familiarity working with Federal land managers. I also played a pivotal role in efforts to 
build the whitewater park in Glenwood Springs, CO.

2. Matt Farrar (WSC), a former professional kayaker, and Jim Leggitt (LS) championed efforts in Eagle, CO to develop a River Corridor Master Plan that resulted in the recent construction of a multi-million 
dollar river park (eagleoutside.com/riverpark/).

Our team’s broad range of knowledge and skill set enable us to look at opportunities and challenges related to Paonia’s recreation system from a number of perspectives. For example, our team’s 
community planning and design experience enables us to understand that local streets are an important element of a community’s recreation system as they offer opportunities to connect people with 
parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space areas, trail systems, etc. Local streets are also an important public space (often overlooked in communities and/or are a commonly dedicated to vehicles) 
that offer opportunities to create community gathering space, such as a festival/event street and/or installation of parklets. We believe that our team’s knowledge and skill sets puts us in a unique position 
to guide the Town of Paonia and it’s community to a successful outcome for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. 

We are excited about the prospect of working alongside town staff, stakeholders and the community to craft a plan that continues to enhance Paonia’s unique qualities and keeps the community moving in 
a positive and prosperous direction. We thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal and look forward to further discussing our qualifications with you in the near future.

Sincerely,

Davis Farrar55

8.



3 |

2| OUR UNDERSTANDING OF THE PROJECT
Our team understands the following to be the Town of Paonia’s desired outcomes from the 2020 PRT master planning effort. If selected, our team will work with town staff to clarify and confirm 
the desired outcomes for the 2020 PRT Master Plan as part of the project kick-off process. Our team’s approach and scope of services (refer to p. 15) have been tailored specifically to satisfy the 
town’s desired outcomes for the project. 

COMPONENTS OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA’S 2020 PHROST MASTER PLAN
1| BACKGROUND RESEARCH & BASE PLAN 2| NEEDS ASSESSMENT & SCHEMATIC DESIGNS 3| 2020 PRT MASTER PLAN

De
sir

ed
 O

ut
co

m
es

 fr
om

 E
ac

h 
Co

m
po

ne
nt

 o
f t

he
 2

02
0 

PR
T 

M
as

te
r P

la
n

An inventory/existing conditions analysis that identifies and 
documents:

• Relevant goals, policies, ideas, etc. from relevant 
town, county, Recreation District, Bureau of Land 
Management (BLM), US Forest Service (USFS), etc. 
studies and plans, which include:
- 2020 Town of Paonia Master Plan Update
- 1996 Town of Paonia Master Plan
- Town of Paonia’s Municipal Code
- 2011 North Fork Recreation Master Plan
- 2018 Delta County Recreation & Trails Master Plan
- 2018 Delta County Master Plan
- Relevant BLM Resource Management Plans

• The location, role, current condition, utilization and 
other pertinent information for the parks, open 
space areas, recreation amenities/facilities, trails 
and surrounding public lands (ex. nearby BLM Lands 
and Paonia State Park) that comprise Paonia’s overall 
recreation system.

• Maps that illustrate and provide pertinent information 
about the town’s existing recreation system.

• The type, condition, participation rates and other 
pertinent information for special events, recreation 
programs, activities and classes offered by the Town of 
Paonia, as well as by other government agencies, local 
organizations and local businesses.

• Assets and opportunities for enhancing Paonia’s 
recreation system, programs and events.

• Information regarding relevant regional, state and/or 
national trends and their potential affect on recreation 
in Paonia.

A needs assessment that identifies and documents:

• Information obtained from members of the 
Community Action Team, stakeholders and the public 
regarding: (1) programming of recreation amenities/
facilities in Paonia; (2) participation rates and trends 
in local events, programs, etc.; (3) scheduling, 
operational and/or maintenance challenges; (4) 
existing and potential future demands; and (5) usage 
patterns.

• The community’s levels of satisfaction with and 
perceptions of parks, open space areas, recreational 
facilities, trails, community gathering spaces, special 
events, recreational programs and activities.

• Areas of Paonia currently underserved by the existing 
recreation system.

• Current and projected demographic trends and their 
potential impact on the town’s recreation system.

• Relevant regional, state and national recreation 
trends.

• Helps to establish appropriate level of service (LOS) 
standards for the Town of Paonia.

Schematic designs and “before” and “after” concept 
sketches for:

• Future components of Paonia’s recreation system 
and improvements to existing components. Historic 
and cultural features of the Town of Paonia are to be 
incorporated into this design work.

Material lists and cost estimates for existing and future 
components of Paonia’s recreation system.

A 2020 Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan that:
• Includes a vision and/or goals (as appropriate) 

that provide guidance and direction for the town’s 
recreation system.

• Includes direction for specific areas of interest relevant 
to the town’s recreation system that may include:

- Natural resource utilization, protection and 
preservation.

- Local and regional connectivity.

- Facility development and management.

- Program and event development and management.

- Collaboration and community partnerships.

- Parks, recreation and trails funding.

• Recommended policies, level of service (LOS) 
standards, classification systems, design criteria and 
implementation actions regarding the development, 
operation and maintenance of parks, open space 
areas, recreation amenities/facilities, trails and 
community gathering spaces in Paonia.

• Recommended policies, criteria, standards and 
implementation actions regarding the development, 
implementation and maintenance of recreation 
programs, activities and events in Paonia.

• Includes a detailed implementation/action plan that 
prioritizes action items and offers information about 
costs, responsible parties, potential funding options, 
triggers and measures of success for each item.  

56

8.



4 |

contact: Davis Farrar
ph: (970) 618-4708
email: davis@coloradoplanning.com
www.coloradoplanning.com

Western Slope Consulting, LLC | Lead Firm
Western Slope Consulting is a family-owned and operated planning and design firm based in Carbondale, Colorado. Western Slope Consulting has 
a 23-year history working with local governments and private sector clients across western Colorado to address their planning needs. The firm has 
completed a variety of plans for rural communities and counties. Our Colorado clients include Meeker, Cedaredge, DeBeque, Collbran, Garfield 
County, New Castle, Silt, Rifle, Parachute, Rio Blanco County and Ridgway. The firm’s experience in both the public and private sectors brings a special 
level of competence to the projects we work on.

Western Slope Consulting’s team has worked both as municipal and county planners charged with developing and implementing regulations 
and policies derived from large-scale master plans. We understand the practice of using the goals of a plan to establish policies, create capital 
improvement plans and implement other changes to achieve the community’s desired future.

Western Slope Consulting is a Colorado Company and Employer.

Staff assigned full-time to the 2020 PRT Master Plan...

Davis Farrar | Davis is the principal of Western Slope Consulting. His 39-year career includes municipal planning and management, as well as extensive experience 
with public and private sector planning projects. Davis has worked for a number of municipalities on the Western Slope as a contract planner and manager. He 
brings a wealth of experience working with the complexities associated with recreation master planning, recreation facility design and development, trails and 
public parks. Davis also has a strong understanding of developing, using and implementing community master plans.

Key Roles & Responsibilities | Davis will oversee the 2020 PRT Master Plan and serve as the primary point of contact with the town. He will also: (1) Serve 
as the lead for community engagement activities; (2) Participate in developing, implementing and facilitating a fun, interactive and broad reaching community 
engagement process; (3) Support the compilation and analysis of town regulations, plans and other pertinent documents, data and trends relevant to the PRT 
Master Plan; (4) Support the development of the “Base Plan” for the PRT Master Plan; (5) Provide insights and advice on the operation and maintenance of various 
types of recreation facilities from a town/city administration perspective; (6) Support preparation of the PRT Master Plan document; and, (7) Be responsible for 
quality control for project deliverables.

Standard Rates |
Hourly $120.00

Travel $60.00/hour + mileage

Matt Farrar | Matt is a partner in Western Slope Consulting. He has 7-years of experience working as a municipal planner, public and private sector planning 
consultant and senior project manager/planner for a non-profit organization. As a native of western Colorado, Matt enjoys working with rural communities to 
develop realistic and sustainable economic growth strategies that build on and preserve important assets, such as quality of life, authenticity, local heritage, small 
independent businesses, and natural resources.

Key Roles & Responsibilities | Matt will serve as the overall project manager for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. He will also be involved with: (1) Developing 
and implementing an effective community outreach strategy; (2) Developing, implementing and facilitating a fun, interactive and broad reaching community 
engagement process; (3) Developing the “Base Plan” for the 2020 PRT Master Plan; (4) Researching and analyzing town regulations, plans and other pertinent 
documents, data and trends relevant to the PRT Master Plan; (6) Supporting schematic design work; and, (7) Compiling and/or creating graphics, outreach 
materials, GIS data and maps, and documents for the project.

Standard Rates |
Hourly $100.00

Travel $50.00/hour + mileage

3| THE TEAM

57

8.



5 |

Davis Farrar | Principal
Project Lead / Community Outreach & Engagement / Research & Analysis / Schematic 
Designs / Cost Estimates / Quality Control

EDUCATION
+ Rocky Mountain Program | University of Colorado at Denver

Management training for senior executives in local government.
+ Master of Arts - Geography | Arizona State University

+ Bachelor of Arts - Geography | University of Vermont

AWARDS
2000 | National “Making a Difference” Award for Red Hill Trails Master Plan

Carbondale, CO

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS
+ Principal, Western Slope Consulting, LLC | Carbondale, CO
+ Town Manager, Town of Carbondale | Carbondale, CO
+ Planning Director, Town of Carbondale | Carbondale, CO
+ County Planner, Garfield County | Garfield County, CO

RELEVANT WORK EXPERIENCE
+ Interim Town Manager, Town of Basalt | Basalt , CO

+ Interim City Manager, City of Rifle | Rifle, CO

+ Town Manager, Town of Collbran | Collbran, CO

+ Contract Town Planner, Town of Buena Vista | Buena Vista, CO

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
+ City of Rifle Pool Complex | Rifle, CO

+ Crown Mountain Recreation Center | El Jebel, CO

+ Arena Master Plan | Collbran, CO

+ Recreation Master Plan | Carbondale, CO

+ Wulfsohn Open Space & Trails Master Plan | Glenwood Springs, CO

+ Glenwood Springs Whitewater Park | Glenwood Springs, CO

+ Glenwood Springs Recreation Master Plan | Glenwood Springs, CO

+ Whitewater Park Feasibility & Concept Design | Carbondale, CO

+ Red Hill Management & Trails Master Plan | Carbondale, CO

+ Garfield County Comprehensive Plan Update | Garfield County, CO

+ Town of Collbran Comprehensive Plan | Collbran, CO

+ Fairplay Forward (Downtown Plan)| Fairplay, CO

Matt Farrar | Partner
Project Manager / Community Outreach & Engagement / Research & Analysis / Schematic 
Designs / Cost Estimates / Graphic & Document Creation

EDUCATION
+ Master of Urban Design | University of Colorado at Denver

+ Master of Urban & Regional Planning | University of Colorado at Denver

+ Bachelor of Arts - Geology | University of Colorado at Boulder

AWARDS
2012 | Outstanding Student Project | American Planning Association (APA) - Colorado

Awarded for the Town of Poncha Springs Parks and Recreation Master Plan. 

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS
+ Partner, Western Slope Consulting, LLC | Carbondale, CO
+ Senior Project Manager, Community Builders | Glenwood Springs, CO
+ Assistant Town Planner, Town of Eagle | Eagle, CO

 RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
+ Town of Eagle River Park Funding and Design | Eagle, CO1

+ Town of Eagle Pump Track Design and Construction | Eagle, CO1

+ Town of Eagle Skateboard Park Site Feasibility Study | Eagle, CO1

+ Town of Eagle - River Corridor Plan | Eagle, CO1

+ Confluence Redevelopment Plan | Glenwood Springs, CO1

+ Town of Poncha Springs Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Poncha Springs, CO

+ Garfield County Comprehensive Plan Update | Garfield County, CO

+ Fairplay Forward (Downtown Plan)| Fairplay, CO

+ Gunnison Vibrancy Initiative (Downtown Master Plan) | Gunnison, CO1

+ Downtown Fraser Strategic Plan | Fraser, CO1

+ Strong at Heart (Downtown Master Plan) | Taos, NM1

1 Experience prior to joining Western Slope Consulting.

58

8.



6 |

contact: Keri Konold
ph: (303) 439-8369
email: kerik@greenplayllc.com
www.greenplay.com

GreenPlay | Partner Firm
GreenPlay LLC operates as a consortium of experts to provide services nationally for park, recreation, open space, and related agencies. In 1999, 
Teresa Penbrooke, PhD, MAOM, CPRE, an experienced public parks and recreation professional, identified certain needs in the industry that were 
not being fully satisfied. Teresa noticed that although many land planning, design, and architecture consultants serviced this industry, most did not 
have actual operations and management experience within the profession. This reality forced parks and recreation organizations to rely on guidance 
from multiple consulting firms, often spending needless time organizing and managing these specialists into one cohesive team. GreenPlay became 
a viable solution by offering practical, innovative, and comprehensive consulting services by professionals with direct experience in parks, recreation, 
and open space operations and management.

GreenPlay acts as a management tool for agencies by organizing consultant teams that are responsive, experienced in the field, and who understand 
the needs of administrators and their communities. GreenPlay works nationwide with 23 employees and over 75 technical consortium agencies and 
sub-consultants to complete projects for large and small agencies around the United States. Since 1999, GreenPlay has completed over 550 projects 
in 46 states for governmental agencies and private sector companies.

Staff assigned full-time to the 2020 PRT Master Plan...

Keri Konold, CPRP | Keri is a Certified Parks and Recreation Professional (CPRP) with experience in public open space, parks, recreation, golf course, and cemetery 
management for three Colorado public agencies since 2007. Keri has a passion for public land management, integrating roles for health and wellness, balancing 
conservation and recreational use, and improving working relationships for all involved. She also has served as a member of the City of Lafayette, CO’s Open 
Space Advisory Committee. Keri received a BS in Anthropology at Kansas State University, with a focus in accounting. Keri’s business acumen and abilities for quick 
discernment of key issues match with her professional people skills, making her an ideal consultant on a variety of types of projects..

Key Roles & Responsibilities | Keri will serve as the day-to-day contact for GreenPlay and will oversee the research work for the “Base Plan” for the 2020 PRT 
Master Plan. Keri will also be involved with: (1) Needs assessment work; (2) Support for schematic design work; (3) Developing cost estimates for operations, 
maintenance and/or capital improvement projects; and, (4) Preparation of a maintenance component of the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

Standard Rates |
Hourly $150.00

Travel $1,500 per trip to/from Paonia

Dave Peterson, MS, PLA | Dave is a Registered Landscape Architect in Colorado and is a CLARB Certified Landscape Architect. Dave’s leadership in the science of 
parks and recreation planning embraces innovative techniques for incorporating demographics data into GIS analyses and determining needs beyond traditional 
broad-brush allocation strategies. Dave started his career in community development and planning but expanded to park and school design. This variety of 
experience, as well as his diverse background in education and sports medicine make him a valuable member of the team.

Dave loves looking for ways to incorporate the newest computer graphic technique or process into the projects he works on. Parks and recreation master planning 
and comprehensive GIS mapping using composite values methodology incorporates both detailed and broad thinking and therefore is a good match for his skills.

Key Roles & Responsibilities | Dave will lend his expertise to the inventory and mapping of the various components of Paonia’s overall recreation system, as well 
to the efforts to establish Level of Service (LOS) standards for Paonia.  

Standard Rates |
Hourly $150.00

Travel $1,500 per trip to/from Paonia59

8.



7 |

Keri Konold, CPRP | Project Consultant
GreenPlay Lead & Project Manager / Research & Analysis / Design Criteria & Level of Service 
(LOS) Standards / Cost Estimates / Maintenance & Sustainability Plan

EDUCATION
+ Bachelor of Science| Kansas State University

+ Czech Studies | Charles University, Prague

+ Program Graduate | University of Virginia’s Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service 
Leading, Educating, and Developing

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS
+ Project Consultant, GreenPlay LLC | Louisville, CO
+ Community Relations Officer, City of Boulder | Boulder, CO
+ Budget Analyst, City of Boulder | Boulder, CO
+ Recreation Programs Manager | Carbon Valley, CO
+ Senior Administrative Assistant, City of Lafayette | Lafayette, CO

CERTIFICATIONS
+ Certified Parks and Recreation Professional (CPRP)

+ Certificate of International Association of Public Participation Foundations
in Effective Public Participation

+ Certificate of Level 1, ArcGIS

PUBLICATIONS
+ For Lafayette Parks, Open Space and Golf: Recognition is Multi-Directional,

Colorado Parks and Recreation Association Byline, Fall 2012

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
+ Parks, Health, Recreation, Open Space, and Trails Plan | Fruita, CO

+ Construction and Maintenance Handbook | Boulder County, CO

+ Wildlife Management Policy Plan | Longmont, CO

Leisure Needs Assessment and Action Plan | Santa Maria, CA

+ Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Master Plan Update | Aurora, CO

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Brush, CO

+ Parks and Recreation Comprehensive Plan | Elizabeth, CO

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan Update | Lafayette, CO

+ Master Plan | Prospect Park and Recreation District, CO

Dave Peterson, MS, PLA | Project Consultant
Research & Analysis / Design Criteria & Level of Service (LOS) Standards / Cost Estimates / 
Maintenance & Sustainability Plan

EDUCATION
+ Master of Science - Exercise and Sports Science | University of Arizona

+ Bachelor of Science  - Landscape Architecture | Colorado State University

+ Bachelor of Science  - Education | University of Nebraska

REGISTRATIONS & CERTIFICATIONS
+ Registered Landscape Architect in Colorado (#977)

+ CLARB Certified Landscape Architect

 RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Aurora, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Commerce City, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Denver, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Lakewood, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Littleton, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Louisville, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Wheat Ridge, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Windsor, CO

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Valdez, AK

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Glendale, AZ

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Encinitas, CA

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Palm Springs, CA

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Post Falls, ID

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Sandpoint, ID

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Farmington, NM

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Henderson, NV

+ Park & Recreation Master Planning | Tulsa, OK

+ Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP) | State of Maryland

+ Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP) | State of New Mexico

+ Healthy Communities Planning | Arlington Heights, ILL

+ Healthy Communities Planning | Liberty, MO

+ Healthy Communities Planning | South Bend, IN
60

8.



8 |

Caylon Vieleher | Caylon has served in many roles throughout 
the last decade. His love for health and play have given Caylon a 
true appreciation for our public spaces and the role that they can 
play in our communal and ecological health. He applies a keen 
interest in geographic information science and the impacts it has 
on our human landscape, social justice, and equality. Through his 
experience in program leadership, Caylon has worked personally 
with diverse populations and gained valuable experience in 
communication and public relations. He provides a combination 
of technical analysis, people-oriented personality, and passion 
for the power that parks and recreation brings to quality of life in 
communities.

Key Roles & Responsibilities | Caylon will support efforts to 
inventory and map the various components of Paonia’s overall 
recreation system. He will also be involved with efforts to establish 
Level of Service (LOS) standards for the Town of Paonia. 

Standard Rates |
Hourly $150.00

Travel $1,500 per trip to/from Paonia

Caylon Vieleher | GIS Analyst/Project Consultant
Research & Analysis / Design Criteria & Level of Service (LOS) Standards / Cost Estimates / 
Maintenance & Sustainability Plan

EDUCATION
+ Bachelor of Arts - Philosophy | Fort Lewis College 

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS
+ GIS Analyst/Project Consultant, GreenPlay LLC | Louisville, CO
+ Land Surveying and Data Acquisition, Flatirons Surveying | Boulder, CO
+ Environment/Agriculture Services, Peace Corps| The Gambia, West Africa

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
+ Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Strategic Plan | Aurora, CO

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Valdez, AK

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Glendale, AZ

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Lathrop, CA

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Valley Wide, CA

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Victorville, CA

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Stonecrest, GA

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Sandpoint, ID

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Henderson, NV

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Holly Springs, NC

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Iredell County, NC

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Hamilton County, TN

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Angleton, TX

+ Parks and Recreation Master Plan | Hampton, VA

61

8.



9 |

contact: Jim Leggitt
ph: (720) 252-2819
email: jim@drawingshortcuts.com
www.drawingshortcuts.com

Leggitt Studio LLC (LS) | Partner Firm
LS is architecture, planning and design firm based in 
Denver, CO. LS was formed in 2008 by Jim Leggitt, FAIA 
to focus specifically on both large and small community 
planning projects. Initially teamed with the Chinese 
based firm LLG Studios, Leggitt worked on large 
international planning projects in China and the Middle 
East. More recently, Jim has committed most of his time 
to working with small Western communities on corridor 
and downtown revitalization initiatives, specifically 
employing his hand drawing skills to help the public 
visualize “before” and “after” scenarios during planning 
workshops.

Staff assigned full-time to the 2020 PRT Master Plan...

Jim Leggitt, FAIA | Architect, urban planner, author, educator and 
professional illustrator, Jim Leggitt, has been practicing for over 
40-years in Denver, Colorado. In addition to being the principal of 
Leggitt Studio LLC, he has conducted design visualization seminars 
and drawing workshops for AlA and ASLA National Conventions, AlA 
regional and local conferences, universities, architectural firms and 
allied design professionals throughout the country and Canada for 
over 20-years.

An expert with downtown and corridor planning, public 
engagement, 3D SketchUp modeling and conceptual visualization, 
Jim has participated in countless project charrettes leading the 
design process and generating quick hand drawn sketches that 
reflect place-making options and opportunities that come from 
revitalization of underutilized properties, neglected public spaces 
and poor pedestrian/bike connectivity.

Key Roles & Responsibilities | Jim will serve as the lead on 
schematic designs for parks, recreation facilities and trails, as well 
as the lead on developing “before” and “after” concept sketches 
for the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

Standard Rates |
Hourly $125.00

Travel $62.50 + mileage

Jim Leggitt | Principal
Schematic Designs / “Before” & “After” Concept Sketches

EDUCATION
+ Bachelor of Architecture | Rhode Island School of Design 

+ Bachelor of Fine Arts | Rhode Island School of Design

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS
+ Principal, Leggitt Studio LLC | Denver, CO

+ Consulting Principal, StudioINSITE | Denver, CO

PUBLICATIONS
+ Drawing Shortcuts: Developing Quick Drawing Skills Using Today’s Technology

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
+ Town of Eagle River Park Conceptual Design | Eagle, CO1

+ Town of Eagle - River Corridor Plan | Eagle, CO1

+ Confluence Redevelopment Plan | Glenwood Springs, CO1

+ Downtown Grand Junction Plan | Grand Junction, CO

+ Fairplay Forward (Downtown Plan)| Fairplay, CO

+ Gunnison Vibrancy Initiative (Downtown Master Plan) | Gunnison, CO

+ Highway 50 Corridor Plan | Salida, CO

+ 6th Street Corridor Master Plan | Glenwood Springs, CO1

+ Downtown Fraser Strategic Plan | Fraser, CO1

+ Strong at Heart (Downtown Master Plan) | Taos, NM

1 Project completed as principal in charge with studioINSITE.

62

8.



10 |

4| OUR WORK SAMPLES & REFERENCES
1. Fairplay Forward | Fairplay, CO
In 2019, Davis Farrar (WSC), Matt Farrar (WSC) and Jim Leggitt (LS) worked with the Town of Fairplay on a 
downtown assessment project, named “Fairplay Forward.” Davis, Matt and Jim worked with the town to 
engage all facets of the community in a conversation around the following issues...

• What do we cherish about our downtown?

• What type of place do we want our downtown to be?

• As we grow and change, how do we retain all that is great about our downtown, while realizing its 
immense potential?

• How can our downtown best reflect our authenticity and unique sense of place? 

The process for Fairplay Forward was designed to answer these questions and resulted in a strategy/
plan that provides the community with a roadmap for proactively shaping their downtown in a way that 
celebrates Fairplay’s past while also embracing its future. An online version of the 2019 Fairplay Forward 
Plan can be found here: https://downtownfairplay.com/fairplay-forward-plan/

Now, you may be asking yourself  - What relevance does a Downtown Assessment have to a Parks, Recreation 
and Trails Master Plan? Well, a key component of this project was working with town staff, local leaders, 
stakeholders and the community to identify existing assets in and around downtown Fairplay and ideas for 
how to enhance these assets in order to strengthen the downtown. Assets that were identified included:

• Trail systems on public lands in and around the Town of Fairplay.

• Underutilized public spaces in or near downtown Fairplay, which included: (1) lawn space in front of the 
historic Park County Courthouse; (2) a town-owned property providing access Fairplay’s river park; and 
(3) a highway overlook just west of Fairplay.

To enhance/better utilize these assets, Davis, Matt and Jim worked with own staff, local leaders, stakeholders 
and the community to:

• Identify specific ideas for how to connect the downtown with the trail systems in and around Fairplay 
so that the downtown could serve as the “trailhead.” The diagram on the following page is the result of 
this work.

• Identify and conceptualize specific ideas for enhancing/improving the underutilized public spaces in 
or near the downtown so that these public spaces could better serve as community gathering spaces 
and create more reason for locals and visitors to come to, and spend time in, downtown Fairplay. The 
adjacent sketches illustrate concepts that were prepared for these public spaces.

PROJECT BUDGET
$23,000

PROJECT STATUS
The Fairplay Forward Plan was completed and unanimously adopted by the Town’s Board of Trustees in late 
2019. The town is currently working on implementation of the plan. 

PROJECT REFERENCE
Tina Darrah | Fairplay Town Administrator
(719) 836-2622 ext. 102 | tdarrah@fairplayco.us63

8.



11 |

TT

TT

TT

T

TT TT

Tiehack
Trailhead

Thompson 
Park Trailhead

Beaver Creek
Trailhead

Silver Heels
Ranch Trailhead

Refer to 
Fairplay River Park Plan
(www.fairplayriverpark.com)

Opportunity to partner with 
private property owners to 
build trails on tailings piles?

LEGEND

Existing Paved Trail Potential “Singletrack Sidewalk” 
Connection

Existing Soft-Surface Trail Potential Area for Future Trails

�T Existing Trail Head Town of Fairplay

Existing Campground Park County

Proposed On-Street
Trail Connection State Land Commission

�T Proposed Trail Head Bureau of Land Management (BLM)

Potential Soft-Surface
Trail Connection US Forest Service (USFS)

Singletrack SidewalkS

“Singletrack sidewalks” are 
singletrack trails built within public 
rights-of-way. They are cheap and 
easy to build. They can be used to 
create connections for pedestrians 
and bicyclists in locations where a 
sidewalk, bike path, etc. would not 
be feasible.

64

8.



12 |

The Town of Eagle’s river corridor planning effort focused on utilizing outdoor 
recreation amenities and infill development to strengthen Eagle’s downtown 
and the local economy.

Our team’s work on the Town of Eagle’s - River Corridor Plan provides us 
with a unique understanding of how community’s can utilize local natural 
amenities and resources to enhance the quality of life for residents and visitors 
and bolster the local economy.

2. River Corridor Master Plan | Eagle, CO
As the Assistant Planner for the Town of Eagle, Colorado, Matt Farrar (WSC) served as the project 
manager, the in-house kayaking/whitewater park expert and local champion for the town’s river corridor 
master planning project. This planning effort signified a major shift in the town’s approach to economic 
development. Historically, economic development efforts in Eagle focused on attempts to become a regional 
shopping destination. However, with today’s retail market and Eagle becoming recognized as a popular 
mountain biking destination, local efforts have shifted to an approach rooted in the economic and quality of 
life impacts of outdoor recreation amenities. With improvements to the river and continued investment in 
trails, outdoor recreation is poised to become a major component of the town’s economy and attraction for 
future residents and businesses. An online version of the 2015 River Corridor Plan can be found here: 

www.townofeagle.org/DocumentCenter/View/14393/Eagle-River-Corridor-Plan---2015

Matt’s key responsibilities associated with the River Corridor Plan included:

• Developing and facilitating an extensive community engagement process that resulted in the goals, 
strategies and implementation actions included in the plan.

• Compiling, analyzing and mapping of data for existing and future conditions along the river corridor.

• Generating graphics, content and the layout for the planning document.

• Developing a detailed implementation matrix.

• Significant involvement with crafting a ballot measure that resulted in a 0.5% sales tax increase to fund 
the construction of the Eagle River Park. 

Jim Leggitt (LS) also played an important role in the development of the Town of Eagle’s - River Corridor Plan. 
Jim served as the lead for the design team contracted by the town for the project. Jim was tasked with:

• Assisting with the development of the framework plan for the River Corridor Plan.

• Developing the design concepts included in the plan (refer to the adjacent images).

• Assisting with community engagement activities.

• Preparing cost estimates and visualizations for the town’s sales tax initiative to fund the Eagle River Park.

PROJECT BUDGET
River Corridor Plan: $50,000-$100,000 (approximately)

Eagle River Park: $5.9 million (approximately)

PROJECT STATUS
The River Corridor Plan was completed and unanimously adopted by the Town’s Board of Trustees in 2015.

Construction of the Eagle River Park was completed in 2019. 

PROJECT REFERENCE
Sarah Baker | Former Town of Eagle Trustee
(970) 331-0799 | sbaker@sbakerpc.com

65

8.



13 |

4. Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan | Basalt, CO
GreenPlay developed a Parks, Open Space, and Trails Master Plan. The plan helped guide 
the future acquisition of land, prioritize improvements to existing recreational amenities 
and open space, and identify trail connections within the Town of Basalt and surrounding 
areas. 

Working with the Basalt Parks, Open Space, and Trails Committee (POST) and planning 
staff, our team:

• Collaborated with the Basalt POST to refine the intent (goals and objectives) of the 
Master Plan. 

• Updated existing parks, open space, and trails inventory for Basalt and the Three-
Mile Planning Area.

• Identified deficiencies as well as opportunities and constraints within the existing 
parks, open space, and trails system.

• Conducted an extensive public input process.

PROJECT BUDGET
$29,950

PROJECT STATUS
The master plan was completed in 2013.

PROJECT REFERENCE
Brian McNellis | Senior Planner
(970) 927-4701 ext. 202 | brianm@basalt.net

3. Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan | Glenwood Springs, CO
GreenPlay facilitated a community planning process that created a long-range master 
plan for the City of Glenwood Springs to help guide decisions on parks, recreation, and 
open space opportunities. The planning process enabled the city to articulate its vision for 
these services and to provide a framework of action plans for future implementation. A 
significant portion of the Plan included an evaluation of community parks and recreation 
service impacts on the local tourist industry.

PROJECT BUDGET
$59,999

PROJECT STATUS
The master plan was completed in 2016.

PROJECT REFERENCE
Tom Barnes | Former City of Glenwood Springs Parks and Recreation Director
(970) 384-6315 | tom.barnes@cogs.us

66

8.



14 |

5. Crown Mountain Park Recreation Center | El Jebel, Colorado
Western Slope Consulting, LLC (WSC) was the principal planning firm that processed a Major PUD Amendment 
with Eagle County for the Crown Mountain Park Recreation Center. Davis Farrar worked with a team of seven 
consultants to develop the PUD amendment application. Davis prepared and processed the required 1041 
application with the County. The project was a proposed 25,000 square-foot recreation center which included a 
variety of workout rooms, yoga studios, indoor pool and track along with office facilities. The structure was to be 
the first major building constructed on an existing site that included a variety of soccer fields, baseball ballfields, 
basketball courts and tennis courts. Work included redesign of the northerly third of the property to include 
new access, parking, circulation and integration with the existing site. Project financing was proposed by bond 
issue subject to a vote of the residents in the district. Project input and support was evaluated through a robust 
public process which included a community survey and numerous public input meetings. Technical aspects of the 
project were handled by traffic consultants, engineers, architects, landscape architects and others. Davis was the 
lead on presentations at community meetings, presentations to the Mid-Valley Planning Commission and to tthe 
Eagle County Commissioners.

Davis’ key responsibilities associated with the Crown Mountain Park Recreation Center included:

• Coordination with the other consulting team members on required components of the PUD application.

• Preparation of the land use application and 1041 submittal.

• Presentation of the application before the Mid-Valley Planning Commission and Eagle County 
Commissioners.

• Presentations at the various community meetings on the project.

• Coordination and strategy development with Crown Mountain Recreation District Board of Directors.

PROJECT BUDGET
$227,753

PROJECT STATUS
The project was approved by the Eagle County Commissioners. A mill levy ballot question was presented to the 
voters and failed. The funding question came on the heels of the “Great Recession” in 2008 and voters were 
unwilling to approve a mill levy increase.

PROJECT REFERENCE
Mark Fuller | Crown Mountain Project Manager
(970) 618-5086 | fulcon@comcast.net

67

8.



15 |

5| OUR PROPOSED APPROACH & SCOPE OF SERVICES
Our team is proposing the following approach and scope of services for the Town of Paonia’s 2020 PRT Master Plan. If selected, we would like the opportunity to work with town staff to fine tune 
the proposed approach and/or scope of services (as necessary) to best-suit Paonia’s needs and desired outcomes.

OVERVIEW OF APPROACH & SCOPE OF SERVICES FOR THE 2020 PHROST MASTER PLAN
PHASE I: CURRENT CONDITIONS INVENTORY/”BASE PLAN”
Where are we today?

PHASE II: NEEDS ASSESSMENT & SCHEMATIC DESIGNS
Where do we want to be?

PHASE III: PLANNING FOR ACTION
How do we get there?

Ke
y 

O
ut

co
m

es

1. Project start-up tasks completed:
• Community Action Team (CAT) established.
• Community Outreach & Engagement Plan (COEP) 

prepared and made available.
• Project name, logo and/or tagline created.
• Project website up and running.

2. Coordination and Facilitation of a Kick-off Meeting with the 
CAT.

3. In-person visits to all town parks, open space areas, trails and 
recreation amenities/facilities with town staff (if possible).

4. Audit of relevant plans, studies, codes, etc.

5. Compilation, analysis and summation of data, policies and 
other information related to the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

6. Preparation and distribution of up to five (5) “Community 
Snapshots.”

7. Preparation and distribution of a Current Conditions 
Summary (i.e. “Base Plan”).

1. Preparation for and Facilitation of a 2-day Community Input 
Workshop.

2. Preparation and distribution of a Community Survey.

3. Distribution of the Community Survey results.

4. Draft Vision, Goals and Framework Plan for the 2020 PRT 
Master Plan.

5. Preparation for and Facilitation of a 2.5-day Design 
Workshop.

6. Schematic designs for parks, recreation amenities/facilities, 
open space areas, trails and community gather spaces.

7. “Before” and “After” concept sketches.

8. Material lists and cost estimates.

1. Final Vision, Goals and Framework Plan for the 2020 PRT 
Master Plan.

2. Final schematic designs for parks, recreation amenities/
facilities, open space areas, trails and community gather 
spaces.

3. Detailed implementation/action plan for inclusion in the 
2020 PRT Master Plan.

4. Draft and final version of the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

5. Presentation of the final 2020 PHROST Master Plan to the 
Town Board.

6. Delivery of three (3) hard copies of the final version of the 
2020 PHROST Master Plan to town staff.

7. Delivery of a USB drive to town staff that includes:
• Final 2020 PRT Master Plan in PDF and Adobe InDesign 

format.
• Maps for the master plan in ArcGIS format.
• Presentations from the project in PDF format.
• Current Conditions Summary (i.e. “Base Plan”) in PDF 

and Adobe InDesign format.
• Community Snapshots in PDF and Adobe InDesign 

format.
• Photos, illustrations and graphics from the project.

8. Collaboration with town staff to transform the project 
website into an online version of the final 2020 PRT Master 
Plan (if desired).

Co
m

m
un

ity
 

 E
ng

ag
em

en
t A

cti
vi

tie
s

1. Online Engagement:
• Project website
• Social media

2. CAT Kick-Off/Orientation Meeting.

3. Stakeholder Interviews and/or Focus Group Sessions.

4. 2-day Community Visit.

5. Pop-up events hosted at community events and at other 
strategic locations in Paonia.

6. Call & Text Message Engagement (optional add-on).

1. Online Engagement:
• Project website
• Social media

2. Community Survey.

3. CAT Meeting(s).

4. Stakeholder Interviews and/or Focus Group Sessions.

5. 2-day Community Input Workshop.

6. 2.5-day Design Workshop.

7. Pop-up events hosted at community events and/or other 
strategic locations in Paonia.

8. Call & Text Message Engagement (optional add-on).

1. Online Engagement:
• Project website
• Social media

2. Action planning calls with town staff.

3. Action Planning Workshop with town staff, the CAT and Town 
Board.

4. Draft PRT Master Plan review workshop with town staff, the 
CAT, Town Board and interested members of the community.

5. Sharing of the draft 2020 PRT Master Plan with the 
community via the project website.

6. Presentation of the final 2020 PRT Master Plan to the Board 
of Trustees at a public meeting.

7. Call & Text Message Engagement (optional add-on).68

8.



16 |

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES
Understanding that the town desires an engagement process that involves all facets of the community, we have developed a process that we believe provides ample opportunity for broad and 
inclusive participation while maintaining a timely project schedule. The engagement activities listed below are to be implemented in order to facilitate effective and meaningful community 
participation throughout the planning process for 2020 PRT Master Plan:

OVERVIEW OF COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES FOR THE 2020 PRT MASTER PLAN
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITY BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITY WHEN WILL THIS ACTIVITY BE USED

1. Online Engagement Project Website. The project website will serve as tool for gathering input from the 
community via online polls, questionnaires, an “Idea Wall” and an interactive map 
program.

Social Media. Our team will work with town staff and the CAT to develop a #hashtag 
for the project (if desired). This will enable community members to share images of 
their hopes, dreams, ideas, etc. for Paonia on Social Media, specifically Instagram.

Phase I
Phase II
Phase III

2. Pop-Up Events Pop-Up events are intended to be a fun and easy way to gather input from people 
while they are out and about in the community. The concept for Pop-Up events is to 
set up a “booth” (pop-up tent (if desired), folding tables and chairs) at a community 
event or at a popular location in the community (ex. post office, grocery store, library, 
etc.) and offer an activity or activities that enable people to share their input about the 
future of Paonia’s recreation system.

Pop-up events will necessitate having local volunteers available to host these. WSC 
will prepare and provide a “Pop-up Event Guide” to inform volunteers how to host and 
gather input via a pop-up event.

Phase I
Phase II

3. Community Survey The Paonia Community Survey will provide an opportunity to gather broad input from 
the community on topics/areas of interest relevant to the 2020 PRT Master Plan. 
Careful consideration will be given to how this survey is designed in order to avoid 
duplicating questions that have already been asked via the town’s on-going community 
master planning process.

Phase II

4. Community Action Team (CAT) Meetings The CAT will comprise citizens from all walks of life and perspectives. The intent of the 
CAT is to have it represent the broad range of people who have a vested interest in 
the success of Paonia’s recreation system. Through engaging the CAT over the course 
of the project, we hope to bolster their support for and ownership of the 2020 PRT 
Master Plan. 

Phase I
Phase II
Phase III

6. Town Board Meetings These meetings will serve as opportunities to bring the town’s elected officials 
together to learn about, discuss and weigh in on the 2020 PRT Master Plan. Through 
engaging the town’s elected officials over the course of the project, we hope to bolster 
their support for and ownership of the 2020 PRT Master Plan. 

Phase I
Phase II
Phase III

8. Stakeholder Interviews/Focus Group Sessions Stakeholder interviews/Focus Group Sessions will provide opportunities for focused 
discussions with local interest groups about key issues related to Paonia’s future.

Phase I
Phase II

9. Community Meetings/Workshops/Open Houses Community meetings/workshops/open houses will provide opportunities for the 
general public to learn about, discuss and weigh in on he 2020 PRT Master Plan.

Phase I
Phase II
Phase III

10. Call & Text Message Engagement
(optional add-on)

Please refer to page 28 of this proposal for information about the optional call and text 
message engagement service.

Phase I
Phase II
Phase III

69

8.



17 |

WHAT MAKES OUR APPROACH UNIQUE?
We offer a fresh and unique approach to community planning that we believe will lead to a 2020 PRT Master Plan for the Town of Paonia that has strong community support and will result in 
realistic and achievable outcomes.

1| We Employ a Fun, Interactive, Inclusive and Efficient Community-Driven Process
Our experience has taught us the value of, and need for, drawing upon local values and expertise to devise community-driven solutions. Our team is well-versed in implementing effective 
community engagement activities that provide for an open and inclusive dialogue about: (1) Community hopes, dreams and aspirations, as well as ideas for how to achieve these; (2) Finding 
common ground on challenging and potentially polarizing issues; and, (3) Identifying realistic and actionable steps that lead to positive change. We strive to engage communities in ways that 
result in strong ownership and support for project outcomes.

We work to ensure that community engagement activities are fun, interactive and easy and convenient to attend. We achieve this by...

• Offering a variety of options for people to provide input including in-person and online engagement activities.
• Working with town staff and local leaders to ensure that community engagement activities are fun and interactive.
• Scheduling events at convenient times and locations. We also work with our clients to offer incentives for attending meetings such as, food, drink, and childcare.
• Balancing the goal of an open & inclusive process with community burn out from too many meetings.
• By having a clearly defined purpose for every event/meeting. In other words, we won’t host an event/meeting just for the sake of it.

2| We Strive to Keep the Community Informed and Engaged
We have found that consistent outreach is essential to keeping the community informed about and engaged with community planning efforts. We strive to share information with community 
members on a regular basis and do our best to utilize a variety of communication channels in hopes of effectively sharing information with a broad range of people. The communication channels 
we typically use are social media (i.e. Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, etc.), email and/or text message blasts, print media (i.e. flyers, posters, newspaper articles, postcards, etc.) and word of mouth 
(i.e. information shared via town staff, local leaders, the Community Action Team, etc.).

3| We Empower the Community
We will work with town staff to establish a team of local leaders (aka the “Community Action Team”) that will...

• Craft a name, logo and/or tag line for the project (if desired).
• Guide the community engagement process by providing feedback on what’s working well and what can be done to make it work better.
• Advise on the best ways to reach out to and engage with the different facets of the community.
• Leverage their networks in the community to encourage their family, friends, colleagues. etc. to participate in engagement activities.
• Support engagement activities by assisting with meeting facilitation, providing introductions at meetings, helping with setup/take down at events, etc.
• Guide the development of the 2020 PRT Master Plan.
• Champion outcomes and support the town with implementation efforts.

We will also compile and share information with the community to raise local awareness about...

• Current conditions of parks, recreation facilities, open space areas, trails, events, recreation programs and activities in the community.
• Key regional, state and/or national trends likely to affect the Town of Paonia.

• How the community’s input has been used to guide and shape the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

4| We Focus on Realistic and Achievable Outcomes
Our team’s experience working as municipal planners and managers has taught us how to approach projects in a way that results in realistic and achievable outcomes. Too often we have seen 
plans with great ideas but that are not rooted in reality. Consequently, these plans rarely gain traction when it comes time for implementation. Our team will work with the town, the Community 
Action Team, stakeholders and the community to identify a range of implementation projects from those that can be achieved by simply taking a bucket of paint and painting temporary bike 
lanes on a local street to those that are more complex, but still rooted in reality, and may necessitate outside the box thinking in terms of partnerships and funding. We have a proven track record 
with our projects leading to actual on the ground change and take pride in our efforts leading to plans that can actually be implemented. The last thing we want is to deliver a plan that sits on a 
shelf and collects dust.

70

8.



18 |

SCOPE OF SERVICES
PHROST MASTER PLAN PHASE I | Project Startup & Current Conditions Inventory/”Base Plan” 
In Phase I, our team will work with the town, the Community Action Team, stakeholders and the community to: (1) Develop a detailed inventory of the existing parks, recreation facilities, open 
space areas, trails, events, programs and activities that comprise Paonia’s overall recreation system; (2) Raise awareness about current conditions in Paonia and regional, state and/or national 
trends likely to impact the community over the coming years; (3) Compile goals, policies, action items, ideas, etc. from related studies and plans.

Through this work our team hopes to be able to answer the following questions related to parks, recreation, open space and trails in Paonia:

+ Where have we been?

+ Where are we today?

Task 1.0 | Project Start-Up

Task 1.0 Services 1. WSC to work with town staff to review and confirm the scope of services and desired outcomes for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. Our team wants to ensure that our 
approach is well aligned with the town’s desired outcomes for the project.

2. WSC to work with town staff to establish a tentative schedule of project meetings and discuss initial project data needs.

3. WSC to work with town staff to determine the best way to integrate the planning process for the 2020 PRT Master Plan with the on-going update to the town’s 
Master Plan. Our team’s goal is to have these planning processes work in unison and complement each other.

4. WSC to work with town staff to identify and contact people to serve on the Community Action Team (CAT) (i.e. Steering Committee). Members of the CAT may 
include:
• Local Elected and/or Appointed Officials.
• Staff from the Town of Paonia.
• Local business owners.
• Local youth.
• Representatives from Paonia’s Creative District.
• Delta County Staff, Elected and/or Appointed Officials.
• Representatives the North Fork Recreation District.
• Representatives from the 50J School District.
• Representatives from state and/or federal agencies (ex. Colorado Parks and Wildlife, Bureau of Land Management, US Forest Service, etc.).
• Representatives from other key stakeholder groups in the community.

The anticipated roles & responsibilities of the CAT include:
• CONNECT | Guide, support and participate in outreach efforts and engagement activities to ensure broad community involvement in the project.
• ADVOCATE | Work to build and maintain community support and accountability for implementation of project outcomes.
• LEAD | Continue to lead and organize within the community to sustain momentum and inspire on the ground change, even after the plan is complete.

5. WSC to prepare a “Community Outreach & Engagement Plan” (COEP) for the project. The COEP will:
• Include information about the community engagement activities for the project.
• Provide a tentative schedule for community outreach and engagement activities.
• Identify communication channels to be used for the project.

Before finalizing, the COEP will be shared with the CAT for review. The COEP will be revised based on the input received. Pertinent information from the COEP will 
then be made available to the community via the project website.

71

8.



19 |

Task 1.0 Services
(continued)

6. WSC to build a WordPress website specifically for the project (please see www.downtownfairplay.com or www.meekermovingforward.com for examples of 
project websites created by WSC). The purpose of the website will be to:

• Serve as a clearinghouse for information about the project including updates, events, documents, etc.

• Provide opportunities for the community engage with project online via an an “Idea Wall” and short questionnaires and/or polls.

• Enable community members to sign up for project updates.

• Enable the community to contact the consultant team.

WSC is open to exploring this website being both for the 2020 PRT Master Plan, as well as for the town’s on-going community master planning efforts.

WSC will work with town staff, the CAT and other key stakeholders to link the project website with the other appropriate websites.

The Town of Paonia will be responsible for purchasing the domain name for the project website. WSC will maintain and update the website for the duration of the 
project.

Task 1.0 Deliverables 1. WSC coordination of, and participation in, up to three (3) hours of conference calls with town staff to:

• Review and refine the scope of services, as necessary, to ensure that the scope is best-suited for the desired outcomes of the project.

• Discuss ideas for integrating the town’s on-going master planning project with the process for the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

• Discuss ideas for people to invite to serve on the CAT.

2. WSC preparation and delivery of the final, vetted scope of services (as necessary).

3. WSC preparation of a flyer and email template with information about the CAT to be used by the town to encourage participation on the team.

4. WSC preparation of a Community Outreach & Engagement Plan (COEP) for the project. WSC to make one (1) round of revisions to the document based on 
feedback from towny staff and the CAT. WSC preparation and delivery of the final COEP to the town and posting of pertinent information from the document 
to the project website.

5. A WordPress website for the project. WSC to make revisions to the website based on feedback from town staff and the CAT. The town is responsible for 
purchasing the domain name for the project website. The cost for a domain name is anticipated to be around $20-$30. WSC will maintain and update the 
project website for the duration of the project.

Task 2.0 | Community Visit #1 - Project Kick-Off Meeting and In-Person Inventory Work

Task 2.0 Services 1. WSC and GP to work with town staff to prepare for, and coordinate the logistics of Community Visit #1. This visit to Paonia will serve as an opportunity for WSC 
and GP to spend time in Paonia in order to:
• Participate in and facilitate a kick-off/orientation meeting with the CAT.
• Visit and inventory all town parks, open space areas, trails and recreational facilities with town staff (if possible).
• Participate in and facilitate an initial round of interviews and/or focus group sessions with key stakeholders and/or interest groups.

2. WSC to prepare the outreach materials, agendas, sign-in sheets, presentations, maps and handouts necessary for Community Visit #1. WSC to work with town 
staff to distribute materials to the Community Action Team and others for Community Visit #1.

3. Staff from WSC and GP travel to/from Paonia and participation in, and facilitation of, Community Visit #1.

Task 2.0 Deliverables 1. WSC support town staff with: (1) Extending invitations to members of the CAT for a kick-off/orientation meeting; and, (2) Coordination of logistics for 
Community Visit #1, including meeting venues, meeting supplies, and refreshments (if desired).

2. WSC preparation of agendas, sign-in sheets, presentations and hand-outs, as necessary, for Community Visit #1.

3. Staff from WSC and GP travel to/from Paonia for Community Visit #1.

4. WSC participation in, and facilitation of, a 1.5-hour kick-off/orientation meeting with the CAT.

5. WSC participation in, and facilitation of, up to four (4) 1 to 1.5-hour interviews and/or focus group sessions with key stakeholders and/or interest groups.

6. WSC and GP participation in visits to and inventories of all town parks, open space areas, trails and recreational amenities/facilities with town staff (if possible).72

8.



20 |

Task 3.0 | Data Collection & Analysis

Task 3.0 Services 1. WSC and GP to compile and summarize information collected during Community Visit #1.

2. WSC to work with town staff and members of the CAT to compile and conduct a review/audit of existing studies and planning documents in order to identify 
and document implementation projects accomplished, goals, policies, ideas, actions, etc. relevant to the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

3. WSC to work with town staff, members of the CAT and other stakeholders to compile, analyze and summarize current data related to parks, recreation 
amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails, local and regional recreational assets and opportunities, special events, programs, activities and classes.

4. WSC and GP to compile and map current data for all existing elements of Paonia’s recreation system, recreational assets and opportunities. As part of this 
work, WSC will perform a neighborhood level analysis of connections/access to the various elements of Paonia’s existing recreation system in order to better 
understand areas of Paonia that may be underserved. In addition, key aspects of existing studies and planning documents will be mapped on an as needed 
basis as part of this work.

5. WSC to compile, analyze and summarize current demographic data, as well as data for regional, state and/or national recreation trends, which could impact 
Paonia over the coming years.

6. WSC to work with GP, town staff and members of the CAT to determine appropriate and/or desired levels of service (LOS) in Paonia.

Task 3.0 Deliverables 1. WSC and GP compilation and summation of the data/information collected during Community Visit #1.

2. WSC compilation, review/audit and summation of agoals, policies, ideas, actions and any other key aspects of existing studies and planning documents that are 
relevant to the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

3. WSC compilation, analysis and summation of current and historic data/information available for parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails, local 
and regional recreational assets and opportunities, special events, programs, activities, classes and any other key elements of Paonia’s overall recreation system.

4. WSC and GP compilation of data and creation of maps in ArcGIS that depict all existing elements of Paonia’s recreation system, relevant recreational assets and 
opportunities, neighborhood connection/access to Paonia’s recreation system and key aspects of existing studies and planning documents (as appropriate).

5. WSC compilation, analysis and summation of relevant historic, current and projected demographic data, as well as data for regional, state and/or national 
recreation trends, which could influence Paonia’s recreation system over the next 10-15 years.

6. WSC collaboration with town staff and members of the CAT to determine appropriate and/or desired levels of service (LOS) in Paonia.

7. WSC coordination of and participation in up to four (4) hours of calls with town staff and/or the CAT to discuss and identify: (1) sources of data/information; (2) 
relevant regional, state and/or national trends, topics, issues, etc. to research and collect data for; and/or, (3) desired levels of service (LOS) for the Town of Paonia.

Task 4.0 | “Community Snapshots” & Current Conditions Summary (i.e. “Base Plan”)

Task 4.0 Services 1. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to review, discuss and identify key outcomes from Task 3.0 to prepare up to five (5) “Community Snapshots.” The 
purpose of the snapshots is to highlight important data/information and to share this data/information with people in an easily digestible, “at-a-glance” 
format.

2. WSC to work with GP to compile the outcomes of Task 3.0 and prepare a document (i.e. Current Conditions Summary/”Base Plan”) that serves as an inventory 
of the data/information and maps relevant to the town’s recreation system and to the 2020 PRT Master Plan. WSC strives to present the data/information in 
this document in a manner that is visually appealing and easily understood. 

Task 4.0 Deliverables 1. WSC collaboration with town staff and/or the CAT to review, discuss and identify key outcomes from Task 3.0 to be used for “Community Snapshots.” This work 
will entail email correspondence and/or up to three (3) hours of calls with town staff and/or the CAT

2. WSC preparation and distribution of up to five (5) one-page “Community Snapshots.” WSC to be responsible for posting the snapshots to the project website. 
WSC to work with city staff and the Community Action Team to distribute snapshots via other appropriate communication channels.

3. WSC work with GP to prepare a “Current Conditions Summary/Base Plan” document that summarizes the data/information compiled and analyzed in Task 3.0. 
WSC to present data/information in a manner that is visually appealing and hopefully easily understood. WSC to be responsible for posting this document to 
the project website. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to distribute the summary document via other appropriate communication channels.

73

8.



21 |

PHROST MASTER PLAN PHASE II | Needs Assessment & Schematic Designs
In Phase II, our team will work with the town, CAT, stakeholders and the community to identify the needs of 
Paonia’s parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails, special events, programs, activities, 
etc. We will also work with the town and CAT to develop a draft Vision and/or Goals, as well as a draft 
Framework Plan.

Furthermore, in Phase II, our team will work with the town, CAT, stakeholders and the community to develop 
schematic designs for select parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails, community 
gathering spaces, as well as “before” and “after” concept sketches. The purpose of the schematic designs 
and concept sketches will be to help the community visualize their aspirations for Paonia’s recreation system. 
These will also be used in preparing material lists and cost estimates.

Through our work during Phase II we hope to be able to answer the following questions:

+ What type of recreation system does Paonia want to have in the future? (i.e. Where do we want to be?)

Task 5.0 | Community Visit #2 - Community Input Workshop

Task 5.0 Services 1. WSC to work with town staff to prepare for, and coordinate the logistics 
of Community Visit #2. This visit to Paonia will serve as an opportunity to 
host a 2-day workshop that includes:
• Up to six (6) 1-1.5 hour interviews and/or focus group sessions with 

key stakeholders and/or interest groups.
• A Community Input Meeting/Workshop.
• Meetings with town staff and the CAT (as appropriate).

The purpose of Community Visit #2 is to:
• Gather community and stakeholder input on needs and aspirations 

for Paonia’s recreation system.
• Begin to gather specific ideas for how to address those needs and/or 

achieving the desired recreation system.
• Share and discuss the findings of the outcomes of Task 3.0.

• Make additional visits to various elements of the town’s existing 
recreation system (as necessary).

2. WSC to prepare the outreach materials, agendas, sign-in sheets, 
presentations, maps and hand-outs necessary for Community Visit #2. 
WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to distribute the outreach 
materials for Community Visit #2.

3. WSC travel to/from Paonia and participation in, and facilitation of, the 
2-day Community Visit #2.

Task 5.0 Deliverables 1. WSC support town staff and the CAT with outreach for Community Visit 
#2 to ensure participation from key stakeholders and interest groups as 
well as to encourage broad participation from the community.

2. WSC preparation of agendas, sign-in sheets, presentations and hand-
outs, as necessary, for Community Visit #2.

3. WSC participation in, and facilitation of, a 2-hour Community Input 
Meeting/Workshop.

EFFECTIVE SUMMATION & SHARING OF KEY DATA

A one-page document highlighting important data and trends, aka a 
“Community Snapshot,” can be an effective tool for raising awareness about 
where a community stands in regards to various key issues.

The snapshot above was created to better inform people in Fairplay, CO 
about housing in their community. “Snapshots of Paonia” will be prepared 
and shared with the community during Phase I of the 2020 PRT master 
planning process.

The intent of the “Snapshots” is to better inform the community about 
the current condition of parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space 
areas, trails, special events, recreation programs and activities in Paonia 
and regional, state and/or national trends that could affect Paonia over the 
coming years.

74

8.



22 |

Task 5.0 Deliverables
(continued)

4. WSC participation in, and facilitation of, up to six (6) 1 to 1.5-hour interviews and/or focus group sessions with key stakeholders and/or interest groups.

5. WSC travel to/from Paonia for Community Visit #2.

Task 6.0 | Community Survey

Task 6.0 Services 1. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to develop questions for a Community Survey to be used to gather public input on Paonia’s recreation system.

2. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to distribute the survey to community members. Paper copies of the survey will be made available and the survey will be 
available online.

3. WSC will work with town staff and the CAT to distribute outreach materials for the community survey to encourage broad participation.

4. WSC to compile, manage and analyze all survey responses collected.

5. At the conclusion of the survey, WSC to: (1) conduct a analysis of the survey data; and, (2) generate graphs, tables, narratives, infographics, etc. to clearly and 
simply explain the survey results;.

6. WSC to generate a report and/or PowerPoint presentation summarizing the results of the community survey.

7. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to share the report and/or PowerPoint with the community.

Task 6.0 Deliverables 1. WSC coordination of, and participation in, up to three (3) hours of calls with town staff to develop questions for the Community Survey.

2. WSC creation of a paper copy and online version of the community survey.

3. WSC work with town staff print and distribute paper copies of the  Community Survey..

4. WSC work with town staff and the CAT to distribute a flyer/poster and/or a social media post to encourage participation in the Community Survey. WSC will be 
responsible for posting information about the Community Survey on the project website.

5. WSC to compile, manage and analyze the survey responses collected. WSC to create graphs, tables, narratives, infographics, etc. to assist with explaining the results 
of the survey.

6. WSC to create a report and/or PowerPoint presentation that summarizes the results of the Community Survey including, a description of the methodology, an 
executive summary, research findings and open-ended comments. WSC will deliver an electronic copy of these materials to the town.

7. WSC to post the report and/or PowerPoint to the project website and deliver outreach materials to town staff to be used to inform people about the availability of 
the Community Survey results.

Task 7.0 | Draft Vision, Goals and Framework Plan / Community Visit #3

Task 7.0 Services 1. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to prepare a draft vision and/or goals for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. The draft vision and/or goals are to be developed 
using the key themes/”big ideas” that emerged from input from stakeholder groups and the community. WSC to travel to/from Paonia in order to host a meeting 
with town staff and the CAT to develop a draft vision and/or goals for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. 

2. WSC to prepare a draft framework plan that illustratively describes the key themes/”big ideas” that emerged from stakeholder and community input. WSC to share 
the draft framework plan with town staff and the CAT for review and feedback. WSC to make one (1) round of revisions to the draft Framework Plan based on the 
feedback offered.

Task 7.0 Deliverables 1. WSC support town staff with: (1) Coordination of logistics for a 2-hour meeting with the CAT, including meeting venue, meeting supplies, and refreshments (if 
desired). The intent of this meeting will be to develop a draft vision and/or goals for the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

2. WSC preparation of an agenda, sign-in sheet, presentation, and hand-outs, as necessary, for the meeting with the CAT.

3. WSC travel to/from Paonia for the meeting with the CAT.

4. WSC participation in, and facilitation of, a 2-hour meeting with town staff and the CAT.

75

8.



23 |

THE VALUE OF A FRAMEWORK PLAN

The “Concept Plan” for the Town of Eagle’s - River Corridor Plan is shown above. 
This framework plan was created by Matt Farrar (WSC) to illustrate the “big 
ideas” that emerged from the planning process for the river corridor. Matt 
created a similar framework plan for the City of Glenwood Springs’ - Confluence 
Redevelopment Plan (http://www.cogs.us/DocumentCenter/View/2847/9-2017-
Confluence-Redevelopment-Plan?bidId=). The “Concept Plan” for Eagle’s - River 
Corridor Plan served as the foundation for the Future Land Use Map (also shown 
above) that was created via the planning process.

Our team anticipates creating a similar type of framework plan for the 2020 PRT 
Master Plan in order to capture and illustrate the “big ideas.”

Task 7.0 Deliverables
(continued)

1. WSC creation of a draft framework plan that illustratively describes the key 
themes/”big ideas” that emerged from stakeholder and community input. 
WSC to share the draft framework plan with town staff and the CAT for review 
and feedback. WSC to make one (1) round of revisions to the draft Framework 
Plan based on the feedback offered.

2. WSC to post the draft vision and/or goals and the draft framework plan to the 
project website in order to share these with the community and to gather 
feedback on these. WSC to deliver outreach materials to town staff to be used 
to inform people about the availability of these items.

Task 8.0 | Community Visit #4 - Design Workshop

Task 8.0 Services 1. WSC and LS to work with town staff to prepare for, and coordinate 
the logistics of Community Visit #3. This visit to Paonia will serve as an 
opportunity to host a 2.5-day workshop that includes:
• Drop-in hours for interested parties to review and provide feedback 

on design schematics/concepts for select parks, recreation 
amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails and community 
gathering spaces, as well as “before” and “after” concept sketches.

• A Community Workshop and a Community Open House.
• Up to four (4) 1 to 1.5 hour interviews and/or focus group sessions 

with key stakeholders and/or interest groups..
• Meetings with town staff and CAT (as appropriate).
The purpose of Community Visit #2 is to:
• Gather community and stakeholder input design schematics/

concepts for select parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space 
areas, trails and community gathering spaces, as well as “before” 
and “after” concept sketches.

• Continue gathering input on and specific ideas for how to address 
the needs and/or aspirations for the town’s recreation system.

• Share and discuss the findings of Community Visit #2 and the 
Community Survey.

• Make additional visits to various elements of the town’s existing 
recreation system (as necessary).

2. WSC and LS to prepare the outreach materials, agendas, sign-in sheets, 
presentations, maps and hand-outs necessary for Community Visit #3. 
WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to distribute the outreach 
materials for Community Visit #3.

3. WSC and LS travel to/from Paonia and participation in, and facilitation of, 
the 2.5-day Community Visit #3.

76

8.



24 |

Task 8.0 Deliverables 1. WSC support town staff and the CAT with outreach for Community Visit #3 to ensure participation from key stakeholders and interest groups as well as to 
encourage broad participation from the community.

2. WSC and LS preparation of agendas, sign-in sheets, presentations, maps and hand-outs, as necessary, for Community Visit #3.

3. WSC and LS participation in, and facilitation of, a drop-in hours during the Community Visit #3.

4. WSC and LS participation in, and facilitation of, a 2-hour Community Workshop.

5. WSC and LS participation in, and facilitation of, a 2-hour Community Open House.

6. WSC and LS participation in, and facilitation of, up to four (4) 1 to 1.5-hour interviews and/or focus group sessions with key stakeholders and/or interest 
groups.

7. WSC and LS participation in, and facilitation of, up to two (2) 1 to 1.5-hour meetings with town staff and the CAT (as appropriate).

8. WSC and LS travel to/from Paonia for Community Visit #3.

9. WSC posting outcomes of the Community Visit #3 to the project website in order to share these with the community and to gather feedback on these. WSC to 
deliver outreach materials to town staff to be used to inform people about the availability of these items.

PHROST MASTER PHASE III | Planning for Action
In Phase III, our team will work with the town, the CAT, stakeholders and the community to develop: (1) A realistic and actionable implementation plan for the community to follow and use to 
guide decision-making and achieve on the ground change over the coming years; and, (2) the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

Task 9.0 | Finalize Design Schematics & Concept Sketches / Prepare Material Lists & Cost Estimates

Task 9.0 Services 1. WSC and LS to work with town staff and the CAT to refine and finalize the design schematics/concepts for select parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space 
areas, trails and community gathering spaces, as well as the “before” and “after” concept sketches based on the outcomes and feedback from Phase II.

2. WSC to work with LS and GP to prepare material lists and cost estimates for the designs prepared for parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails 
and community gathering spaces.

Task 9.0 Deliverables 1. WSC and LS modification of design schematics and “before” and “after” concept sketches based on feedback from town staff, the CAT, stakeholders and the 
community.

2. WSC delivery of electronic copies of the final design schematics and “before” and “after” concept sketches to town staff.

3. WSC posting of final design schematics and “before” and “after” concept sketches to the project website. WSC to deliver outreach materials to town staff to be 
used to inform people about the availability of these items.

4. WSC delivery of material lists and cost estimates for final designs prepared for parks, recreation amenities/facilities, open space areas, trails and community 
gathering spaces.

Task 10.0 | Action Planning / Community Visit #5

Task 10.0 Services 1. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to prepare an action plan for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. The action plan is to be developed using the outcomes that 
emerged from Phase I and Phase II. WSC anticipates much of this work occurring remotely (i.e. via conference calls between WSC, town staff and the CAT (as 
appropriate)).

2. WSC travel to/from Paonia in order to participate in, and facilitate, an Action Planning Workshop with town staff and the CAT to review and finalize the 
implementation/action plan for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. 

Task 10.0 
Deliverables

1. WSC coordination and facilitation of up to four and a half (4.5) hours of conference calls with town staff and the CAT (as appropriate). The intent of these 
conference calls will be to develop an initial draft of the implementation/action plan for the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

77

8.



25 |

Task 10.0 
Deliverables
(continued)

5. WSC support town staff with: (1) Coordination of logistics for a 2-hour meeting with town staff and the CAT, including meeting venue, meeting supplies, and 
refreshments (if desired). The intent of this meeting will be to review, discuss and finalize the implementation/action plan for the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

6. WSC preparation of an agenda, sign-in sheet, presentation, and hand-outs, as necessary, for the meeting with town staff and the CAT.

7. WSC travel to/from Paonia for the meeting with town staff and the CAT.

8. WSC participation in, and facilitation of, a 2-hour meeting with town staff and the CAT.

9. WSC to prepare and distribute the final implementation/action plan for the 2020 PRT Master Plan with town staff and the CAT.

Task 11.0 | Draft 2020 PRT Master Plan / Community Visit #6

Task 11.0 Services 1. WSC to prepare and deliver a draft of the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

2. WSC to work with town staff to prepare for, and coordinate the logistics of draft plan review meeting with town staff, the Town Board and the CAT. This visit meeting 
will serve as an opportunity to host a joint meeting of these groups in order to review, discuss and provide feedback on the draft of the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

3. WSC to compile the feedback received on the draft of the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

Task 11.0 
Deliverables

1. WSC to provide the town with an electronic version of the draft 2020 PRT Master Plan.

2. WSC to work with town staff and the CAT to prepare outreach materials for the draft of the 2020 PRT Master Plan and to distribute the outreach materials along 
with the draft document. WSC will be responsible for posting the draft document to the project website.

3. WSC support town staff with coordination of logistics for a 2-hour draft plan review meeting, including meeting venue, meeting supplies, and refreshments (if 
desired).

4. WSC preparation of an agenda, sign-in sheet, presentation, and hand-outs, as necessary, for the draft plan review meeting.

5. WSC travel to/from Paonia for the draft plan review meeting.

6. WSC participation in, and facilitation of, a 2-hour joint draft plan review meeting with town staff, the Town Board and the CAT.

Task 12.0 | Final 2020 PRT Master Plan / Community Visit #7

Task 12.0 Services 1. WSC to revise the draft of the 2020 PRT Master Plan based on feedback from town staff, the Town Board, the CAT and the community.

2. WSC to work with town staff to prepare for, and coordinate the logistics of a presentation of the final 2020 PRT Master Plan to the Town Board (i.e. Community Visit 
#7). The hope would be to have the Town Board adopt the plan following the presentation.

3. WSC to prepare and deliver the final version of the 2020 PRT Master Plan.

Task 12.0 
Deliverables

1. WSC work with town staff and the CAT to prepare and distribute outreach materials for the presentation of the final 2020 PRT Master Plan.

2. WSC support town staff with the coordination of logistics for a presentation to Town Board at a public hearing.

3. WSC work with town staff and the CAT to prepare and distribute outreach materials for the final 2020 PRT Master Plan. WSC will be responsible for posting the final 
document to the project website.

4. WSC delivery of three (3) hard copies of the final version of the 2020 PRT Master Plan to town staff.

5. WSC delivery of a USB drive to city staff that includes:
• Final 2020 PRT Master Plan in PDF and Adobe InDesign format.
• Maps for the master plan in ArcGIS format.
• Presentations from the project in PDF format.
• Current Conditions Summary/”Base Plan” in PDF and Adobe InDesign format.
• Community Snapshots in PDF and Adobe InDesign format.
• Photos, illustrations and graphics from the project.

78

8.



26 |

Task 12.0 
Deliverables
(continued)

6. WSC collaboration with town staff to transform the project website into an online version of the final 2020 PRT Master Plan (if desired).

SERVICES EXCLUDED FROM SCOPE OF SERVICES
This proposal assumes that the Town of Paonia will be responsible for providing the following:

• Purchase of the domain name for the project website. It is anticipated that the domain name for the project website will be around $20-$30.

• Notices of public meetings and postings in the official town notice locations, local newspaper, town website and other locations. Our team will provide electronic versions of community 
outreach materials, as necessary. In addition, our team will deliver electronic versions of meeting agendas and meeting materials.

• Sufficient paper copies of materials for project meetings. Our team will be responsible for providing the town with electronic versions of any materials to be printed in advance of project 
meetings.

• If possible, printing/plotting of large format materials (ex. maps, posters, etc.). Our team will be responsible for providing electronic versions of large format materials to the town for 
printing/plotting. In the event that the town is unable to print/plot large format materials, our team has the ability to take care of the printing/plotting of those materials.

• Reserving and coordinating the set up of venues for project meetings. Our team will work with town staff to identify appropriate venues and preferred room setup for project meetings.

• Audio and video equipment for project meetings, as necessary.

• Supplies for project meetings (as appropriate) such as, tables, chairs, pens, pencils, name tags, flip charts, etc. Our team will provide the town with supply lists for each project meeting, in 
advance of these meetings.

• Refreshments for project meetings, as appropriate.

• Posting of any project related materials on the town’s website and/or social media pages, including Facebook, Instagram and Twitter. Our team will deliver electronic versions of any 
materials to be posted to the town’s website and/or social media pages.

• Hard copies and/or electronic copies of studies, planning documents, development documents, etc. relevant to the project.

79

8.



27 |

6| SCHEDULE FOR COMPLETION & COST OF SERVICES
Our team is proposing the following schedule for completion of the 2020 PRT Master Plan. We have developed this schedule with the following key dates in mind: (1)  March 2020 - project start; 
and, (2) August 31, 2020 - the town’s target date for completion of the project. While we do our best to have a draft of the 2020 PRT Master Plan available by the end of July 2020 and complete 
the project by the end of August 2020, we believe that a more realistic timeframe would be deliver of the draft 2020 PRT Master Plan in August 2020 and completion of the project in September 
2020.

All key staff assigned to this project are available and able to complete the project within the proposed schedule. This schedule assumes that there will be no delays in the town’s consultant 
selection process or during the process for the 2020 PRT Master Plan. If delays do occur, it is likely that they will impact the proposed schedule.

MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER

2020 PRT MASTER PLAN PHASE I | Project Startup & Inventory (Where are we today?)

Task 1.0 | Project Startup

Task 2.0 | Community Visit #1 - Project Kick-Off

Task 3.0 | Data Collection & Analysis

Task 4.0 | “Community Snapshots” & Current Conditions 
Summary (i.e. “Base Plan”)

2020 PRT MASTER PLAN PHASE II | Needs Assessment (Where do we want to be?)

Task 5.0 | Community Visit #2 - Input Workshop

Task 6.0 | Community Survey

Task 7.0 | Draft Vision, Goals and Framework Plan / 
Community Visit #3

Task 8.0 | Community Visit #4 - Design Workshop

2020 PRT MASTER PLAN PHASE III | Planning for Action (How do we get there?)

Task 9.0 | Finalize Design Concepts

Task 10.0 | Community Visit #5 - Action Planning

Task 11.0 | Draft 2020 PRT Master Plan / Community Visit #6

Task 12.0 | Final 2020 PRT Master Plan / Community Visit #7

MEETINGS/WORKSHOPS/OPEN HOUSES

Meeting with Community Action Team • • • • • •

Meeting with Town Board • • • • • •

Community Meeting/Workshop/Open House • •

• = proposed meeting

80

8.



28 |

FEE & HOURS BY TASK
PHASE & TASK TASK FEE TASK HOURS

2020 PRT MASTER PLAN PHASE I | Project Startup & Inventory (Where are we today?)

Task 1.0 | Project Startup $1,560.00 15.0

Task 2.0 | Community Visit #1 - Project Kick-Off $4,150.00 40.0

Task 3.0 | Data Collection & Analysis $8,600.00 64.0

Task 4.0 | “Community Snapshots” & 
Current Conditions Summary

$1,600.00 16.0

subtotal $15,910.00 135.0

2020 PRT MASTER PLAN PHASE II | Needs Assessment (Where do we want to be?)

Task 5.0 | Community Visit #2 - Input Workshop $6,200.00 54.0

Task 6.0 | Community Survey $5,400.00 48.0

Task 7.0 | Draft Vision, Goals and Framework 
Plan / Community Visit #3 $3,662.00 32.0

Task 8.0 | Community Visit #4- 
Design Workshop

$10,436.00 84.0

subtotal $25,698.00 218.0

2020 PRT MASTER PLAN PHASE III | Planning for Action (How do we get there?)

Task 9.0 | Finalize Design Schematics, Prepare 
Materials List & Cost Estimates

$9,150.00 65.0

Task 10.0 | Community Visit #5 - Action Planning $2,000.00 20.0

Task 11.0 | Draft 2020 PRT Master Plan / 
Community Visit #6

$4,372.00 40.0

Task 12.0 | Final 2020 PRT Master Plan / 
Community Visit #7

$3,200.00 32.0

subtotal $18,722.00 157.0

LABOR TOTAL $60,330.00 510.0

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES
Per Diem & Lodging $6,000.00

Printing & Plotting $500.00

Call & Text Messaging Engagement Service
(optional add-on)

+ $600.00

subtotal 
(does not include call & text messaging service)

$6,500.00

TOTAL PROJECT COST & HOURS $66,830.00 510.0

OPTIONAL ADD-ON: CALL & TEXT MESSAGE ENGAGEMENT SERVICE
Text message open rates are around 98-99%, whereas email open rates hover around 20%. 
Therefore, integration of text message engagement with the process for the 2020 PRT Master 
Plan could be an effective way to engage a broader range of community members, specifically 
younger demographics.

Text message engagement would enable:
• Community members to provide input from the convenience of their mobile phone.
• Our team to share information about the project with community members.

Initial engagement will require posters/flyers to be hung in prominent locations around the 
community, inviting people to respond to a specific question about Paonia’s recreation system 
via a specific phone number (ex. 1-800-MYIDEAS). As people respond, the text message 
program will develop a database with their contact information. This information will be a 
valuable resource for gathering future input and/or notifying people of upcoming events, 
project updates, etc.

To avoid “spamming” community members, the text message program will be set up to enable 
participants to opt-in to future text message engagement opportunities.

In addition to the text message service, there would be an option of offering an automated 
answering service for the project. Essentially this would serve as an input/idea hotline for 
the project. People would have the ability to call the project specific phone number (ex. 
1-800-MYIDEAS) anytime and leave a message(s) with their input on and/or ideas for Paonia’s 
recreation system.

More information about the call and text message service that we would recommend using 
can be found at: https://grasshopper.com/

Provided below is a not-to-exceed cost breakdown for the tasks identified in our proposed scope of services and our team’s reimbursable expenses for the project. We would request that we 
have the flexibility to re-allocate task hours and funds, upon mutual agreement with the town, to ensure the best possible outcome. 

81

8.



Response to Request for Proposals

Paonia Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan

DHM DESIGN
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE | LAND PLANNING | ECOLOGICAL PLANNING | URBAN DESIGN

Submitted By:

DHM Design
Jason Jaynes, PLA
Principal-in-Charge | Primary Point-of-Contact
311 Main Street, Suite 102
Carbondale, CO 81623
970.963.6520 | jjaynes@dhmdesign.com

Submitted To:

Town of Paonia
214 Grand Avenue
PO Box 460
Paonia, CO 81428

Submittal Date

February 7, 2020

82

8.



83

8.



DENVER CARBONDALE DURANGO BOZEMAN WWW.DHMDESIGN.COM

311 Main Street, Suite 102 Carbondale, CO 801623 p: 970.963.6520

February 7, 2020

Town of Paonia 
214 Grand Avenue 
PO Box 460
Paonia, Colorado 81428
Paonia@townofpaonia.com

RE: Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia, Colorado

Dear Members of the Selection Committee,
 
On behalf of the DHM Design Project Team, we express our sincere excitement for the opportunity to work with the Town of Paonia 
on the Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan project. We are passionate about responsible public access to outdoor recreation, 
and are dedicated to supporting the management of access that allows for enjoyment of our amazing natural resources while 
minimizing impact on the land. We understand one of the major goals of the Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan is to evaluate 
the current sites and provide recommendations, improvements, and sustainable management and design solutions for future uses. 
We also understand the importance of providing community outreach efforts to support the goal of providing a more sustainable 
recreational experience for both the community and visitors to the Town. The community outreach will offer an important 
opportunity for the Town to look beyond traditional site planning and focus quality of life, cultural values, and community priorities. 
Our work in and around the region and our deep portfolio of small town mountain projects gives us the experience and skills to 
tackle this project. Our team shares an enthusiasm for recreational design and has the depth of experience and energy to realize the 
community’s vision.

DHM Design will work hand-in-hand with the Town of Paonia, Town Board, and stakeholders to develop a Parks, Recreation, and 
Trails Master Plan that addresses the need for recreational uses and connections and will provide a long-term comprehensive vision 
for recommendations and improvements to accommodate the growing demand while preserving the environment. We know that 
the community has invested time and energy in recent outreach efforts to begin to identify priority improvements to connections 
and facilities, and that much of the known community desires are already grounded in realistic expectations for achievable 
and actionable projects. We also know that the ongoing Town Master Plan process will provide much valuable information and 
background to inform this recreation and connectivity focused plan. This Parts, Recreation, and Trails Plan will build on the work 
done to date, reflecting the community’s high priority for recreation, fitness and outdoors. This comprehensive plan will serve as a 
policy guide with recommendations that can be used by the town, your partners, other agencies and community organizations that 
influence the use of this resource to guide land use and development from a holistic and sustainable perspective. At the same time, 
the process and resulting plan will be based on results and actions, supporting short-term implementation of priority projects and 
pursuit of outside funding.

We Are Park, Recreation, Trails, and Open Space Specialists. We have decades of experience and have a solid grasp of the 
associated opportunities and challenges of providing an outstanding recreation experience while respecting fragile ecosystems 
cultural and historic assets. We will work with you to assure the results from the planning efforts will be a cherished system of 
recreation assets that is unique to the Paonia community and its visitors, connecting people to the natural environment in a 
manageable way.

Our team has experience doing this exact type of work for agencies around the country. As part of the design team for the 
National Park Service and US Forest Service, we frequently work in these large ecosystems and often heavily visited landscapes and 
understand the importance of quality of life, resource preservation, tourism, management and use of natural space. DHM is a proud 
partner with many state and federal land management agencies in preparing comprehensive recreation and management master 
plans for parks, trails, historic sites and open space. 

DHM DESIGN
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE | LAND PLANNING | ECOLOGICAL PLANNING | URBAN DESIGN

84

8.



The ethos of the DHM team, and the conservation and design principles we have practiced across every ecosystem, translate to 
each project we take on: Protect natural systems and human history. Reveal opportunities for exploration and enjoyment. Leave a 
light footprint. We understand and applaud the practical, economic and social dimensions of Paonia’s efforts for actively managing 
recreation assets into the future.

We Listen. Our job is to take the information from the community and client, and then work towards a realistic plan that inspires 
trust in the process and transparency in the final solutions. Our tried and true approach generates engagement, understanding and 
support through multiple means of outreach and feedback loops. We will engage with community members through a series of 
public meetings and stakeholder groups. We will concurrently work with the community organizations and project partners to reach 
optimized solutions that respect their voices and priorities.

If selected, Jason Jaynes will oversee the project as Principal-in-Charge and Primary Point-of-Contact. Jason’s specific experience and 
understanding of visitor use management, recreation, parks, trails and open space management planning will serve this project from 
bigger picture goal setting to the details of each drawing and deliverable. From his very similar project experience in the Roaring 
Fork Valley and Delta County, he knows how to integrate the community into the planning process in a way that drives supportable 
decision making. Jason will be supported by Jeremy Allinson, Senior Associate/Natural Resource Program Manager, who will provide 
Ecological and Natural Resources expertise; as a Delta county native and current resident of Montrose, Jeremy’s project experience 
coupled with his intimate personal knowledge and genuine investment in the future of the North Fork Valley will be an invaluable 
asset to this project.

We Understand Your Goals. We want the outcome to be as successful as possible and will provide the attention to detail and scope 
necessary to get you there. Our final product will grow out of our collaborative effort to: create a plan that is inspiring and practical 
while protecting the land and resources. We understand that the goals of the project are to provide a unified vision that serves the 
current and future needs of the community, serves the needs of a broad variety of users, and prioritizes implementation actions over 
a five-year period.

A major challenge to any planner is solving the problems of today while ensuring success in the future. Our job is to meet that 
challenge through careful analysis and creative solutions, facilitating a successful plan of action that ultimately enriches the user’s 
experience, the overall quality of life of the community, and the culture of Paonia. Our proposal will describe our experience, references, 
statement of understanding of Paonia and the project, work philosophy/work to be performed, project deliverables, and fee schedule. 

DHM is highly qualified to assist you with the Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan project. If selected, our team is available to 
immediately begin work on this important effort. Our proposal demonstrates that we have the experience, capacity and excitement to 
successfully complete this project for the Town of Paonia. We look forward to the opportunity to provide our approach and qualifications. 

Sincerely,
DHM Design

Jason Jaynes, PLA        Jeremy Allinson
Principal-in-Charge | Project Manager | Primary Point-of-Contact  Senior Associate | Natural Resource Programs Manager
970.963.6520 | jjaynes@dhmdesign.com     970.963.6520 | jallinson@dhmdesign.com

85

8.



"Thank you DHM Design! You make projects like Red Hill 
possible. Many conservation projects require technical 
design and planning expertise to complete. Whether it’s 
facilitating a public process, designing new trails on Red 
Hill, master planning a future for Chapin Wright Marble 
Basecamp, or restoring the Crystal River, AVLT relies on the 
skill of our partners at DHM Design to get the job done. 

~ Aspen Valley Land Trust   

86

8.



Thank you for Considering 
DHM Design.
Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan
We understand that recreation is not just recreation anymore. It is 
interconnected with a myriad of issues, from public health and local 
economies to the protection of fragile ecosystems and the preservation 
of community treasures. DHM provides recreation planning solutions that 
respond to the evolving trends in outdoor recreation, are place-based and 
responsive to environmental, infrastructure and fiscal constraints.

87

8.



Transmittal Letter

Technical Proposal

A. Independence

B. License to Practice in Colorado

C. Firm Qualifications and Experience

D. Partner, Supervisory and Staff Qualifications and Experience

E. Similar Engagements with Other Government Entities

F. Specific Approach

G. Quality Control

H. Bid Costs

1

1

1

8

13

24

33

34

Table of Contents

88

8.



89

8.



Technical Proposal

"DHM has helped us take 
our parks master plan 
from visioning through 
implementation over the past 
decade. We are very happy with 
their ability to assist us with 
grant funding and the creation 
of buildable plans.”

~Deb Downs, City Administrator of Victor

“DHM has been our advocate 
and trusted partner for the 
past decade. They continue to 
work hand in hand with many 
members of the community to 
make sure the vision for Ridgway 
is realized year after year.”  

~Jen Coates, Town Manager of Ridgway

90

8.



91

8.



A. Independence
The firm should provide an affirmative statement that it is independent of the Town of Paonia. The firm should also list and 
describe the firm’s professional relationships involving the Town of Paonia for the past five (5) years. Should there be any 
involvement, a statement explaining why such relationship does not constitute a conflict of interest relative to performing 
the proposed audit must be included.

DHM is an independent from the Town of Paonia and have no professional relationship with the Town in the past five years. 

B. License to Practice in Colorado
An affirmative statement should be included indicating that the firm and all assigned key professional staff are properly 
licensed to practice in Colorado.

DHM and the key professional staff of DHM are properly licensed to practice in the State of Colorado.

C. Firm Qualifications and Experience
The proposal shall state the size of the firm, the size of the audit staff, the location of the office from which the work on this 
engagement is to be performed and the number and nature of the professional staff to be employed in this engagement 
on a full-time basis and the number and nature of the staff to be so employed on a part-time basis.

Size of Firm: 60

Auditing Staff Size: 3

Office Location Work to be Performed: 
Carbondale
311 Main St # 102
Carbondale, CO 81623
ph: 970.963.6520

Supporting Office Locations: 

Denver
900 S Broadway, Suite 300
Denver, Colorado 80209
ph: 303-892-5566

Staff Involved in this Engagement and Role:
DHM and our team pledges to staff this project with the key individuals listed below, and to make these individuals available 
immediately to complete work of the highest possible level of professional standards within the appropriate time frame. 

Jason Jaynes, PLA - Principal-in-Charge | Primary Contact
Jeremy Allinson - Project Manager | Natural Resources Programs Manager
Allie Newman - Project Planner
Alex Fales - Project Landscape Architect

In addition, the firm shall provide information on the circumstances and status of any disciplinary action taken or pending 
against the firm during the past three (3) years, including the name and address of any regulatory agency or professional 
organization involved.

DHM is not involved in any pending or past disciplinary action against the firm.

Durango 
1309 E. 3rd Ave, Suite 205
Durango, CO 81301
ph: 970.385.4219 

Bozeman 
27 E. Main Street, Suite D
Bozeman, MT 59715
ph: 406.219.2012 

DHM Design | Page 1 

92

8.



Who We Are
We are landscape and ecological 
professionals who call the West home. 
Like the region itself, we are pragmatic, 
independent and resilient individuals — 
but we’re also steeped in the values and 
skills of teamwork. We are vigorous users 
and lovers of the outdoors, committed 
to both environmental and cultural 
preservation. Since our founding in 
Denver in 1975, our employee-owned 
Corporation has expanded with offices 
in Carbondale, Durango and Bozeman. 
Our roster now includes professionals in 
landscape architecture, natural resource 
management, horticulture, land use 
planning, graphic design, 3D modeling 
and computer imaging, plus some who 
also hold degrees in enriching fields like 
studio art, anthropology and philosophy.

What We Do
In a word, stewardship. In a phrase, the 
integration of ecological planning with 
design. We stress the primacy of context. 
We strive for holistic awareness not only 
of a place and its ecology, but its history 
of human presence too. Deliberately, 
our interventions sit lightly on the land. 
What we don’t do is anything more than 
what’s called for. Our work is primarily in 
the American West, from the Front Range 
across the Great Basin to the Sierra 
Nevadas. We plan and design for resort 
and residential communities, historic 
sites, civic spaces and parks, small-
town revitalizations, tribal lands, legacy 
ranches and high-end residences. We are 
especially proud that a considerable part 
of our portfolio has been work for the 
National Park Service. This connection 
has instilled in us a deep sensitivity 
to the necessary balance between 
protecting nature and revealing how it 
can be enjoyed.

How We Do It
Every one of our projects is a collaborative 
interaction between the client, a cross-
disciplinary team of DHM professionals 
and, when appropriate, expert outside 
consultants. The work begins with inquiry. 
Listening leads to perception and analysis. 
We expect to find complexity, and we 
embrace it — though the solutions we 
arrive at often appear deceptively simple. 
We are committed to open-minded 
engagement with a project’s stakeholders, 
and are especially resourceful at graphic 
presentation and the facilitation 
of dialogue. We have learned that 
communication and trust make possible 
the union of divergent viewpoints, and 
that in turn makes landscapes that can be 
cherished and sustained.

About DHM Design

C. Firm Qualifications and Experience

Page 2  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

93

8.



Local Expertise - This is Home
 » We are a firm with a strong focus 

on parks, recreation, trails planning 
and design

 » With our holistic and ecologically-
based approach, we understand 
how to develop land in a 
sustainable and economically 
advantageous manner so natural 
amenities are enhanced, social 
nodes are vibrant and thriving, 
and private areas remain peaceful 
retreats from the world

 » We have extensive experience 
leading small to large 
multidisciplinary teams; primarily 
for public clients on public lands, 
including over 65 projects with the 
National Park Service, including 8 
active NPS projects and 3 active 
United States Forest Service projects

 » Our team has direct relevant 
experience on these types of 
projects and develop innovative 
design solutions to challenging 
and complex projects

Our team’s strong track record brings unique expertise.

Results-Driven Planning
 » Our significant information 

collection and analysis capabilities 
translates to powerful, data-
informed recommendations

 » We build implementation steps 
into each master plan, including 
the identification of key actions, 
low hanging fruit for immediate 
change and activities to drive 
momentum from the outset

 » Our goal is to achieve density while 
minimizing impact on the land, 
incorporating sustainable design 
principles, and responding to how 
people live, work, rest and move

 » Funding research and goal 
setting for grant seeking builds 
on success to leverage the most 
financial resources for the park Our 
partnerships and collaborations are 
tested, long standing and effective

Leadership
 » Our Principal-in-Charge, Jason 

Jaynes, has deep experience in Parks 
& Recreation projects, specifically 
working with municipalities 
throughout the West. He 
understands the process associated 
with working toward a shared vision

 » Our Principals and Project 
Managers are involved throughout 
the entire process from project 
kickoff through the final warranty 
walk. Our firm leaders take a very 
hands-on approach to our projects 

Effective Teamwork and 
Engaging Outreach

 » We believe in a collaborative, team-
focused approach; where consensus, 
experience, aesthetics, technical 
skills, and ecology are balanced

 » We have a history of building trust 
and conducting good faith efforts 
in mountain communities. 

Silverthorne Trails

DHM Design | Page 3 

94

8.



Key Experience

Page 4  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

DHM considers ecological planning the true intersection of 
landscape architecture, planning, and ecological services. 
We make a commitment to include ecological planning 
into how we approach all projects, from large-scale private 
ranches to small urban parks. We believe any worthy plan 
must be structured around a high quality vision. This calls for 
a combination of sensitivity to the site and the community 
as well as innovation and practicality. Our master planning 
design process incorporates pragmatic steps and utilizes 
creative solutions to explore, develop and refine a vision that 
meets multiple goals for each project. The success of the Parks, 
Recreation, and Trails Master Plan depends on establishing an 
overall community-driven vision that balances with the natural 
systems at play. DHM has a proven track record of providing 
high value to clients across the state for these specific needs. 

As landscape architects and planners we are particularly 
interested in creating livable communities that celebrate the 
environment and integrate innovate approaches to sustainable 
site design. We see a healthy community as complex, richly 
layered and saturated with vitality. With our holistic and 
ecologically-based approach, we understand how to develop 
land in a sustainable and economically advantageous manner 
so natural amenities are enhanced, social nodes are vibrant and 
thriving, and private areas remain intimate retreats from the 
world. Our goal is to achieve density while minimizing impact 
on the land, incorporating sustainable design principles, and 
responding to how people live, work, rest and move.

MOUNTAIN TOWNS
Every town has its story — the names and dates, the reasons 
for its founding and growth, and sometimes the causes of its 
decline. But beneath those standard histories, every town has 
another origin story. One that always starts with the landscape. 
A confluence of rivers, the sheltering flank of a mountain, 
mineral deposits or rich timber or good grassland — there was 
something in the nature of the place that made people stop 
to camp, and then come to settle. A railroad might arrive later, 
then a highway, and the town might prosper and grow. But 
things evolve. And we look first to the history, and to the land 
itself. We believe the solution to a small town’s challenge is 
inherent in the place. 

DHM demonstrates a high degree of expertise in planning, zoning, 
public involvement, design, and project management. Our 
solutions reinforce a sense of place, are technically sound, gain 
community support, and are fiscally responsible. By integrating 
aesthetic and functional aspects of each solution, we can achieve 
project goals of balancing multiple priorities and building bridges 
between the land and its use. We have also successfully facilitated 
public meetings ranging from large to small. 

In particular, small town community members tend to be highly 
engaged and informed about their area. They care deeply 
and want their concerns to be understood as projects move 
through the decision-making process. Our job is to let them 
know we are listening and guide the conversations toward a 
balance of priorities that achieve multiple goals. Our team is 
dedicated to working with the land trust, stakeholders and 
individual community members to make sure we identify who 
should be involved in the public process and how best to 
engage them.

Mountain planning requires a specialized understanding of 
the different seasonal experiences and how the guests will 
experience the place year-round. Sustainability also weighs ever 
more heavily in regions whose economy is built primarily on 
the natural environment. We work with many destinations to 
harness authentic economic vitality and coalesce constituencies 
that preserve local character and environment. Our work 
with Colorado communities large and small has created 
implementable plans for year-round visitation and resilience 
through economic and climatic shifts. We believe our experience 
in similar design and planning projects is an important 
component of our success along with our commitment to 
collaboration with team members, clients, and communities in 
which we work. We come to the design process prepared and 
with a high level of expertise and yet are open to the creative 
dialog that ensues, shaping projects in ways that are better than 
what could have been achieved alone. We have a deep portfolio 
of work in resort and ski towns coupled with a mastery of the 
underlying considerations in a master planning process. 

95

8.



DHM Design | Page 5 

TRAILS AND RECREATION PLANNING
Trails and open spaces not only provide recreation 
opportunities, but connect neighborhoods and provide safe 
alternative transportation options. We believe any worthy plan 
must be structured around a high quality vision. This calls for 
a combination of sensitivity to the site and the community 
as well as innovation and practicality. Our team has extensive 
experience in the planning and implementation of award-
winning trail and greenway plans with the technical design 
knowledge of how the trail is to be built. Many of the Trails 
and greenways that we enjoy today are part of the National 
Trails System. Since its inception in 1968, over 1,000 national 
recreation trails have been created across the country. 
Countless more trails have been created with the help of other 
organizations, such as the Greenway Foundation, American 
Trails, and the Rails to Trails Conservancy, which all contribute to 
an impressive network of trails in urban, rural, and wild areas. 

Through decades of work with open space and recreation areas 
across the region, we have found that successful projects are often 
a matter of balancing priorities and acting as true stewards of 
the land. Regional and State Parks, Bureau of Land Management, 
National Parks and Forest Service areas have all seen a significant 
increase in attendance over the last two decades. One of the 
biggest threats to these lands is of overuse resulting in the 
degradation of these resources. By planning for and managing this 
larger volume of visitation, agencies are united by a shared mission 
to protect the resource while still working to connect people to the 
outdoors and provide appropriate recreation opportunities and 
settings. These agencies seek a balance between conserving and 
managing natural, cultural and scenic resources while providing 
various forms of recreation and interpretation. 

Our experience in Colorado includes visitor amenities at Cherry 
Creek State Park, master plans for Staunton and Yampa State 
Parks and many other public lands that are similar in use and 
mission. With in-house ecologists, we start with the natural 
systems at each park, layering recreation where appropriate and 
managing visitor use to preserve the resource. Our experience 
planning for Wyoming and Wisconsin State Parks also gives 
us broader experience with national trends and collaborative 
solutions to issues that our own state faces in each park. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
The Public Process is about gaining trust - and keeping it. As 
consultants that work with a wide range of clients, we have 
developed strategies that are proven to be inclusive, inspiring 
and honor the energy given by each community. 

We work toward engaging the community with these goals in mind:
• Sensitivity to local history and previous planning efforts
• Listening and analyzing widely divergent interest groups
• Budget/staff capacity considerations
• Operations and maintenance capacity 
• Personal interaction with the people of the town
• Reaching disenfranchised groups
• Using outreach methods that work for generational and 

socio-economic differences

There are many forms that public outreach takes and we often find 
that it is a blend of multiple levels of communication that works 
with each community’s own “social ecology”. For Slate River Valley, 
we will craft a process that includes small focus groups, person to 
person interviews, social media and larger open houses - all with 
a strong emphasis on transparency and inclusiveness. The public 
process is an opportunity to generate new ideas, discover what’s 
important to people, promote the assets, and attempt to align user 
and owner interests. We have worked in over 60 municipalities 
throughout the country, building support for projects and 
successfully engaging citizens in the planning and design process. 

Our process takes into consideration the sometimes widely 
divergent interest groups and opinions on each project. In 
Windsor, Colorado we recently designed a matrix of priorities 
that helped diverse individual business owners who had 
varying levels of concerns with the built environment, ideas 
for improvements and policy/process changes. This allowed 
the team and the community a framework for discussions that 
moved quickly toward agreeable solutions. In Butte, there is the 
possibility for neighborhood chats or barbeque’s at a park with a 
list of discussion topics - we want to create a safe space to listen. 

96

8.



Page 6  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

Farmer’s market booths and pop up events are also effective at 
getting input on the ground. The key is to customize it to what 
works for Crested Butte and document the input and decisions 
made so each person feels heard and acknowledged throughout 
the process. We could also consider an on-site survey of 
businesses where we talk to people with a questionnaire to get 
information from those who know what it is like to run a business 
in town. Where there might be gaps in financial capital, Butte 
makes up for it with human capital - energy we can tap to create 
a buzz and momentum around the ideas in the plan.

Online and social media tools play an increasing role in our public 
outreach process. Project Websites can be specifically designed 
to engage the public, post the latest information, updates to the 
project and distribute a calendar of events. They create possibilities 
to receive input from the community beyond public meetings 
and allows for discussions to take place in a secure and controlled 
environment. We can easily integrate surveys online to capture 
feedback beyond the public meeting forums. The project team will 
provide content to post on social media channels (i.e., Facebook 
and Twitter) to provide announcements regarding pop-up events 
and public forums. Whether its recording a podcast or creating 
a Facebook event, we understand the many channels and 
technologies to reach and engage the most people.

For example, in Billings, in addition to attending the Strawberry 
Festival and hosting open houses, we developed a project web 
site, surveys and promotions through Facebook that give even 
greater access for feedback from the public. These are very cost 
effective tools that, combined with face to face outreach, lead 
to more effective facilitated discussions, innovative ideas and a 
better chance at community endorsement. 

We believe communication is a critical design tool during 
the public process. More than a pretty picture, graphic 
visualizations are integral to the ongoing conversations that 
lead to well conceived and artfully delivered projects. DHM uses 
hand graphics, artistic renderings, and 3D Modeling for design, 
design review, presentations and marketing across a broad 
spectrum of project types. Using a suite of rendering tools, 
we transform the vision of a project into still images or videos 
with varying level of detail for a publishable, transportable 
end product that opens the door to what’s possible. Our 3D 
team can construct an overall context model and existing 
conditions model for the district, conduct a charrette with the 
city to generate massing and phasing scenarios with the goal of 
providing detailed, eye level renders of the district character. 

Our suite of visualization tools can provide:
• Graphic renderings, info graphics and animations 

demonstrating growth potential
• Highlighting specific parcel locations for development
• Demonstrate development phasing and cycles
• Branding and marketing collateral with clients and for 

conferences
• Tools to expand for future locations with ready-made 

context, model and render base files

For the City of Durango, we helped them undertake an 
ambitious, multi-year character district planning process to 
create a framework of coordinated district plans that define 
the unique character of each district and provide a vision for 
the future. This included the development of character district 
renderings from a macro to micro view, analyzing existing 
development code language for these Districts, producing 
conceptual visualizations of potential redevelopment 
and public projects, as well as translating existing City 
policy documents into amendments to the Land Use and 
Development Code. The purpose of the character renderings is 
to give form to the massing’s studies and how the scenarios can 
take on a Durango specific character uniting the district with 
Main Street and the overall sense and place of the city.

97

8.



DHM Design | Page 7 

ECOLOGICAL SERVICES
DHM Design is passionate about enhancing the interconnection 
between natural systems and human development and is 
dedicated to protecting the integrity of the land and ecosystem 
in every aspect of the planning and design process.

DHM Design has spent 40 years developing an important 
understanding of how connections and relationships to the 
natural environment can be communicated through master 
planning processes. DHM Design is unique in that it offers in-house 
solutions that emphasize ecological planning and natural resource 
management in every aspect of the planning and design process. 
Our ecological team members are not outside consultants, but 
principals within our firm who work carefully with our design staff 
on all aspects of our projects. Our approach to natural area master 
planning is to first understand the resource with dedicated analysis 
of the ecological components of a site. All decisions are grounded 
in this careful analysis, resulting in sustainable and creative 
solutions to design challenges. 

DHM Design considers ecological planning the true intersection 
of landscape architecture, planning, and ecological services. We 
make a commitment to include ecological planning into how 
we approach all projects, from large-scale private ranches to 
small urban parks. These are not considered external services, 
but rather integrated into each of our projects. We pride 
ourselves in discovering unique ecological opportunities that 
connect landscape architecture and our design approach with 
the greater natural world around us. 

Overall Services
• Due Diligence, Permitting, Mitigation & Restoration
• High Level Restoration Design
• Restoration Ecology 

Water Resources
• Clean Water Act Section 404 Permitting
• Wetland Delineation & Wetland Crossing Permit (USACOE 

Wetland Delineation)
• Stream Permitting
• National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 

Permit Applications
• Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPPs)

Compliance, Permitting, & Planning
• Visual Resource Analysis 
• Erosion Sediment Control General Permits
• Threatened & Endangered Species Surveys (ESA)
• National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA)
• Phase I Environmental Site Assessments
• Environmental Inspections
• State, Federal & Local Permitting (Documentation 

Preparation & Submittal)
• Environmental Constraints Analysis 
• Overall Site Planning & Resource Avoidance
• Public Outreach, Involvement & Education
• Mitigation Planning
• GIS Planning, Monitoring & Decision Support Tools
• Revegetation Plans

Detailed Services
• Endangered Species Act Compliance (Section 7 

Consultations, Threatened & Endangered Species Surveys)
• Habitat Conservation Plans (HCPs)
• Biological Assessments & Evaluations
• Pre-Construction Avian Surveys & Nest Relocation
• Ecological Assessments & Restoration Design
• Construction Administration
• Watershed Management Plans (WMP)
• Invasive Species Management (Noxious Vegetation 

Management Plans)
• Forestry & Forest Restoration Plans
• Fire Hazard Analysis & Management Plans
• Grazing Plans & Agricultural Management Plans
• Conservation Banking & Wetland Mitigation Banking
• Candidate Conservation Agreements/With Assurances (CCAS)
• Special Area Management Plans (SAMPs)
• Integrated Natural Resources Management Plans (INRMPs)
• Maintenance Management Plans
• Forest Health Management Plans
• Arboricultural Studies & Reports
• Tree Mitigation Studies & Reports
• River/Flood Restoration Analysis & Plans
• Native Landscape Management Protocol
• Sustainability Responsive Park Development Plans
• Habitat For Birdwatching, Fishing, & Hunting

Natural Resource Inventory, Analysis, & Management

98

8.



Team Organizational and Key Personnel

D. Partner, Supervisory, and Staff Qualifications and Experience

THE DHM DESIGN TEAM
Below we introduce each core team member and their role; 
resumes for each are provided on the following pages. Our 
entire core team is located in Carbondale.

The project will be led by Jason Jaynes, a principal in the 
Carbondale office and registered landscape architect. Jason 
has nearly 20 years of experience serving the western slope 
from Carbondale, with many public planning and design 
projects informed by public process. In the last two years he 
has led the development of process and products for the Delta 
County Recreation and Trails Master Plan; Red Hill Access Trails; 
Rio Grande Trail Node Plan; Rio Grande Trail Standards; and 
the current Aspen Lumberyard Affordable Housing project, 
which includes extensive public and stakeholder outreach and 
community presentations. Jason brings an easy-going and 
approachable manner to the process and enjoys engaging with 
stakeholders across all backgrounds and perspectives.

Jeremy Allinson will direct the mapping and natural resource 
study of the project. A native of Delta and current resident of 
Montrose, Jeremy knows intimately and cares deeply about 
the North Fork Valley and Delta County region. His existing 
relationships with key contacts in local, state, and federal 
agencies allows our team to efficiently collect data and connect 
with stakeholders at the land and program management levels. 
Jeremy was instrumental in the development of the Delta 
County Recreation and Trails Master Plan. His current workload 
includes on-call support for the Roaring Fork Transportation 
Agency and Pitkin County, integrating natural resource values 
into recreation corridors and land management activities.

Allie Newman is our research and policy document guru and 
a professional shape shifter. She’s a trained landscape architect 
with a practice focus on ecological planning, connecting 
our land planning and ecological planning work in her day-
to-day activities. She was also an integral team member on 
the Delta Trails project, spearheading policy research and 
recommendations, and is currently supporting Pitkin County’s 
on-call ecological planning work. She has recent experience 
with DHM’s NPS projects, providing cultural resource evaluation 
reporting and the resulting physical design and policy planning.

Alex Fales is a registered landscape architect with significant 
site design experience. He’s DHM’s project lead on the Lilac 
Park project for Collbran, and will support the project with 
conceptual design and graphics. Recently Alex led the 
development of planning concept communication, site plan 
design, graphic illustration, and presentation products for 
the Breckenridge Summer Special Uses Master Plan project, a 
collaboration between Vail Resorts Development Company and 
the White River National Forest.

Page 8  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

Blue River Trail

99

8.



DHM Design

ABOUT
EDUCATION
B.S. in Landscape Architecture

Kansas State University, 2000

CERTIFICATIONS
Professional Landscape Architect

Colorado | Wyoming | Oregon | Nevada

AREAS OF EXPERTISE
Trails & Greenways
Public Process
Visualization
Alignment Review
Amenity Design & Detailing
Residential Design
Civic & Municipal
Project Management

CONTACT
jjaynes@dhmdesign.com
970.963.6520
www.dhmdesign.com

JASON JAYNES
Principal | Studio Manager | Professional Landscape Architect (CO, WY, OR, NV)

Jason has been involved in a broad range of projects, including 
trail planning, residential and ranch design, feasibility and visual 
analysis, public process planning and public presentations. 
He has an extensive history of public and private work in the 
Rocky Mountain Region and has been involved in numerous 
LEED Certified and sustainably focused projects in the region. 
He believes that the components of environmental stewardship, 
functionality and human comfort are inextricable from the design 
process and the ultimate, lasting quality of a built project.

NOTABLE WORK
Delta County Recreation Master Trails Plan | Delta County, CO
Jason has been an integral member of the team working to inventory and 
evaluate the current trail systems, looking for opportunities to create new 
connections. The Master Trails Plan is a guiding document for the Delta 
County Board of County Commissioners, helping to prioritize needs and 
guide efforts in finding additional lands and funds that may be needed for 
existing operations and future trails, recreation facilities and development 
of infrastructure. The team is prioritizing and establishing a framework for 
improvements and links to existing trails, identifying funding sources for 
phased implementation of new trail locations and existing trail maintenance. 
All of this will ultimately create a community-driven plan for success.

Red Hill Access Trails | Carbondale, CO
Jason has been has been working with Singletrack Trails, the Town of 
Carbondale and Aspen Valley Land Trust to improve Red Hill’s trail network. 
The project is relocating the trailhead to the base of the hill, where parking 
is more accessible and rockfall is less likely. With this relocation access point, 
there will be opportunity for new multi-use trails that will connect the 
existing trails up to Mushroom Rock, as well as a mountain bike-specific trail 
that will end at the base. DHM did the initial site analysis and trail alignment 
concept designs, provided support for the public outreach process, and 
developed the design for the trails’ wayfinding and signage. DHM’s support 
for the public outreach process consisted of hosting open houses, managing 
a project website, and advertising public event and project updates through 
social media. We are thrilled to bring one of Carbondale’s favorite year-
round accessible trails into a new era of enjoyment for the community.

Rio Grande Trail Node Plan | Pitkin County, CO
The Rio Grande Trail within Pitkin County is the focus of a Node Plan that 
identifies spots along the trail where additional amenities are needed, 
such as benches, picnic tables, restrooms, etc. Pitkin County Open Space 
and Trails sought community input on the draft concepts for enhanced 
or additional trailheads and nodes through a public survey. Locations for 
historical interpretation of sites along the trail will also be part of the plan.

DHM Design | Page 9 

100

8.



Page 10  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

DHM Design

ABOUT
EDUCATION
B. of Science in Land Use - Environmental 

Resources, Metropolitan State University, 
Denver, 2009

REGISTRATIONS & AFFILIATIONS
Safeland USA/PEC 
Western Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies 
Certified Technical Service Provider

AREAS OF EXPERTISE
Environmental Permitting &Planning
Project Siting & Resource Avoidance
Mitigation & Restoration Planning
National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA)
Biological Resource Investigations
Site Planning & Resource Avoidance
Environmental Compliance Monitoring
Wetland Delineation & Restoration
Stream Habitat Assessments & Restoration
Fisheries & Natural Resource Management

RECENT PROJECTS
Marble Basecamp; Marble, CO
Moon Run Ranch; Snowmass, CO
Warm Springs Wetland Mitigation Bank;

Warm Springs, CO
Aspen Valley Ranch; Aspen, CO
Basalt River Restoration; Basalt, CO
BelleJackBlue Ranch; Woody Creek, CO
Bear Wallow Ranch; New Castle, CO
Junebug Farm; Eagle County, CO
Montrose Brownfields; Montrose, CO

CONTACT
jallinson@dhmdesign.com
970.963.6520
www.dhmdesign.com

JEREMY ALLINSON
Senior Associate | Natural Resource Programs Manager

As an environmental planner and natural resource coordinator, 
Jeremy has experience in fisheries and wildlife investigations; 
aquatic resource studies; riparian and aquatic habitat assessments; 
hydrologic assessments; impact assessments and stream restoration 
design and construction. He has experience working on large scale, 
multi-year NEPA development projects as well as small localized 
stream restoration projects. A native to Colorado, Jeremy gets his 
inspiration from being outdoors, hunting and fishing. Professionally, 
he believes in striking a balance between environmentally responsible 
development and protection of natural resources. 

NOTABLE WORK
Breckenridge Vail Resorts Mountain Improvements | Breckenridge, CO
Jeremy played an integral role in the Breckenridge Vail Resorts Mountain 
Improvements project that was designed to enhance on-mountain summer 
access and amenities for a diverse range of users. Jeremy and team worked 
hand-in-hand with the stakeholder to create a holistic plan that integrated 
multiple recreation amenities while maintaining the ecological experience 
of the site and supporting USFS goals for public education and interaction 
with the natural environment on public lands. The project included planning, 
design, and logistics for improvements spanning three peaks at the ski area, 
with improvements ranging from canopy tours, ziplines, a climbing wall and 
an observation tower to trailheads, interpretive nodes, primitive footpaths 
and singletrack mountain bike trails. The team also developed construction 
management and access plans, project staging and phasing, off-site visibility 
analysis, overall master plans, technical site plans, and illustrative graphics 
used to describe the intent of the finished improvements.

Delta County Recreation Master Trails Plan | Delta County, CO
Delta County determined that a comprehensive Recreation Master Trails 
Plan was essential for developing clear goals and objectives that will act as 
a guiding document for the Board of County Commissioners. Knowing that 
additional land and funds may be needed for existing operations as well as 
future trails, recreation facilities and development of infrastructure, this plan 
will help prioritize these needs and guide future efforts. The team is working 
to inventory and evaluate the current trail systems and look for opportunities 
to create new connections. They will prioritize and establish a framework for 
improvements and links to existing trails, identify funding sources for phased 
implementation of new trail locations and existing trail maintenance. All of 
this will ultimately create a community-driven plan for success.

101

8.



DHM Design | Page 11 

DHM Design

ABOUT
EDUCATION
Masters of Landscape Architecture,

University of Colorado Denver, 2017
Bachelor of Arts Environmental Science, 

University of Colorado, 2010

AREAS OF EXPERTISE
Cultural Landscape Preservation and 

Interpretation
Resource Master Planning
Ecological Restoration

CONTACT
anewman@dhmdesign.com
970.425.6286
www.dhmdesign.com

ALLIE NEWMAN
Senior Designer

A fifth generation Coloradoan, Allie has a profound connection to 
the landscape, ecology and culture of the American West. She has 
a decade of experience as a professional wilderness and river guide 
and brings her passion for natural and heritage landscapes to 
every project. Allie creates authentic designs to foster community 
strength and encourage curiosity and exploration.

NOTABLE WORK
Pitkin County On Call Services | Pitkin County, CO

• Filoha Meadows Nature Preserve Riparian Restoration - Filoha Meadows is 
a 185 acre property along the Crystal River which contains thermal bogs 
that support rare plant and animal species. The design restores critical 
riparian habitat with native planting, enhancing the area for multiple 
species of wildlife. 

• North Star Nature Preserve Fen Restoration - Permitting and construction of 
earthen dam to restore natural hydrology. Turn of the century agricultural 
practices drained surface water from this historic fen; this project restores 
water and native plants to this biologically diverse ecosystem. 

• Sky Mountain Park, Brush Creek Ponds Restoration - Design, permitting and 
construction of old agricultural ponds into upland riparian and sagebrush 
habitat providing habitat for water fowl, pollinators and ungulates. 

• Sky Mountain Park Communication Graphic – Developed, illustrated, and rendered 
graphic for public communication and outreach. The graphic describes Pitkin 
County efforts to regenerate overly-mature Gambel Oak Stands to enhance 
wildlife habitat and reduce potentially dangerous fuel loads. 

Delta County Trails Recreation Master Plan | Delta County, CO
Allie was part of the team that Delta County selected for a county wide 
comprehensive Recreation and Trails Master Plan. The Master Plan is the guiding 
document for the development of future trail infrastructure and was based on 
extensive community input, outreach and feed back. The plan prioritizes the goals 
of the county and future efforts for funding and land acquisition. Programmatic 
elements included in the master plan are new and existing trails, opportunities for 
trail connections, recreation facilities and associated infrastructure that work with 
Delta county’s heritage and expanding population center.

Crystal River Bank Stabilization | Carbondale, CO
In 2019, the Crystal River experienced historically high flows for an extended 
period. The heavy runoff exacerbated erosion of steep slopes and created a 
critical threat to the stability of the Crystal Valley Trail and adjacent irrigation 
ditch. DHM worked with project partners to develop a design to stabilize and 
restore 800 linear feet of riverbank. The goals of the project were threefold; to 
reduce risks to infrastructure and users of the Crystal Valley Trail, to achieve 
an aesthetic similar to nearby natural river segments and to preserve and 
enhance the ecological values of the area. DHM led the design team through 
the USACE permitting process, consulted on grading and restoration design, 
and produced a restoration-planting plan that included various biologic 
stabilization measures to naturalize and strengthen the project. 

102

8.



Page 12  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

DHM Design

ABOUT
EDUCATION
B. of Landscape Architecture

Iowa State University, 2012

RECENT PROJECTS
Hay Meadow; Eagle, CO
Eagle Valley High School; Eagle, CO
Eastbank, Roaring Fork School District; 

Carbondale, CO
Lyons Regional Library; Lyons, CO
Avon World Resort Condos; Avon, CO
Lift One Lodge; Aspen, CO
Aspen Valley Ranch; Aspen, CO
Skyline Residence; Ukraine
South Aspen Street PUD; Aspen, CO
Truscott Affordable Housing Phase IIA; Aspen, CO
Gunnison County Courthouse; Gunnison, CO
Eagle’s Rise Ranch; Snowmass, CO
Bridges School Entrance; Carbondale, CO
Aspen Valley Hospital; Aspen, CO
Rocky Mountain Biological Laboratory; Gothic, CO
Clear W Ranch; Pitkin County, CO
Highway 133 Planting Design; Carbondale, CO

CONTACT
afales@dhmdesign.com
970.963.6520
www.dhmdesign.com

ALEX FALES
Senior Designer 

Alex has worked on a variety of project types on the Western Slope, 
including recreation and public parks, neighborhood master 
planning, and resorts and residences. Alex is an avid rock climber 
that looks to the mountain terrain for excitement and challenges. 
Inspired by the high dessert environment, he believes in providing 
people of all ages with access to the outdoors.

NOTABLE WORK
Crystal River Restoration | Carbondale, CO 
AVLT, along with the Town of Carbondale, hired DHM as part of a team 
to complete comprehensive river restoration for a 1.5 mile stretch of the 
Crystal River. DHM helped acquire $130,000 in grant funding for the project 
to be implemented. The first phase of the project is focused on restoring the 
wetland and riparian habitat and creating passive educational opportunities 
with interpretive signage, trails, and gathering spaces. The second phase, 
which encompasses the remaining mile of the river, the team is designing a 
new a permanent diversion structure to improve both up and down stream 
aquatic habitat while still diverting water to nearby ditches.

Breckenridge Vail Resorts Mountain Improvements | Breckenridge, CO
The project was designed to enhance on-mountain summer access and 
amenities for a diverse range of users. DHM worked hand-in-hand with Vail 
Resorts Development Company, Breckenridge Mountain planning staff, 
the contracting team and USFS staff to create a holistic plan that integrates 
multiple recreation amenities while maintaining the ecological experience 
of the site and supporting USFS goals for public education and interaction 
with the natural environment on public lands. The project included 
planning, design, and logistics for improvements spanning three peaks 
at the ski area, with improvements ranging from canopy tours, ziplines, a 
climbing wall and an observation tower to trailheads, interpretive nodes, 
primitive footpaths and singletrack mountain bike trails.

Redstone Castle | Redstone, CO
The Redstone Castle was built in 1902 for industrialist and coal magnate 
John Cleveland Osgood. Placed on the National Register of Historic Places 
in 1971, the Castle provides a unique glimpse into the personal styles and 
social culture of America’s elite at the turn of the 20th Century. DHM has 
helped the property owners with the land use approvals process, including 
entitlements, rezoning, and public outreach, as well as master planning for 
overall improvements and stewardship of the site. 

103

8.



DHM Design | Page 13 

Project Experience

E. Similar Engagements with Other Government Entities

As a firm with a practice focus in the western United States, and 
specifically mountain regions, DHM Design has worked with 
many small western towns. Our work spans planning for large 
and heavily-visited national parks, including the Grand Canyon 
and Rocky Mountain National Parks, to recreation and parks 
planning for mining towns such as Victor, Colorado. This project 
will be served out of our Carbondale office by staff who have 
deep and ongoing experience in natural resource planning, parks 
and recreation planning, and public/stakeholder engagement.

On the following pages, we have provided project descriptions 
for five projects that have been led and managed by the core 
team identified for the Paonia PRTMP. These projects range from 
large-scale planning (Delta County Recreation and Trails Master 
Plan) to small community park design (Lilac Park in Collbran). 

These projects illustrate our experience with directly relevant 
planning and design for rural, western slope communities, 
along with an understanding of the culture and methods of 
engagement of the individual constituent groups. The Delta 
County RTMP is most similar in project process and work 
type, at about twice the budget due to the total project area, 
duration, and number of stakeholders. The Rio Grande Trail 
Node Plan and Standards most closely matches the project 
labor hours/budget and includes specific site design, cost 
estimation, and clear project prioritization. 

Red Hill Access Trails included a heavy public process, with a 
community-generated set of priorities and expectations for the 
future development of trails connecting the Town of Carbondale 
to a popular trail system on BLM lands. The Marble Basecamp 
project is an example of environmentally sensitive and informed 
planning for a primitive outdoor education camp designed to 
support school and youth programs in the development of an 
understanding and appreciation of the outdoors. And the Lilac 
Park project in Collbran is an example of site-level planning and 
design, envisioning a community gathering place adjacent to 
downtown using design proposals that are cost-effective and 
responsive to the character of Collbran. 

Of this list of projects, DHM has ongoing work with the Town of 
Collbran on Lilac Park, with AVLT on the Marble Basecamp, and 
with the Town of Carbondale and AVLT on the Red Hill Access 
Trails. The next several pages illustrate these projects in more 
detail, with additional descriptions and client references. We are 
happy to provide more examples of parks, recreation, and trails 
planning, and public outreach processes from our portfolio of 
DHM projects performed out of our Carbondale studio.

As a firm, we are committed to serving the communities in our 
region; the staff assigned to this project are passionate about 
helping small towns envision their evolution while protecting 
and enhancing the heart and soul of the place.

Blue River Trail

104

8.



Page 14  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

CLIENT
Delta County
Elyse Ackerman-Casselberry, 
Director of Planning & Economic 

Development
970.874.2105
ecasselberry@deltacounty.com

PROJECT TEAM 
DHM Design
SGM Engineering
RPI Consulting

PROJECT DATA
GoCo Grant Funded Project
County-wide Trails Network

SERVICES
Recreational Planning
Natural Resource Assessment
Public Outreach
Project Website
Graphic Design

STATUS
In Progress

DELTA COUNTY RECREATION 
MASTER TRAILS PLAN
Delta County, Colorado
Delta County determined that a comprehensive Recreation Master Trails Plan 
was essential for developing clear goals and objectives that will act as a guiding 
document for the Board of County Commissioners. Knowing that additional land 
and funds may be needed for existing operations as well as future trails, recreation 
facilities and development of infrastructure, this plan will helps prioritize these 
needs and guide future efforts.

The team is working to inventory and evaluate the current trail systems and look for 
opportunities to create new connections. They are prioritizing and establishing a 
framework for improvements and links to existing trails, identifying funding sources 
for phased implementation of new trail locations and existing trail maintenance. All 
of this will ultimately create a community-driven plan for success. The Master Plan 
has recently been approved by the Board of County Commissioners.

DHM Design

105

8.



DHM Design | Page 15 

106

8.



Page 16  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

CLIENT
Town of Carbondale in Partnership 

with Aspen Valley Land Trust 
Eric Brendlinger, Carbondale Parks Director
970-963-2733
ebrendlinger@carbondaleco.net

PROJECT TEAM 
DHM Design
Singletrack Trails

PROJECT DATA
Trail Improvements
Project Website

SERVICES
Site Analysis Study 
Conceptual Design
Design Development
Public Process Outreach
Construction Administration
Construction Documents
Wayfinding & Signage Design

STATUS
In Progress

RED HILL ACCESS TRAILS
Carbondale, Colorado

With direct adjacency to town and close access, Red Hill is Carbondale’s 
recreation “back yard”; residents feel a sense of ownership and have a great 
deal of pride for the quality and environment of the trails. DHM has been 
working with Singletrack Trails, the Town of Carbondale and Aspen Valley 
Land Trust to improve Red Hill’s trail network. The project is relocating 
the trailhead to the base of the hill, where parking is more accessible 
and rockfall is less likely. With this relocation access point, there will be 
opportunity for new multi-use trails that will connect the existing trails up to 
Mushroom Rock, as well as a mountain bike-specific trail that will end at the 
base. DHM did the initial site analysis and trail alignment concept designs, 
provided support for the public outreach process, and developed the design 
for the trails’ wayfinding and signage. DHM’s support for the public outreach 
process consisted of hosting open houses, managing a project website, and 
advertising public event and project updates through social media. We are 
thrilled to bring one of Carbondale’s favorite year-round accessible trails into 
a new era of enjoyment for the community.

DHM Design

107

8.



DHM Design | Page 17 

108

8.



Page 18  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

CLIENT
Aspen Valley Land Trust
Dave Erickson, Stewardship Manager 
970.963.8440 | dave@avlt.org

Suzanne Stephens, Executive Director
970.963.8440 | suzanne@avlt.org

PROJECT TEAM 
DHM Design
Aspen Valley Land Trust
Gunnison County
U.S. Forest Service

PROJECT DATA
47-Acre Property
Water Supply, Access Road
Transportation and Parking
Outdoor Education Area
Small Group Camp Area
Existing Cabin
Waste Water Disposal

SERVICES
Ecological Land Use Planning
Site Plan Development
Permitting
Agency Coordination

STATUS
In Progress

MARBLE BASECAMP
Marble, Colorado

DHM Design, is working in close collaboration with Aspen Valley Land Trust (AVLT) 
to develop a remote 47-acre mountain property to be used for outdoor education. 
Aspen Valley Land Trust recently purchased the property and is seeking a land use 
change permit in order to formalize and continue the historic use of the property 
and to allow for minor improvements to address maintenance and to support 
the existing programming on the site. In addition to ensuring continued outdoor 
educational access for public schools and under served youth groups, all proposed 
improvements and planning were designed around the preservation of the natural 
setting of the property. 

To initiate the planning process, DHM’s Ecological Services and Land Planning 
staff conducted a thorough review of Gunnison County land use code and all 
potentially applicable state and federal land use permits and processes for the 
proposed improvements to the property. With this information, DHM and AVLT 
developed a number of proposed improvements for the property and identified 
where minimal impacts would occur while maintaining and supporting the 
existing infrastructure and uses already in place. Ecological site planning included 
an extensive review of the property’s existing conditions and features including 
existing easements for public hiking access along the beginning section of 
North Lost Trail, a Forest Service trail that crosses the property without previous 
protection of a trail easement; and the significant ecological and riparian values 
of a National Forest inholding that lies within the High Elk Corridor and Lost Trail 
Creek potential conservation area. Maintenance recommendations were made to 
improve ecological site conditions including the annual removal of hazard trees 
and deadfall, annual clearing of brush to maintain camping spots and reduce fuel 
loads, and annual maintenance of a group campfire site. 

DHM Design

109

8.



DHM Design | Page 19 

Existing Structure on Site Pre-Existing Site Conditions

110

8.



Page 20  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

CLIENT
Pitkin County Open Space & Trails
Gary Tennenbaum, Director, Pitkin 

County Open Space and Trails 
970.920.5232 
gary.tennenbaum@pitkincounty.com

PROJECT TEAM 
DHM Design
SGM Engineering

PROJECT DATA
Trailhead
Open Space
Parking Lot

SERVICES
Master Planning
Site Design
Landscape Architecture
Materials Standards
Cost Estimation

STATUS
In Progress

RIO GRANDE TRAIL NODE PLAN & 
STANDARDS
Pitkin County, CO

The Rio Grande Trail is a shared-use, paved and natural-surface trail 
connecting Glenwood Springs and Aspen; approximately half of the trail is 
managed or wholly owned by Pitkin County Open Space and Trails. DHM 
worked with OST staff in the development of a master plan, called the “Node 
Plan,” which identified opportunities for trailhead and trail wayside amenities 
for public use. The Node Plan is complemented by a standards document that 
identifies the guiding policies for the trail and establishes a set of materials 
and design standards for future improvements. Additionally, individually 
identified trailheads and nodes are illustrated with schematic plans, cost 
estimation, and phasing recommendations to facilitate installation by county 
crews or contractor procurement. 

DHM Design

23.523.5

Woody  Creek

Brush Creek

C
ry

st
al

 R
iv

er

Cattle Creek

Colorado River

Prince Creek

Fryingpan River

Snowmass        C
reek

Roaring Fork River

82

70

82

Aspen

Map 1 Map 2 Map 3

Maro
on

  C
ree

k  R
d

Ca
stl

e  
Cr

ee
k  R

d

Woody  Creek  Rd

Owl Creek Rd

Brush
  Creek  Rd

Divide  Rd

Cattle       Creek       

Red Canyon 

Spring V
all

ey
 

3 Mile Rd

Prince  Creek  

West    S
opr

is C
reek  Rd

Lower  River  Rd

Snowmass
Village

Capitol
Creek Rd

El Jebel Rd

Garfield   County

Pitkin   County

Ga
rfi

el
d 

  C
ou

nt
y

Ea
gl

e 
  C

ou
nt

y

Eagle   County

Pitkin   County

To: Denver

To: Grand Junction

Basalt

Glenwood Springs

Litt
le W

oo
dy

  C
ree

k  
Rd

McLain Flats Rd.

25.0

26.5

40.0

42.0

To: Independence Pass

To: Redstone and 
McClure Pass

El Jebel/WillitsEl Jebel

l/WillitsWillits

1.51.5

2.62.6

6.86.8

8.08.0

12.012.0

16.016.0
CarbondaleCarbondale

18.518.5

20.520.5

34.034.0

Midland Trail

Rd

Pitkin County Managed

DETAILS:
- BENCH TO BE RELOCATED 
OFF OF THE BRIDGE. 

DETAILS:
- POTENTIAL INTERPRETIVE THEME: HISTORY 
OF THE ONE-ROOM SCHOOLHOUSE. WHEATLY 
OPEN SPACE AGRICULTURAL HERITAGE. 

MATCH LINE

MAP 2

MAP 1

1 M
A

P

WINGO BRIDGE

WINGO TRAILHEAD

RIO GRANDE TRAIL NODE PLAN

GRAPHIC LEGEND

LEGEND

Existing         and Proposed         Amenities 

Existing Trailheads

Primary Trailhead

Secondary Trailhead

Primary Trail Node

Secondary Trail Node

Proposed Trail Nodes

¯ 1 inch = 900 feet1800’ 3600900’0’

Trails 

Single Track

Double Track

Paved Path

Rio Grande Trail

Conservation Easement

Land Ownership and Easements

BLM

State of CO

USFS

USFS

Town Limits

OST property

Map Kiosk

Shade structure

Parking Bathroom

Pet Station

Bench(es) Trash receptacle

Bench

Potable water

Bike Parking

Bike Station

Signage - 
Recreational

Signage - 
Ecological

Signage - 
Historic / Cultural

PITKIN IRON SECONDARY 
NODE

DETAILS
-HISTORIC INTERPRETATION: RAILROAD 
ARTIFACTS AND HISTORIC USE PHOTOS

JAFFEE PARKPRIMARY 
TRAILHEAD

RIO GRANDE TRAIL KEY MAP

SECOND 
TRAILHEAD

SECONDARY 
NODE

EMMA SCHOOLHOUSE PRIMARY 
TRAILHEAD

ARCIERO TRAILHEADSECONDARY 
TRAILHEAD

BASALT TRAILHEAD PRIMARY 
TRAILHEAD

DETAILS:
- EMMA SCHOOLHOUSE PARKING AREA IS OWNED BY THE EMMA 
SCHOOLHOUSE TRUST (EST), THE SEASONAL PORT-A-POTTY IS 
PAID FOR BY THE EST. 
- POTENTIAL INTERPRETIVE THEME: HISTORY OF THE EMMA 
TOWN SITE.

DETAILS:
- EXISTING PICNIC TABLE WILL BE REPLACED 
WITH ESTABLISHED STANDARD. 

15 SPACES

10 SPACES

COTTONWOOD GROVE SECONDARY 
NODE

15 SPACES

5-6 SPACES

WHEATLY SCHOOLHOUSE SECONDARY 
NODE

82

82

BASALT

WILLITS

RIO GRANDE TRAIL

SN
O

W
M

A
SS

 C
R

EE
K

FRYING PAN RIVER

ROARING FORK RIVER

HOLMES LOT
SPLIT

GRANGE 
RANGE

CROWN MOUNTAIN 
PARK

GLASSIER OPEN
SPACE

22

23

24

26

27

28

25

ROARING FORK
CLUB PUD-GOLF

FOX

111

8.



DHM Design | Page 21 

SIGNAGE DESIGN
ASPEN VALLEY LAND TRUST
Carbondale, Colorado

DHM Design is working with Aspen Valley Land Trust to create a 
comprehensive signage package that will help to identify and share the 
stories of conserved properties and to become a recognizable landmark in the 
Roaring Fork Valley. Signage will accommodate a range of uses, from simple 
property identification to interpretive kiosks. While visibility is important, 
a special focus on materials and scale will ensure that the signage fits 
appropriately within the context of the agricultural landscape. 

DHM Design

300 MAIN STREET, SUITE #102
CARBONDALE, CO 81623

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT
Aspen Valley Land Trust - Signage

2018.09.24

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

Type 1: Tack on Sign
Existing posts size will vary

Type 2: Custom Property Name
Front View

8 x 8 wood post

Type 2: Flagged Option
Front View

8 x 8 wood post

Type 2: Overlapping Flagged Option
Front View

8 x 8 wood post

TYPE 1 AND TYPE 2 SIGN OPTIONS

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

10”

6.25” 
Overlap

Vertical Post Mount

Horizontal Rail Mount

Note: Flagged option requires thicker material 
and rounded corners to prevent safety hazards.
0.25”  High Pressure Laminate or equivelant.

Type 2: Custom Property Name
Side View

8 x 8 wood post

6’

3” 
Overlap

300 MAIN STREET, SUITE #102
CARBONDALE, CO 81623

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT
Aspen Valley Land Trust - Signage

2018.09.24

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

TYPE 3 SIGN OPTIONS

12” 11”

2” cut into second 
wood post to allow 
center pivot to be 
centered in 8x8 post.

No cut into second 
wood post for 
maximum structural 
integrity. 

7’-6”

24”

Type 3: 
Custom Property Name

Front View
Two 8 x 8 wood post

Type 3: 
Flagged Option with No Notch.

Front View
Two 8 x 8 wood post

Optional: Aluminum lining 
for improved wood longevity 
and additional safety. 

Flagged Option: Interpretive sign width reduced to 11” to allow center pivot 
hinge to be 1.5” in from the edge.Threaded rod with counter 

sunk washer & nut

Placeholder for trail/conservation 
icons to be developed under 

future direction from AVLT 

Center Pivot Hinge
at top and bottom of 

interpretive sign

8 gauge  steel strap (black) 
for additional support and 

interesting design element

Type 3: 
Side View

Dam et mod 
mailluptas 

nus dollentin 
eos eos volupta 
tintia aut harios 
ese sequam, 
invendere 
voluptatis pre eici 
que quam sant.

Dam et mod 
maH illuptas 

 invendere 
voluptatiis 
sequatus pre 
eici que

Dam et mod 
mailluptas 

nus dollentin eos 
eos volupta tintia 
aut harios ese 
sequam, inven-
dere voluptatiis 
sequatus pre eici 
que quam sant.

Dam et mod 
maH illuptas 

 invendere 
voluptatiis 
sequatus pre 
eici que

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

Type 3: 
Centered Option with No Notch.

Front View
Two 8 x 8 wood post

Dam et mod 
mailluptas 

nus dollentin 
eos eos volupta 
tintia aut harios 
ese sequam, 
invendere vo-
luptatiiuatus pre 
eiciquam sant.

Dam et mod 
maH illuptas 

 invendere 
voluptatiis 
sequatus pre 
eici que

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

2”Overlap 3.75”

1” Space for sign 
rotation and wood 
exanding/movement

300 MAIN STREET, SUITE #102
CARBONDALE, CO 81623

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT
Aspen Valley Land Trust - Signage

2018.09.24

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

7’-6”

~8’-9”

3’-6”3’-4”

18”

36”

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

C
U

S
TO

M
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

TYPE 4 SIGN OPTIONS

Type 4: 
Top View

Type 4: 
Side View (wood only)

Dam et mod 
mailluptas 

nus dollentin eos 
eos volupta tintia 
aut harios ese 
sequam, inven-
dere voluptatiis 
sequatus pre eici 
que quam sant.

Dam et mod 
maH illuptas 

 invendere 
voluptatiis 
sequatus pre 
eici que

Dam et mod 
mailluptas 

nus dollentin eos 
eos volupta tintia 
aut harios ese 
sequam, inven-
dere voluptatiis 
sequatus pre eici 
que quam sant.

Dam et mod 
maH illuptas 

 invendere 
voluptatiis 
sequatus pre 
eici que

Type 4: Large shade structure with interpretive 
sign and custom property name. 

Three 8x8 wood posts

Type 4 Alternative: Single wood 
post with steel plate

Steel mounting plate for shade structure will also provide 
additional support for the three wood posts. 

CLIENT
Aspen Valley Land Trust
Dave Erickson, Stewardship Manager 
970.963.8440 | dave@avlt.org

Suzanne Stephens, Executive Director
970.963.8440 | suzanne@avlt.org

PROJECT TEAM 
DHM Design

PROJECT DATA
4 Hierarchy Family 

SERVICES
Schematic Design
Design Development
Graphic Design

STATUS
In Progress

112

8.



Page 22  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

B R I D G E  A L I G N M E N T | O P T I O N  2
COLLBRAN LILAC PARK

2020

SCALE: 
1” = 10’ 5’ 10’

N
0’ 20’

B E A M S T O N E  F O R M A L

• LOCATION: Straight across to path midway
• LENGTH: 60’
• SLOPE: 4.5%
• Elevated above existing grade

DESCRIPTION: 
This bridge location takes off perpendicular to the existing walk and lands at a point outside 
of the floodway just south of Rodeo Road. Overhead clearances require the top of bridge 
deck to be 10’ above existing pedestrian path. This necessitates a set of risers on either 
side, as well as ramps to meet ADA requirements. The orientation of the bridge creates 
the most direct relationship with Lilac Park. With the bridge positioned slightly left of the 
midpoint between the cul de sacs, creek access opportunities open up on the East side of 
the proposed bridge. Rustic farmers beamstone is arranged to form terraces with varied 
widths- providing interesting relationships to the creek. Room for benches and picnic tables 
is reserved at the top terrace for views of the creek’s edge. Beamstone terracing is used at 
two additional points along the North side of Plateau Creek to improve the existing access 
condition and experience.

CLIENT
Town of Collbran 
Elyse Ackerman-Casselberry, Director 

of Planning & Economic Development
970.874.2105
ecasselberry@deltacounty.com

PROJECT TEAM 
DHM Design
SGM Engineering

PROJECT DATA
Community Park
Festival Street
Creek Access
Trail Connectivity

SERVICES
Conceptual Design
Materials Selection
Floodway Studies
Landscape Architecture
Civil Engineering

STATUS
In Progress

COLLBRAN LILAC PARK 
IMPROVEMENTS
Collbran, Colorado

DHM is working with the Town of Collbran to develop park, creek access, 
and pedestrian bridge designs for this small, passive park adjacent to 
downtown. The park has been identified by the town as an important 
opportunity to create a community gathering space and to formalize 
and energize the area along the banks of Plateau Creek, which is already 
a destination for local families. The town has invested in infrastructure 
improvements, adding specialty paving and street lights; our team is 
assisting the town in evaluating impacts to the stream corridor, developing 
character studies to ensure the design fits the culture of Collbran, and 
evaluating connections to other community amenities. The goal of this work 
is to position the town to seek additional funding for implementation of 
a first phase of construction, including access to the creek, improved trail 
connections, and the pedestrian bridge.

DHM Design

113

8.



DHM Design | Page 23 

P R E C E D E N T  I M A G E R Y
COLLBRAN LILAC PARK

JANUARY 2019

R I V E R  A C C E S S 

L I L A C  P A R K  M A T E R I A L S  A M E N I T I E S

T R E A T E D - W O O D  E D G E  P A T H

B I S T R O  L I G H T I N G M E T A L  P I C N I C  T A B L EB A N D  S H E L L  A L T E R N A T I V E S  1  -  4

R E S T R O O M S R E S T R O O M S R E L O C A T E D  S I T E  B O U L D E R S R E D  S T A M P E D  C O N C R E T E C O M M U N I T Y  T A B L E  E V E N T

T E M P O R A R Y  B A N D  S H E L L  1  -  3 C R E E K - S I D E  P A R K  C H A R A C T E R G A R D E N  P A R K  C H A R A C T E R

S T A B I L I Z E D  B A N K  A C C E S S  1  -  3

M A T E R I A L S  A N D  C H A R A C T E R :  P R E C E D E N T  I M A G E R Y
COLLBRAN LILAC PARK

JANUARY 2019

N O N - C O N F O R M I N G  B R I D G E  T Y P E S

114

8.



Page 24  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

Project Understanding, Scope and Fees
F. Specific Approach

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING
The vision for the Paonia Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan 
is one of inclusion, quality of life, and community. As a small town, 
Paonia enjoys many attributes that make it a desirable place 
to live, with abundant and high quality public lands recreation 
opportunities in every direction, a robust agriculture economy 
and a genuine mountain town culture that brings together 
an incredible diversity of people and their unique viewpoints. 
More and more, it is also an attractive place to visit, with modern 
communications infrastructure and town initiatives designed to 
improve the quality of life and sense of community that is uniquely 
Paonia. It is also challenged by an economy that has been forced to 
rapidly transition from fossil fuel extraction and growth projections 
along the Western Slope that require careful planning to ensure 
that the culture, values, priorities, and landscape that makes Paonia 
so special are preserved and enhanced. As a small town, balancing 
community needs and desires with the realities of municipal 
capacity are at the forefront of any planning effort.

DHM understands that, in close-knit communities such as Paonia, 
citizens need to be involved. Not just informed, but instrumental 
to the process and the shaping of the future of their town. The 
community itself will be fundamental in the creation of the plan. 
Our ability to facilitate public outreach, especially in mountain 
communities, will bring a high level of constructive engagement 
to this project. Success hinges on communication, inclusion, and 
transparency. A comprehensive community involvement process 
will be designed and defined at the outset of the project to make 
sure that the participation will be demographically representative 
of the community as a whole. We will utilize a variety of tools 
and techniques to provide a broad base of formats for outreach, 
input and feedback to capture opinions from those who are able 
to attend in person as well as those who are not. With numerous 
user groups and significant known needs for parks and recreation 
infrastructure, it will be important to craft an inclusive outreach 
plan that invites participation from a wide range of citizens with 
a broad set of values. Coordination with the town staff, project 
stakeholders, and decision makers will be integrated every step 
of the way to make sure that the outreach strategy is on track.

We recognize that the ongoing Town Master Plan project will 
supply this project process with a significant jump-start in 
information collection and community feedback. We will work 
with town staff to collect and integrate relevant information from 
that process, careful to build from that process and not ask the 
community to return to ‘step one’ in providing their feedback. We 
also understand that this means that many community members 
will have invested significant time in the participation in the Town 
Master Plan process; we are conscious of ‘participation fatigue’ 
and have dealt with concurrent and consecutive planning 
process numerous times. Our approach is sensitive to the 
request for community member’s time without short-changing 
opportunities for genuine engagement and feedback.

We believe small communities should have large visions; we 
also understand the level of capacity building required to 
achieve them. With finite resources, small staffs, and stretched 
budgets, it becomes critical for the master plan to build 
in mechanisms for achievement through mobilization of 
community groups, partnerships, and outside funding. There is 
no shortage of user groups and stakeholders who can engage 
and inform this process and outcomes; the key will be to 
leverage their energy in ways that are efficient, productive, and 
respectful of their personal time. Having recently completed 
the Recreation and Trails Master Plan for Delta County, we come 
to the table with existing contacts, a strong understanding of 
the conditions on the ground, and many of the key issues and 
priorities in the North Fork Valley. 

We know that although the town is the client and primary 
driver of the project, there are important partners in the 
process who’s status as a stakeholder extends beyond vested 
interest in the use of the parks and trails system. The Western 
Slope Conservation Center, with a mission of lands and water 
conservation and education, is a direct stakeholder in the 
Paonia River Park and responsible for the recent access and 
trails improvements at that park. The WSCC, as a Paonia-local 
entity, is also a strong community advocate and stakeholder. 
Additionally, the North Fork Recreation District’s oversight of 
Volunteer Park brings them to the table as a direct stakeholder 
above and beyond their county-wide role in providing 
recreation programming and facilities throughout southeast 
Delta County.

Existing Park Conditions

115

8.



DHM Design | Page 25 

Existing Park Conditions

Similarly, although they do not manage park lands within 
Paonia, we see value in direct engagement with The Nature 
Connection for information, research/surveys for past grants, 
community outreach, and a big-picture look at outdoor 
programming in the area. Certainly this is not a comprehensive 
list of stakeholders who should be contacted directly (we 
recognize the user groups noted in the RFP, and groups such as 
Women on the Move are critical contacts); our kick-off activities 
will include working with staff to compile a list of groups and 
individuals for direct outreach throughout the project process.

We understand that the project is not envisioned to result in a 
massive planning and policy document with comprehensive 
evaluation of demographics, land management practices, and 
development code recommendations. Rather, this plan will 
best serve Paonia by recording and summarizing a genuine 
and thorough outreach process, analyzing gaps in amenities 
and infrastructure, establishing proposed improvements, and 
organizing order-of-magnitude costs and project priorities. 

We understand that the community will likely have a significant 
wish list for improvements to parks, trail connections, and 
recreation opportunities. Along with engaging communities 
to identify priorities, we routinely support government and 
non-profit entities in understanding how their goals can be met 
through grant funding and partnerships. We employ a variety 
of tools and direct, recent experience to identify ‘fundable’ 
projects in concert with a prioritized list of grant opportunities, 
searching hundreds of local, state, and national grants.

We recognize that a number of groups in the area have 
extensive experience in successfully seeking grant funding; we 
work to tap into that knowledge and add a layer of additional 
research and evaluation to identify resources that may not 
yet be known. Additionally, the inclusion of detailed outreach 
summary information in our planning documentation serves 
to support the efficient and effective identification, application 
and achievement of grant funding.

We know that the integrity of the natural environment is 
foundational to the identity and quality of the town, and that 
a number of the parks and properties identified for inclusion in 
the master plan have significant and valuable natural resource 
qualities. Our team of in-house landscape architects/planners 
and natural resource specialists apply a deep understanding of 
natural systems in all of our projects, working hand-in-hand to 
develop planning and implementation recommendations that 
are grounded in ‘place’ and sensitive to the potential impacts of 
development and use pressures. 

We also know that the cultural heritage of Paonia is, similarly, 
foundational to the identity and quality of the town. We 
understand and respect the history of mining, ranching, 
farming, and recreation that has made Paonia what it is today. 
DHM has a long history of working in some of the nation’s 
most treasured cultural landmarks, supporting the National 
Parks Service, United States Forest Service, and Bureau of Land 
Management in the preservation and restoration of these 
places; this ethic is ingrained in our company culture and we 
are proud of our ongoing service to these agencies. 

The excitement around this project will tie directly into the 
momentum of the ongoing Town Master Plan effort. We 
understand that the deliverable for this process will be informed 
by, and will need to dovetail with, the Town Master Plan. To that 
end, we recognize that we need to coordinate with the Master 
Plan effort to take advantage of efficiencies in data collection 
and communication without diverting attention from the 
specific topic at hand, or creating meeting fatigue. Our public 
process can coordinate and engage people through creative 
outreach methods such as social gatherings, popup events at 
parks, and other methods to capture attention and ideas. 

A comprehensive Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan will 
benefit the town on numerous levels to provide connectivity, 
access, safety, quality of life, prioritization of improvements, and 
– most important of all - the steps to implement your vision.116

8.



Page 26  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

PROJECT APPROACH
We begin by assessing the existing recreation assets, including 
parks, publicly accessible recreation facilities, trails and potential 
trail corridor resources. We determine the needs and aspirations 
of the people in the community who would use the recreation 
systems and surrounding amenities. We learn about the values 
and concerns of stakeholders, neighbors, and the general public.

This is accomplished by gathering and assembling background 
data, visiting the park and trail corridor sites, and interviewing 
stakeholders to understand the existing conditions. Nothing 
will provide better background information for this master plan 
like actually getting out there, spending time in Paonia, and 
meeting with individuals who know the area intimately. We also 
review the existing community data provided by the North Fork 
Heart and Soul outreach process, the Creative Coalition’s asset 
mapping work, the current Master Plan process, the Highway 
133 Corridor Master Plan, the Delta County Recreation and Trails 
Master Plan, and other documents as identified during the kick-
off process or through our community outreach. 

We see the community process as critical. It is vital to identify 
and engage all of the potential partners, constituencies, 
stakeholders, and impacted parties, and then follow up with 
genuine understanding and response to feedback. This includes 
meeting with key town staff, user groups, stakeholders, and 
the general public. The GOCO grant application provides 
an excellent start in identifying key project advocates and 
stakeholders, and user groups who host outdoor recreation 
programming and annual events. We also recognize that Paonia 
enjoys direct access to public lands, which are used for many 
types of recreation in all seasons. We will work with the WSCC 
to reach out to key agencies such as the Colorado Division of 
Wildlife, BLM and the USFS to ensure that State and Federal land 
management activities are understood when considering local 
access to public lands.

To be successful, this plan will need broad based active support 
and participation. The planning process must identify all key 
supporters and stakeholders, including those who may be 
adversely impacted or perceive they will be adversely impacted. 
Our approach will identify those groups and lands and include 
them in our database by issue and physical location. DHM 
Design has a strong history of working with diverse interests 
and we recognize the unique concerns of user groups, adjacent 
land owners, and land managers.

We will seek to work with the community to build consensus and 
address specific concerns. This will require on-going interaction 
with stakeholders. Based on our experience, our public process 
approach suggests creating a steering committee of selected 
individuals who are key decision makers, advocates, or local 
experts who help guide the process and provide a conduit to 
community input and communication. This group may include 
key officials, project stakeholders, citizens, property and business 
owners, users and others with a stake in the project.

We suggest this group meets on a regular basis at key project 
junctures to review our work and input their ideas, concerns 
and aspirations. This process would also be complemented by a 
series of public “open houses” and web site reports at key points 
in the process.

We have used this approach very successfully on a number of 
projects. Key project junctures in such a process typically include: 

• During the kick-off and data gathering phase
• After the field inventory is complete
• When initial concepts and draft layouts are prepared
• In preparation for, and debrief of, public open houses
• To review the draft plan and just prior to final plan adoption

We will work with you to refine our approach to best suit the 
needs of the Town of Paonia, and to be realistic about the 
request for community members’ time. We are happy to explore 
options and alternatives to the steering committee format 
depending on your preferences. 

Public Outreach Open House Event for Red Hill Trails

117

8.



DHM Design | Page 27 

Fundamentally, we work to design a process that identifies 
early, and begins to pose possible answers to, the questions:

• What are the gaps in providing recreation opportunities for 
all user types?

• Where are there gaps in trail connectivity, access, or use type?
• Where are there assets that are overused or underserved 

by infrastructure?
• Are there user conflicts that need to be addressed?
• What improvements should be built, and in what order?
• Where are improvements most likely to provide the greatest 

value for the largest number of people?
• What are the barriers to identifying and solving recreation 

and connectivity gaps?
• What will the capital investments cost, and how will they 

be funded?
• What community topics or politics may influence the 

process or the outcome?

Our approach includes integrating consideration of costs, 
funding, community participation, long-term maintenance 
requirements, and impacts to resources. The plan should 
include the notion of sustainable, low maintenance 
infrastructure as well as recreational values.

Create a First-Rate Recreation System Legacy

Though it will be used and enjoyed by local residents, the 
recreation system will also serve the growing number of visitors 
to Paonia and east Delta County. The town assets also need to 
be considered in the larger context of the growing recreation 
economy in greater Delta County, potentially connected 
physically, and certainly connected in spirit, to more regional 
recreation amenities and infrastructure. The recommended 
recreation improvements and amenities should have quality, 
durability, and yet affordable fit and finish; this plan will seek to 
create a cohesive identity for the whole-town network. These 
need not be extravagant and can be built over time, but they 
should be identified in the Master Plan. The improvements 
should offer a variety of user modalities and experiences, as well 
as access to a broad base of physical abilities. The plan must 
also assure the amenities and other public spaces are a good 
neighbor to adjacent properties.

Produce a Workable Tool That Will Lead to Implementation

The product itself must be clear, concise, exciting, provocative, 
visionary and practical. We propose to deliver a carefully 
structured plan, with a clear mission statement. This will 
be followed by guiding principles, mapping and existing 
conditions evaluations, project priorities and approximate 
costs, implementation timeline, and a thorough summary 
of community engagement to substantiate the process and 
outcomes. The overarching intent of the document will be to 
support immediate action in the pursuit of the goals and priories 
that the community has selected; the plan must be actionable to 
be successful. Additionally, the format and contents of the plan 
will be developed to identify and prioritize pursuit of outside 
funding; a study and report of likely funding opportunities is a 
standard element of our master planning work.

The project process and final plan will be accessible through 
a project-specific web site developed and hosted by DHM. 
Information updates and master plan progress reports and drafts 
will also be made available digitally on the project website. We also 
routinely leverage social media, and have observed that you use 
the municipal Facebook account to share information and meeting 
recordings. These are valuable tools that we will integrate into this 
planning process. The ultimate key to realizing the plan’s vision 
is to have a great plan that is easy to use, as well as champions 
across the county; transparent communication and easy access are 
important parts of the community engagement process.

Management of a team requires good planning in order to have 
the required resources available to propose on and perform 
work. DHM is working on a variety of projects in various stages 
of planning and design. We have successfully completed similar 
projects throughout the western US, while staying within the 
scheduling and budgeting parameters set for our team. We will 
coordinate and adapt the proposed schedule to set realistic 
deadlines and allow you to track the progress of the project as it 
advances through to completion.

If awarded the contract, the DHM team would meet with 
you to review a more detailed schedule where we can set up 
meeting times with the various groups and stakeholders. As a 
component of our administrative tasks for this project and in 
conjunction with our scheduling efforts, our team will prepare 
materials and agendas for meetings and meeting minutes. 
We will provide staff with look ahead schedules and schedule 
updates so that all parties are sufficiently informed about 
project progress and upcoming tasks. 

We have prepared a detailed execution plan outlining how 
we envision completing this project based on the information 
provided in the RFQ. We feel that this project as currently scoped 
will take approximately 6 months to complete; assuming a late-
February or early-March kick-off this is in keeping with the target 
completion date of August 31st. We have provided an estimated 
time durations for each task of our project approach.

DHM leading a tour at Basalt River
118

8.



Page 28  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

SCOPE OF SERVICES
Task 1 - Project Kick-Off (Week 1)

This Task correlates directly with item 1, “Background Research 
and Project Kick-off,” of the RFP. DHM will launch the project 
with a kick off meeting with the Town Administrator and core 
stakeholders as invited by the Town (we assume that would 
include the WSCC). During this meeting, we will review the 
project scope, proposed community engagement process, 
discuss opportunities to integrate public outreach with other 
community events, review/refine project schedule (including 
proposed public meeting schedule) and proposed deliverables. 
We will review data to be collected during the analysis, finalize 
the steering committee and stakeholder lists, schedule the site 
tours, collect contact information for direct outreach activities, 
and discuss priorities along with any new considerations. DHM 
will develop a proposed schedule of open houses and public 
meetings that will take into consideration the current schedule 
for public process of the Town Master Plan process and will 
work to complement, not conflict, with that schedule. 

Deliverables:
• Preparation of meeting agenda and preliminary schedule
• Preparation of steering committee and stakeholder contacts
• Preparation of initial mapping resources

Task 2 - Project Due-Diligence/ Inventory and Analysis 
Phase (Week 1-3)

This Task correlates directly with item 2, “Base Plan,” of the RFP. 
During this time, we will assemble base maps, aerials, surveys, 
and compile data provided by the County. Our team will 
complete an initial site assessment, contextual analysis and 
develop basemaps and necessary site diagrams for the kickoff 
meeting to help facilitate productive discussions.

This phase involves a detailed review of existing recreation 
resources in Paonia. DHM will inventory, collect and compile 
data on all existing trails, parks, recreation areas and 
infrastructure located throughout town. The data collected 
will be used to create a profile and GIS base map that will be 
utilized for analysis of current recreation assets and to identify 
future recreation infrastructure opportunities and constraints; 
these products will also be formatted for use in the public 
process. Also during this time, DHM staff will conduct on-site 
tours with the steering committee to assess the condition 
of existing recreation infrastructure and facilities. During the 
on-site visits, additional photographic and GPS data will be 
collected for locations of various resources and amenities. Once 
the initial inventory and analysis phase is completed, DHM, 
with the assistance of the steering committee, will identify key 
locations and areas to review and discuss with the community 
(including the inventory of assets as provided in the RFP). 

Additionally, we will interview staff to understand the town’s 
resources related to funding and maintenance, discuss 
integration of this Master Plan to the new Town Master 
Plan currently in progress (presumably with the PRTMP as a 
companion document included in the Town Master Plan by 
reference), learn about any recent improvements or known 
priority issues, and summarize the municipal structure that 
supports the parks, recreation, and trails asset of Paonia. This 
information will be included in the front-end of the Master Plan 
document and will inform our recommendations for phasing, 
funding, and timing in the 5-year capital improvements plan. 
Based on the methodology for integrating the Parks, Recreation, 
and Trails Plan into the Town Master Plan, we will develop a 
draft table of contents and outline for the end product. We will 
begin to populate the draft with background documentation 
and information, and set up the public outreach summary 
section for use in Task 3. 

• Collected base maps, aerials, surveys and any additional 
information provided by the County

• Site assessment report with contextual analysis
• Draft Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan table of 

contents and document format

Post Construction Wetlands Monitoring
119

8.



DHM Design | Page 29 

Task 3 - Community Outreach 1: Stakeholder Group Meeting 
Series #1 and Community Open House #1 (Weeks 4-6) 

DHM will then lead a series of community meetings to gather 
additional public feedback. At this initial Community Open 
House, we will present the guiding principles, existing trail 
inventory and maps, and have an open dialogue for both 
quantitative and qualitative feedback. The most important 
goal with these meetings is to ensure everyone has had an 
opportunity to speak, and that they know we have heard what 
they said. We do this by reiterating the goals and main issues 
we heard during the kick-off and analysis process, creating 
another opportunity to refine and prioritize those issues before 
they are represented in the draft recommendations. We will use 
a number of methods, including inviting the public to interact 
with the maps by adding notes/post-its, a questionnaire that 
can also be used as a web survey, written comments, and our 
own notes of individual conversations. 

Additionally, the proposed timing of the first round of outreach 
is well-suited to identifying ways of engaging with the public 
and specific user groups in fun and engaging ways. For 
example, we could set up an outdoor ‘lab’ on the playground of 
the elementary school, using chalk to map out the parks and 
recreation resources in the town, taking the students on a ‘tour,’ 
and inviting them to draw ideas with us; the end result could be 
captured by drone, with the feedback compiled and added to 
the outreach summary.

During this phase of the work, we will also reach out directly 
to the identified stakeholders to understand the issues, vision, 
and priorities of the groups they represent. We will schedule 
one day for in-person stakeholder meetings, and will use phone 
interviews to capture groups who cannot participate. For 
key user groups, we will facilitate charrettes to flesh out their 
specific use needs of the recreation system and to directly seek 
their ideas for where and how the system could be improved. 

For this first phase of outreach we have allocated time to hold one 
public open house, one day of ‘novel’ community engagement 
activities, and one day of in-person stakeholder meetings. 

DHM will work with staff to facilitate communication of pertinent 
plan information including schedule of public meetings and will 
utilize other public outreach methods to gather input including: 
a project-specific web site, town web site, existing social media 
accounts, KVNF, and the Delta County Register as deemed 
appropriate and effective in coordination with staff.

Deliverables:
• Maps and imagery in support of outreach efforts
• Survey (written and portable to web) to collect community 

feedback

Task 4 - Community Outreach #1 Findings (Week 7) 

Following the completion of the first round of public process, our 
team will summarize and analyze the information that we have 
gathered, identifying trends, priorities, and issues. We will meet 
with staff and the steering committee to review our findings and 
refine the approach to the draft Master Plan document. We have 
included time during this phase to also meet with the Paonia 
Town Board in a work session format to present the status of the 
project prior to writing the first draft. During this phase we will 
also update the project web page and social media platforms.

Deliverables:
• Community Outreach Summary report

Basalt River Park

120

8.



Page 30  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

Task 5 – Draft Preliminary Master Plan ( Weeks 6-12)

This Task correlates directly with scope item 3, ‘Schematic 
Design Phase,” identified in the RFP. We will begin the Master 
Plan draft phase by building off of what we learned during Tasks 
1-4. The Master Plan Draft will address the following: 

• Vision for the comprehensive recreation system as directed 
by the public process

• Summary of the community drivers for the plan (eg, historic 
and cultural connections to ‘place,’ community resources, 
evolution of the local economy, key user groups, relationship to 
ongoing community initiatives (such as Paonia Creative District)

• Clear Inventory and analysis of existing recreation assets
• Establishment of draft priorities for future improvements
• Understanding of the diversity of the community and 

providing a variety of recreation amenities
• Understanding of recreation in Paonia in connection to 

county-wide assets and public lands
• Draft mapping of proposed improvements
• Understanding of order of magnitude costs for priority projects 
• Understanding of funding mechanisms and partnerships, 

including summary report of outside funding opportunities 

We assume that a number of broader planning drivers, such as 
economic development, demographics, employment, etc, are being 
evaluated by the Town Master Plan process, and will be referenced 
by the Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan document.

We will share the draft documents initially with staff and the 
steering committee; timing of broader distribution of the draft 
will be determined in coordination with the Town Administrator. 
After staff and the steering committee have reviewed and 
provided feedback on the plan we have included time to 
present to the Town Board. This process will inform the format, 
content and goals of the second public outreach process. Note: 
There are advantages and disadvantages to presenting the 
draft plan in a public forum prior to implementing the second 
round of community outreach. We welcome the conversation 
about the appropriate timing/sequencing of the Town Board 
presentation relative to Community Outreach Series 2.

Deliverables:
• Preliminary Draft Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan

Task 6 - Community Outreach: Stakeholder Group Meeting 
Series #2 and Community Open House #2 (Week 12-17)

Following the review of the draft plan we will prepare an 
agenda and content for the second public outreach process. 
We will also finalize the schedule for any stakeholder meetings 
as required. We will present the draft master plan to the 
stakeholder groups individually where necessary, and to the 
public in an open house format that is specifically designed 
and targeted to solicit input on the mission, assumptions and 
priorities defined in the draft plan. At this time, we will also 
be actively updating the community website and other social 
media tools. We will finalize the methods for such activities with 
the steering committee and staff allowing for the community 
to drive the process on two levels – steering committee driving 
the format and the public with many ways to provide input. We 
have allocated six weeks for this Task, to allow time to hold the 
meetings (first two weeks), and for the community to provide 
feedback (third through sixth week)

We have assumed a full day of in-person stakeholder meetings, 
phone/web meetings as may best suit individual groups, and 
one open house event. 

• Maps and imagery in support of outreach efforts
• Survey (written and portable to web) to test plan 

assumptions

Task 7 – Community Outreach #2 Findings (Week18)

This task is similar to task 4. Following the completion of the 
second round of public process, our team will summarize and 
analyze the information that we have gathered, identifying trends, 
priorities, and issues. We will meet with staff and the steering 
committee to review our findings and refine the approach to the 
draft Master Plan document. During this phase we will also update 
the project web page and social media platforms. 

Deliverables:
• Community Outreach Summary report

Blue River Trail

121

8.



DHM Design | Page 31 

Task 8 - Final Master Plan Draft (Week 19-23)

This Task correlates directly to items 4 and 5, “Design 
Development” and “Deliverables,” of the RFP. At this phase of the 
project we expect that the overall vision, priorities, and content 
of the plan will be firmly in place, and outstanding issues to be 
resolved will be well understood. We will synthesize the results 
of the second public outreach process into the draft Master 
Plan, refining it to a “final plan draft”. This draft will be used to 
confirm that we have appropriately refined the document to 
meet the expectations of the town and the public. 

As with the initial draft, we will share the plan with town staff, the 
steering committee, the stakeholders, and the public. At this phase, 
we propose direct meetings with staff and stakeholders after they 
have had time to review the document; the public will be invited 
to download a pdf of the document and provide their feedback via 
the project web site. We have allocated a full month for this review 
process to provide ample time for the community to digest and 
respond to the final draft. This draft will be accompanied by a cover 
memo describing the refinements to the plan and identifying any 
known outstanding items or unresolved issues brought to light 
during Community Outreach 2. Following review and comment 
on this draft by staff, stakeholders, and the Town Board, and 
direction on outstanding items, we will advance to the final Parks, 
Recreation, and Trails Master Plan. 

Deliverables:
• Final Draft Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan
• Summary of substantive changes and outstanding items
• Collateral as necessary for stakeholder and Town Board 

meetings/presentations

Task 9 – Plan Adoption (Week 24)

Our team will refine the Master Plan for adoption by 
the Paonia Town Board. Our team will present the Parks, 
Recreation, and Trails Master Plan to the Town Board during a 
public hearing for adoption.

Following adoption of the plan, DHM will submit two hard 
copies and one pdf of the adopted plan, the digital GIS layers/
maps used during the process, and, if requested by the town, 
the digital ‘parent’ files used in development of the document 
(eg, InDesign files of the Master Plan). At the time of the final 
deliverables, the project web site will be closed unless the town 
requests that it remain available.

Deliverables:
• Final, adopted Paonia Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan

Red Hill Trails Concept Plan
122

8.



Page 32  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

April

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

Task 3 - Community Outreach 1: 
Stakeholder Group Meeting

Series #1 and Community Open House #1

Task 4 - Community 
Outreach #1 Findings

Task 5 – Draft Preliminary 
Master Plan

May

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Task 6 - Community Outreach: 
Stakeholder Group Meeting

Series #2 and Community Open House #2

June

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

March

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Task 1 - Project 
Kick-Off

Task 2 - Project Due-Diligence/ 
Inventory and Analysis Phase

Task 7 – Community 
Outreach #2 Findings

July

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Task 9 – Plan AdoptionTask 8 - Final Master 
Plan Draft

August

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

PRELIMINARY PROJECT SCHEDULE

If awarded the contract, the DHM team would meet with the Town to review a more detailed schedule where we can schedule 
meeting times with the various agencies and stakeholders. As a component of our administrative tasks for this project and in 
conjunction with our scheduling efforts, our team will prepare materials and agendas for meetings and meeting minutes. 

123

8.



DHM Design | Page 33 

Quality Control | Quality Assurance

G. Quality Control

PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY CONTROL
The distance between a project’s beginning and end is never a 
straight line. It takes planning, communication, foresight, flexibility, 
fortitude, and even a little courage to transform ideas into reality. 
These are skills our Project Managers have strengthened over 
decades of work with clients across the country. Our philosophy 
centers around key areas of expertise to manage large teams 
of consulting engineers, architects and specialists to provide 
packaged deliverables that meet client expectations.

Communication: The efficient flow of information has the 
biggest impact on a project’s success. That means listening to 
the client, delivering information to and from the consultant 
team, and notifying each other as soon as issues arise so they 
don’t become problems. 

Team Organization: DHM has managed interdisciplinary teams for 
decades. We work with specialized partners to assure project files 
and reporting are maintained, monitor progress and take action 
when team performance deviates from the established plan, 
assures compliance with contractual agreements and monitors 
product quality, design and technology for consistent deliverables.

Technical Quality: DHM implements Quality Control/Quality 
Assurance (QA/QC) measures on each project. The type and 
complexity of the projects that DHM works on can vary and 
although we have a framework for executing a QA/QC process 
we feel that the actual QA/QC process must be tailored to each 
project. In general, DHM’s QA/QC process involves a 3-tiered 
review prior to any required deliverable leaving our office. This 
3-tiered process involves the Project Manager, the Principal-in-
Charge of the project and finally a review by a DHM Principal 
that is not involved in the project.

Each agency has their set of standards for packaged deliverables, but all turn on the team’s completeness, accuracy and clarity 
to translate ideas into construction. From master plan reports to construction drawings, conceptual through schematic and 
design development, we maintain professional levels of quality. Through decades of work with the NPS Denver Service Center, we 
understand and value each step of the workflow process. Our familiarity with each phase of the workflow helps guide large teams 
toward standardized deliverables that match each PMIS scope and budget.

Our project management starts with an understanding of the client’s organization, goals, and people. We manage the schedule from 
the very first meeting, aligning project milestones with key dates to make sure the right people are together for the right discussions. 
Our cost control process includes check-ins with internal Principals and external Project Managers to give the best value and remain 
consistent with expectations. Clear project reporting from each discipline is managed carefully to keep decision-makers informed 
throughout the life of the project.

Site Details Action
Items to be checked for consistency and accuracy

Details are shown for all site elements and grouped appropriately.
Road/ pavement markings
Walks, scoring patterns, transitions, adequte layout
Walls, adequate layout data, elevations, sections (cross check elevations with grading plan)
Curbs, curb cuts, curb tapers, wheel stop
Stairs
Signs, signposts
Planting
Drainage structures, riprap, headwalls, end sections
Site furnishings
Structures
Fencing, barriers,Site lighting, fixtures, lighting levels
Flagpole
Dumpster pad
Road sections
Mechanical equipment
Electrical equipment
Civil details
Detail callouts match plans 

Specifications Action
Items to be checked for consistency and accuracy

Read the specifications !
If quantities provided, double check #'s, have someone else check
Make sure all bid items/ work is shown in the bid form.

Part 1 General
Review scope of work for completeness
Verify related spec. sections
Verify submittals/ samples that you need
Make sure as-builts are listed if needed (irrigation, elect., features, etc.)
Verify maintenance period
Verify warranty period and when it starts

Part  2 Products
Check that all products match plans and details (mulches, edger, seed, etc.)
Coord. With notes on plan and details to make sure matches
Amount of soil amendments

Part  3 Execution

Part  4 Measurement and Payment (if used)

Check file name conventions
Check drawing layer conventions

Checked for:______________________________________

Checked by:______________________________________

Date:___________________________________________

stamp   

Irrigation Plan Review Action
Items to be checked for consistency and accuracy

Check all spelling
VERIFY POWER SOURCE FOR CONTROLLER
VERIFY A METER AND TAP HAS BEEN PROVIDED, check civil plan, they forget!
Has plan been approved by Denver Water or other municipality?
Sleeving shown?
Verify pipe sizes and valve sizes shown.
Are all landscape areas covered by irrigation

Layout/ Materials Plan Review Action
Items to be checked for consistency and accuracy

Add material callouts to layout plan if legible, otherwise create separate plan
Detail callout should match detail name exactly (be consistent)
Verify typed out dimensions are correct
Be consistent with units (feet and inches vs. decimal ft., etc.)
Walks and parking have typical dimension
Coordinates provided for all critical points
Survey control referenced
Be consistent where dimensions are taken from (face of curb, face or center of wall)
Proposed utilities are shown
Verify maximum and minimum slopes
 5% maximum slopes for accessiblity (2% in parking areas)
Handrails provided if greater than 5%
3:1 maximum slopes in turf areas (4:1 is better)
All site amenities are accessible
Verify slope of swales 2 to 2.5% minimum
Verify all site furnishings shown
Verify references are made to other consultants (civil, arch, lighting, etc.)
Verify slope of swales 2 to 2.5% minimum

Grading Plan Review Action
Items to be checked for consistency and accuracy

Check all spelling
All existing contours shown and labeled, note contour interval
All proposed contours are labeled
Sufficient spot elevations are shown and are correct
Check that slope labels are correct
B.O.W. bottom of wall is finished grade, not bottom of footing? Be specific in legend
DOUBLE CHECK spot elevations in critical hardscape areas
Existing utilities are shown
Proposed utilities are shown
Verify maximum and minimum slopes
 5% maximum slopes for accessiblity (2% in parking areas)
Handrails provided if greater than 5%
3:1 maximum slopes in turf areas (4:1 is better)
All site amenities are accessible
Verify slope of swales 2 to 2.5% minimum
Survey control referenced
Verify that exact locations of any inlets/ pipes are shown/ coord. w/ civil plans
Does site balance? Identify if import or export required?

PLAN CHECKLIST
Date: Reviewed For:
Project Name Reviewed By:
Project Address

C = complete
Description NR = needs review
General Plan Review Action
Items to be checked for consistency and accuracy

Bar Scales/Text Scales
Make sure scale shown is correct
Window zoom factors
Lettering size and scale adequate for 1/2 size reproductions
North arrows shown correctly on all sheets/ same direction
Title block
Verify sheet numbers are correct
Matchlines/ match correct sheet numbers
Spelling Errors
Legend provided and includes symbols & abbreviations
Notes on plans are appropriate
Hatch patterns - legible
Hatch patterns in plan match the legend
Construction limit line consistent on all sheets
Check for consistent drawing conventions, use of color, tone
Avoid vague notes such as "see Arch. Sheets", be specific.
Avoid word "new"
Date and project number same on all sheets
"Blue Stake"/ call for utility locates note
Consistent  location of notes
Cover sheet with vicinity map
Cover sheet - index names match exact name of sheet and #'s
Cover sheet -client and consultant names

Planting Plan Review Action
Items to be checked for consistency and accuracy

Check all spelling
Plant quantities match number of symbols shown
If client/ City requires total counts, make sure correct-count twice!
If total counts not required, leave counting resposibility up to contractor.
Existing and proposed utilities are shown in background
Verify trees do not conflict with utilities/ easements
Verify trees do not conflict with landscape lighting
Verify trees do not conflict with irrigation mainline (Is there enough room?)
Shade trees should be 5'=6' away fron curbs and walks
Planting List and Detail sheet referenced
Verify there is sufficient room to maintain lawn areas between evergreen trees and edger.
(Think about room for large lawn mower!)
Mulch types called out
Turf and seed areas identified
Legend identifies symbols/ materials
Edger is labeled?, label along property lines if needed.
Perennial areas have wood mulch? 
Annual areas or planters needed?
Make sure positive drainage away from buildings, even if civil did plan.
Obtain copy of geotech soils report- re: distance irrigation should be from bldg.
Grading plan/ contours are coordinated with shrub beds?
Read landscape notes to make sure applicable, don't just copy from another project.

124

8.



Page 34  | Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan | Town of Paonia

Project Fees

H Bid Costs 

Task Description Labor ($)

Task 1 - Project Kickoff $3,680.00

Task 2 - Project Due-Diligence/Inventory and Analysis Phase $7,420.00

Task 3 - Community Outreach 1: Stakeholder Group Meeting
Series #1 and Community Open House #1

$14,900.00

Task 4 - Community Outreach #1 Findings $1,520.00

Task 5 - Draft Preliminary Master Plan $10,630.00

Task 6 - Community Outreach: Stakeholder Group Meeting
Series #2 and Community Open House #2

$8,460.00

Task 7 - Community Outreach #2 Findings $1,200.00

Task 8 - Final Master Plan Draft $10,420.00

Task 9 - Plan Adoption $5,770.00

Sub Total $64,000.00

Reimbursables $3,000.00

Total $67,000.00

125

8.



DHM Design | Page 35 

 
 

 

 

DENVER         CARBONDALE         DURANGO         BOZEMAN WWW.DHMDESIGN.COM 
 
311 Main Street, Suite 102  Carbondale, CO 81623   970.963.6520  

 
 

FEE STRUCTURE 
DHM Design Corporation 
Effective January 1, 2020 

 
Hourly Rates 

 
 Principal $195.00 

Principal Ecological $180.00 
 Associate Principal $150.00 

Senior Associate $135.00 
Associate  $125.00 
Natural Resource Coordinator $130.00 
Visualization/3D $130.00 
Senior Designer/Planner $110.00 
Associate Graphic Designer $105.00 
Designer $105.00 
Graphic Designer $90.00 
Ecological Technician $90.00 
Clerical/Word Processing $70.00 

  
Reimbursable Expenses 

  
 Xerox Copies $ 0.12 per copy 

Color Copies $ 1.50 per copy 
In-House Computer Plots 
     - Mylar $ 3.50 per square foot 

     - Vellum  $ 2.30 per square foot 
      - Bond  $ 0.45 per square foot 
Color Computer Plots  $ 2.80 per square foot 
Auto Mileage                                                                                   Mileage billed at the federal standard rate 

 
All outside reimbursable expenses such as printing, copying, postage and deliveries are billed at our 
direct costs. 
 
Bills are rendered and due payable monthly.  Terms:  Due and payable within 30 days upon receipt of 
statements.  1.5% per month interest charged on all past due accounts. 

 
Proposal price quotes shall remain in effect for a period of six months with renegotiation of hourly rates 
and reimbursable expenses at that time.  

 

126

8.



127

8.



DHM DESIGN
w w w . d h m d e s i g n . c o m 

128

8.



 

Parks, Recreation and Trails Master Plan Proposal

P.O. Box 958
Carbondale, CO 81623
Telephone: (970)948-7066
Email: richard.rcla@gmail.com

Submittal from:

Richard Camp Landscape Architecture, LLC

129

8.



�
7DEOH�RI�&RQWHQWV�

�

�

6HFWLRQ 3DJH�

�

7UDQVPLWWDO�/HWWHU�

7HFKQLFDO�3URSRVDO ��

$� ,QGHSHQGHQFH ��

%� /LFHQVH�WR�3UDFWLFH ��

&� )LUP�4XDOLILFDWLRQV�DQG�([SHULHQFH ��

'� 3DUWQHU�4XDOLILFDWLRQV�DQG�([SHULHQFH ��

(� 6LPLODU�(QJDJHPHQWV�ZLWK�2WKHU� ��
*RYHUQPHQW�(QWLWLHV�

)� 6FRSH�RI�6HUYLFHV ���

*� 6SHFLILF�$SSURDFK ���

+� %LG�&RVW ���

,� 0DQXDO�6LJQDWXUH ���

�
�

� �

�130

8.



�
-DQXDU\����������

�

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�2IILFHV�
$WWQ���&RULQQH�)HUJXVRQ�
3�2��%R[�����
3DRQLD��&2��������
�
5H��7UDQVPLWWDO�/HWWHU�
�
�
'HDU�0V��)HUJXVRQ��
�
,W�LV�XQGHUVWRRG�WKDW��LI�FRQWUDFWHG��5LFKDUG�&DPS�/DQGVFDSH�$UFKLWHFWXUH�ZLOO�JHQHUDWH�D�
PDVWHU�SODQ�WKDW�LQFOXGHV�DOO�RI�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD¶V�SDUNV��JDWKHULQJ�VSDFHV��UHFUHDWLRQDO�
IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�WUDLOV���5&/$¶V�WHDP�ZLOO�ILUVW�PHHW�ZLWK�NH\�VWDNHKROGHUV��UHYLHZ�GDWD�SURYLGHG�E\�
WKH�7RZQ��DQG�FRQGXFW�LQWHUYLHZV�DQG�PHHWLQJV�WR�JDWKHU�FRPPXQLW\�LQSXW�� �
�
$�VLWH�DQDO\VLV�ZLOO�EH�FRQGXFWHG�IRU�HDFK�WRZQ�SDUN�WKDW�ZLOO�GHWHUPLQH�DOO�SHUWLQHQW�GDWD�WKDW�
FRXOG�LQIOXHQFH�GHVLJQ�FRQVLGHUDWLRQV���7KLV�ZLOO�LQFOXGH�DQ�LQYHQWRU\�RI�H[LVWLQJ�DQG�SRWHQWLDO�
SDUN�DPHQLWLHV�VXFK�DV�UHFUHDWLRQDO�IDFLOLWLHV��SDWKZD\V��WUDLOV�DQG�VLJQLILFDQW�WUHHV���5&/$�ZLOO�
JLYH�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�IRU�WKHLU�HQKDQFHPHQW�DQG�LGHQWLI\�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�IRU�FRQQHFWLYLW\�EHWZHHQ�
DOO�RI�WKH�7RZQ¶V�DPHQLWLHV���2SSRUWXQLWLHV�IRU�FRPPXQLW\�JDWKHULQJ�VSDFHV�ZLOO�EH�GHILQHG�DQG�
KLVWRULF�DQG�FXOWXUDO�IHDWXUHV�ZLOO�EH�FRQVLGHUHG�WKDW�ZLOO�UHIOHFW�WKH�ORFDO�KHULWDJH��$OO�RI�WKLV�
FROOHFWHG�GDWD�ZLOO�EH�DQDO\VHG�DQG�GHSLFWHG�LQ�D�VFKHPDWLF�SODQ�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�WR�JHQHUDWH�
SXEOLF�LQSXW��&RQQHFWLRQV�WR�DPHQLWLHV�LQ�WKH�7RZQ¶V�WKUHH�PLOH�UDGLXV�ZLOO�DOVR�EH�UHYLHZHG��
�
7KH�VFKHPDWLF�SODQ�ZLOO�EH�UHILQHG�ZLWK�WKH�LQFRUSRUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�SXEOLF�LQSXW�LQWR�WZR�GLIIHUHQW�
SODQV��7KHVH�SODQV�ZLOO�EH�UHYLHZHG�E\�7RZQ�RIILFLDOV��VWDNHKROGHUV�DQG�RWKHU�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�
SXEOLF��7KHLU�JXLGDQFH�ZLOO�EH�LQWHJUDWHG�LQWR�WKH�ILQDO�PDVWHU�SODQ��
�
,I�FRQWUDFWHG�5&/$¶V�WHDP�ZLOO�FRQGXFW�SUHOLPLQDU\�ILHOG�ZRUN�DQG�PHHW�ZLWK�WKH�7RZQ�RI�
3DRQLD¶V�UHSUHVHQWDWLYHV�LQ�0DUFK�RI������ZLWK�D�SUHOLPLQDU\�UHSRUW�GXH�-XO\�����������5&/$�
ZLOO�VXEPLW�WKH�ILQDO�UHSRUW�E\�$XJXVW�����������

�131

8.



7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�7UDQVPLWWDO�/HWWHU�
)HEUXDU\���������
3DJH���
�
�
�
7KH�WHDP�WKDW�KDV�EHHQ�DVVHPEOHG�WR�FUHDWH�WKLV�PDVWHU�SODQ�LQFOXGHV�WZR�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFWV�
ZLWK�GLYHUVH�EDFNJURXQGV�DQG�GHFDGHV�RI�H[SHULHQFH��RQH�RI�ZKLFK�UHVLGHV�LQ�3DRQLD��WKH�RWKHU�
LQ�QHDUE\�&DUERQGDOH��D�ORFDO�*HRORJLVW�ZKR�KDV�LQWLPDWH�NQRZOHGJH�RI�WKH�DUHD¶V�VRLO��D�
JUDSKLF�GHVLJQHU�ZKR�LV�WKH�HGLWRU�RI�D�ORFDO�SXEOLFDWLRQ��DQG�D�ORFDO��HQYLURQPHQWDO�VFLHQWLVW�DQG�
ZLOGOLIH�ELRORJLVW��ZLWK�\HDUV�RI�H[SHULHQFH�LQ�QDWXUDO�UHVRXUFH�PDQDJHPHQW���KDELWDW�UHVWRUDWLRQ�
DQG�ELRORJLFDO�FRQVHUYDWLRQ��DQG�SURILFLHQW�DW�*HRJUDSKLF�,QIRUPDWLRQ�6\VWHP���*,6��PDSSLQJ�� �
7KHVH�ORFDO�SURIHVVLRQDOV�DUH�LQYHVWHG�LQ�WKH�7RZQ�DQG�ZLOO�EH�KHOG�DFFRXQWDEOH�IRU�WKH�ILQDO�
SURGXFW�E\�WKHLU�QHLJKERUV�� �
�
5LFKDUG�&DPS�KDV�EHHQ�SUDFWLFLQJ�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFWXUH�LQ�&RORUDGR�IRU�WKLUW\�\HDUV���+H�LV�WKH�
VROH�SURSULHWRU�DQG�HPSOR\HH�RI�5&/$���:KHQ�\RX�KDYH�D�PHHWLQJ�ZLWK�5LFKDUG��DOO�RI�\RXU�
LQSXW�ZLOO�EH�WUDQVODWHG�LQWR�WKH�ILQLVKHG�SURGXFW���,QVWHDG�RI�D�FRUSRUDWH�WHDP�OHDGHU�KDQGLQJ�WKH�
GHVLJQ�ZRUN�RYHU�WR�D�FRXSOH�RI�GUDIWVPHQ��IUHVK�RXW�RI�VFKRRO��\RX�ZLOO�EH�JHWWLQJ�WKLUW\�\HDUV�RI�
H[SHULHQFH�LQ�HYHU\�DVSHFW�RI�WKH�GHVLJQ��)LUPV�ZLWK�H[SHQVLYH�RIILFHV�DQG�WRS�KHDY\�VWDII�WHQG�
WR�KDYH�D�YHU\�ODUJH�RYHUKHDG��WKXV�QHHG�WR�FKDUJH�H[RUELWDQW�IHHV���:LWK�RXU�WHDP�\RX�ZLOO�EH�
JHWWLQJ�RQO\�WKH�WRS�WLHU�GHVLJQHUV�DW�WKH�PRVW�HFRQRPLFDO�SULFH��,W�LV�RXU�KRSH�WKDW�RXU�IHH�ZLOO�
OHDYH�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�ZLWK�D�EXGJHW�VXUSOXV�WKDW�FDQ�EH�XWLOL]HG�IRU�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�RI�
FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GRFXPHQWV�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�IRU�WKH�LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI�WKH�LQLWLDO�SKDVHV�RI�WKH�
PDVWHU�SODQ�� �
�
7KH�IROORZLQJ�LUUHYRFDEOH�SURSRVDO�HQFRPSDVVHV�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�RI�WKH�ILQDO�0DVWHU�3ODQ�IRU�WKH�
7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�DQG�LQFOXGHV�DOO�FRVWV�LQFXUUHG�E\�5&/$��:H�DSSUHFLDWH�WKH�RSSRUWXQLW\�WR�ZRUN�
ZLWK�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�DQG�DUH�H[FLWHG�DERXW�DOO�WKH�SRWHQWLDO�WKLV�SURMHFW�KDV�WR�HQKDQFH�WKH�
OLYHV�RI�WKH�FRPPXQLW\���
�
�
6LQFHUHO\��
�

�
5LFKDUG�&DPS�

� �

�132

8.



�

7HFKQLFDO�3URSRVDO�
�
7KH�IROORZLQJ�7HFKQLFDO�3URSRVDO�GHPRQVWUDWHV�WKH�FRPSHWHQFH��TXDOLILFDWLRQV�DQG�
FDSDFLW\�RI�WKH�5&/$�WHDP�WR�SHUIRUP�WKH�WDVNV�VHW�IRUWK�LQ�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD¶V�
5HTXHVW�IRU�3URSRVDO���
�
�
$� ,QGHSHQGHQFH�

5&/$�DQG�WKH�WHDP�WKDW�KDV�EHHQ�DVVHPEOHG�IRU�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�RI�WKH�3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�
7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�LV�LQ�QR�ZD\�DIILOLDWHG�ZLWK��DQG�FRPSOHWHO\�LQGHSHQGHQW�RI�WKH�7RZQ�RI�
3DRQLD���1R�PHPEHU�RI�WKH�WHDP�KDV�HYHU�EHHQ�HPSOR\HG�RU�FRQWUDFWHG�E\�WKH�7RZQ�RI�
3DRQLD�IRU�DQ\�UHDVRQ��7HDP�PHPEHU�-R�$QQ�-DUUHDX�KDV�YROXQWHHUHG�RU�FKDUJHG�PLQLPDO�
FRVWV�LQ�FRQVXOWLQJ�KHU�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFWXUDO�GHVLJQ�VHUYLFHV�WR�WKH�7RZQ��6KH�KDV�EHHQ�
RQ�WKH�3RXORV�3DUN�SODQQLQJ�FRPPLWWHH�IRU�WKH�VPDOO�SRFNHW�SDUN��ORFDWHG�DORQJ�*UDQG�
$YHQXH��IRU�D�IHZ�PRQWKV�DIWHU�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�UHFHLYHG�DQ�$$53�*UDQW��7KH�JUDQW�KDV�
EHHQ�IRU�LPSOHPHQWLQJ�VHQLRU�DPHQLWLHV�DQG�IRU�$'$�$FFHVVLELOLW\��+HU�ZRUN�ZDV�JLYHQ�WR�
WKH�7RZQ�RXW�RI�D�GHVLUH�WR�FRQWULEXWH�WR�WKH�EHWWHUPHQW�RI�WKH�FRPPXQLW\�DQG�GRHV�QRW�
FRQVWLWXWH�D�FRQIOLFW�RI�LQWHUHVW�� �
�
�

%� /LFHQVH�WR�3UDFWLFH�LQ�&RORUDGR�
5LFKDUG�&DPS�KDV�EHHQ�OLFHQVHG�LQ�WKH�6WDWH�RI�&RORUDGR�VLQFH�������WKH�ILUVW�\HDU�OLFHQVHV�
ZHUH�RIIHUHG�LQ�WKH�VWDWH��+LV�OLFHQVH�QXPEHU�LV�/$����������7KH�OLFHQVH�LV�FXUUHQWO\�DFWLYH�
DQG�H[SLUHV�'HFHPEHU�����������-R�$QQ�-DUUHDX�KDV�EHHQ�OLFHQVHG�LQ�WKH�6WDWH�RI�7H[DV�
VLQFH������DQG�KDV�SUDFWLFHG�/DQGVFDSH�$UFKLWHFWXUH�LQ�7H[DV��/RXLVLDQD��&DOLIRUQLD��DQG�
&RORUDGR���+HU�OLFHQVH�QXPEHU�LQ�7H[DV�LV�/$������

�
�
&��)LUP�4XDOLILFDWLRQV�DQG�([SHULHQFH�

7KH�5&/$�WHDP�LV�PDGH�XS�RI�ILYH�SURIHVVLRQDOV�ZLWK�D�YDULHW\�RI�VNLOOV�DQG�H[SHULHQFHV��
7KH�WHDP�ZLOO�EH�OHG�E\�&DUERQGDOH�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFW�5LFKDUG�&DPS�ZKR�ZLOO�EH�ZRUNLQJ�
LQ�FRQFHUW�ZLWK�ORFDO�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFW�DQG�/(('�$3��-R�$QQ�-DUUHDX���%DVH�SODQ�
LQIRUPDWLRQ�ZLOO�EH�SURYLGHG�E\�WKH�WHDP¶V�ORFDO�HQYLURQPHQWDO�VFLHQWLVW�DQG�*,6�VSHFLDOLVW�
$QGUHD�:DQJ����(GLWLQJ�DQG�OD\RXW�RI�WKH�ILQDO�PDVWHU�SODQ�ZLOO�EH�FRPSOHWHG�E\�0W��3DUHQW�
0DJD]LQH�(GLWRU��.DWKU\Q�&DPS���6SHFLDO�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�ZLOO�EH�JLYHQ�WR�WKH�JHRORJ\�DQG�
QDWXUDO�KLVWRU\�RI�HDFK�VLWH�E\�ORFDO�*HRORJLVW�'U��'DYLG�1RH��RI�&RORUDGR�'HWRXUV���1RQH�RI�
WKH�WHDP�PHPEHUV�KDYH�HYHU�KDG�DQ\�GLVFLSOLQDU\�DFWLRQV�WDNHQ�DJDLQVW�WKHP���
�
� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV�5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

133

8.



�
'� 3DUWQHU�4XDOLILFDWLRQV�DQG�([SHULHQFH�

7KH�IROORZLQJ�LV�D�UHYLHZ�RI�HDFK�WHDP�PHPEHU¶V�TXDOLILFDWLRQV��
�
5LFKDUG�&DPS��
,Q�WKLUW\�\HDUV�DV�D�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFW�LQ�&RORUDGR��5LFKDUG�KDV�EHHQ�LQWHJUDO�WR�D�ZLGH�
UDQJH�RI�SURMHFWV�WKDW�KDYH�VWUHQJWKHQHG�KLV�VNLOOV��YHUVDWLOLW\�DQG�YLVLRQ��7KHVH�LQFOXGH��
FRPPHUFLDO�DQG�LQVWLWXWLRQDO�ODQGVFDSH�GHVLJQ��SXEOLF�SDUN�GHVLJQ��ODQG�UHFODPDWLRQ��ZHWODQG�
UHKDELOLWDWLRQ��QHLJKERUKRRG�GHYHORSPHQW��HVWDWH�SODQQLQJ��DQG�UHVLGHQWLDO�ODQGVFDSH�
GHVLJQ��5LFKDUG�KDV�ZRUNHG�LQ�FRQMXQFWLRQ�ZLWK�)(0$��WKH�8�6��$UP\�&RUSV�RI�(QJLQHHUV��
&RORUDGR�'LYLVLRQ�RI�:LOGOLIH��DQG�KDV�VKHSKHUGHG�FRXQWOHVV�SURMHFWV�WKURXJK�WKH�PXQLFLSDO�
GHVLJQ�UHYLHZ�SURFHVV��5LFKDUG�VHUYHG�IRU�ILYH�\HDUV�RQ�WKH�7RZQ�RI�&DUERQGDOH¶V�3DUNV�
DQG�5HFUHDWLRQ�&RPPLVVLRQ��DQG�VHUYHG�RQ�WKH�7RZQ�RI�&DUERQGDOH¶V�3ODQQLQJ�DQG�=RQLQJ�
&RPPLVVLRQ�IRU�DQRWKHU�ILYH�\HDUV��+H�KDV�DOVR�VHUYHG�RQ�WKH�GHVLJQ�VWHHULQJ�FRPPLWWHH�RI�
&DUERQGDOH¶V�/(('�FHUWLILHG�&RPPXQLW\�&HQWHU���5LFKDUG�LV�OLFHQVHG�LQ�WKH�6WDWH�RI�
&RORUDGR��IXOO\�LQVXUHG��DQG�ZLOO�EULQJ�KLV�H[SHULHQFH�DQG�XQLTXH�SHUVSHFWLYH�WR�WKLV�H[FLWLQJ�
SURMHFW���$V�SULQFLSDO�RI�5&/$��KH�ZLOO�EH�VROHO\�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DOO�DVSHFWV�RI�WKLV�PDVWHU�
SODQ���:KLOH�WKLV�PD\�DSSHDU�DV�D�OLPLWDWLRQ�ZKHQ�FRPSDUHG�ZLWK�ILUPV�WKDW�HPSOR\�
QXPHURXV�DUFKLWHFWV��LQWHUQV��DQG�VXSSRUW�VWDII��KH�FKRVH�WKLV�EXVLQHVV�PRGHO�EHFDXVH�
SHUVRQDO�DWWHQWLRQ�PDNHV�EHWWHU�SURMHFWV���&RPPXQLFDWLRQ��GHWDLO��DQG�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�±�
QRWKLQJ�JHWV�ORVW�LQ�WKH�VKXIIOH���)RFXV��FUHDWLYLW\��DQG�FRPPLWPHQW����WKHVH�DUH�TXDOLWLHV�WKDW�
FDQQRW�EH�GHOHJDWHG�� �
�
3URIHVVLRQDO�([SHULHQFH��
�����WR�3UHVHQW��3ULQFLSDO�RI�5LFKDUG�&DPS�/DQGVFDSH�$UFKLWHFWXUH�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FOLHQW�UHODWLRQV��SODQQLQJ��FRQFHSWXDO�GHVLJQ�GHYHORSPHQW��FUHDWLRQ�RI�
FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GRFXPHQWV��FRQVWUXFWLRQ�REVHUYDWLRQ�DQG�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ���
�����WR��������*UHJ�0R]LDQ�DQG�$VVRFLDWHV��$VSHQ��&2�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV���FOLHQW�UHODWLRQV��FRQFHSWXDO�GHVLJQ�GHYHORSPHQW��FUHDWLRQ�RI�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�
GRFXPHQWV��FRQVWUXFWLRQ�REVHUYDWLRQ�DQG�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ��ODQGVFDSH�LQVWDOODWLRQ���
�����WR��������:DUUHQ�0F&RUPLFN�DQG�$VVRFLDWHV��3DOP�%HDFK��)/�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FUHDWLRQ�RI�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GRFXPHQWV��

�
(GXFDWLRQ��
%DFKHORU�RI�/DQGVFDSH�$UFKLWHFWXUH�������
8QLYHUVLW\�RI�)ORULGD��&ROOHJH�RI�$UFKLWHFWXUH��*DLQHVYLOOH��)/�
�����WR�������$WODQWD�&ROOHJH�RI�$UW��$WODQWD��*$�
�
� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

134

8.



-R�$QQ�-DUUHDX�
'XULQJ�KHU�FDUHHU�IRU�RYHU�WKLUW\�\HDUV��-R�$QQ�KDV�ZRUNHG�RQ�SURMHFWV�UDQJLQJ�LQ�VL]H�IURP�
KRPHV�WR�PXOWL�PLOOLRQ�GROODU�SXEOLF�SDUN�V\VWHPV���+HU�ZRUN�RIIHUV�DQ�DUUD\�RI�FUHDWLYLW\��
WHFKQLFDO�VROXWLRQV��DQG�XQLTXH�DSSURDFKHV�WR�D�GLYHUVH�UDQJH�RI�SURMHFW�W\SHV��IURP�QHZ�
DQG�UHQRYDWLRQ�SURMHFWV�VXFK�DV�ORQJ�WHUP�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�FRUSRUDWH�FDPSXVHV��SXEOLF�
VFKRROV�DQG�XQLYHUVLWLHV��SDUNV�DQG�UHFUHDWLRQ�V\VWHPV��DQG�KLJK�HQG�UHVLGHQWLDO�SURSHUWLHV��
+HU�H[SHUWLVH��UHSXWDWLRQ�DQG�VWUHQJWKV�KDYH�DOZD\V�EHHQ�WR�DQVZHU�WRXJK�TXHVWLRQV�LQ�WKH�
GHVLJQ�SKDVH�DQG�VPRRWK�RYHU�DQ\�URXJK�VSRWV�LQ�WKH�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�SURFHVV��SURYLGLQJ�
FOLHQWV�ZLWK�DQ�H[FHSWLRQDO�SURGXFW�DQG�DQ�LQQRYDWLYH��DHVWKHWLF�HQYLURQPHQW�� �
�
6RPH�RI�WKH�SURFHVVHV�VKH�ZRUNV�ZLWK�IRU�REWDLQLQJ�D�KLJK�TXDOLW\�IRU�FOLHQW�LQFOXGH��
&RPSUHKHQVLYH�6LWH�$QDO\VLV�DQG�'HVLJQ�6HUYLFHV��&RQVWUXFWLRQ�6HUYLFHV��/DQGVFDSH�
$UFKLWHFWXUDO�6HUYLFHV��3URMHFW�0DQDJHPHQW�DQG�&RQVWUXFWLRQ�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ��3UHVHQWDWLRQ�
'UDZLQJV�DQG�'UDIWLQJ�6HUYLFHV��0DVWHU�3ODQ�'HVLJQ�DQG�'HYHORSPHQW��6XVWDLQDEOH�'HVLJQ�
DQG�*UHHQ�6WUDWHJLHV��DQG�/(('�&RQVXOWLQJ�� �
�
+HU�H[WHQVLYH�NQRZOHGJH�LQ�/(('�6LWHV�DQG�WKH�6XVWDLQDEOH�6LWHV�,QLWLDWLYH�E\�WKH�$PHULFDQ�
6RFLHW\�RI�/DQGVFDSH�$UFKLWHFWV��ZKLFK�IRFXVHV�RQ�HQYLURQPHQWDO�LVVXHV�VXFK�DV�ZDWHU�
ZDVWH��ZDWHU�SROOXWLRQ��LQYDVLYH�SODQW�VSHFLHV��UHVRXUFH�ZDWHU��KXPDQ�KHDOWK��HQHUJ\�
FRQVXPSWLRQ��DQG�VRLO�DQG�DLU�TXDOLW\��KDV�OHG�KHU�WR�EH�LQYROYHG�LQ�VHYHUDO�FHUWLILHG�EXLOGLQJ�
WHDPV�GXULQJ�WKHLU�/(('�&HUWLILHG�%XLOGLQJ�SURFHVV�� �
�
6RPH�RI�WKH�QRWDEOH�/(('�$3�SURMHFWV�VKH�KDV�EHHQ�LQYROYHG�LQ�LQFOXGH���+HUROG�
(OHPHQWDU\�6FKRRO�LQ�+RXVWRQ��7;��:DOQXW�%HQG�(OHPHQWDU\�6FKRRO��DQG�7KH�%RHLQJ�
&RPSDQ\�7H[DV�+HDGTXDUWHUV�LQ�+RXVWRQ��7;���2WKHU�WRS�FOLHQWV�KDYH�EHHQ��)(0$��-3�
0RUJDQ�&KDVH�%DQN��+RXVWRQ�&RPPXQLW\�&ROOHJH��7KH�7UHYLQR�*URXS��+RXVWRQ�
,QGHSHQGHQW�6FKRRO�'LVWULFW��+DUULV�&RXQW\�0XQLFLSDO�'LVWULFW������9/.�$UFKLWHFWV��.LUNVH\�
$UFKLWHFWV��6+:�$UFKLWHFWV��DQG�$%&�([WUHPH�0DNHRYHU�+RPH�(GLWLRQ��+HU�SURMHFWV�ZLWK�
VFRSHV�VLPLODU�WR�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD¶V�5HTXHVW�IRU�3URSRVDO�LQFOXGH���0ROO\�3U\RU�0HPRULDO�
2UFKDUG�3DUN��1RUWKVKRUH�3DUN�3OD\JURXQG�3FW�����6WDEOH�*DWH�3ODQQHG�&RPPXQLW\��
*D]HER�	�)RRWEULGJH�DW�%XQG\�/DNH��7HUU\�+HUVKH\�3DUN�DQG�7UDLOV��0DU\�-R�3HFNKDP�
3DUN�0DVWHU�3ODQ��DQG�WKH�+DUULV�&RXQW\�3FW����3DUNV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�DQG�$'$�$FFHVVLELOLW\�
3ODQ���
�
-R�$QQ�KDV�DOVR�VHUYHG�KHU�FRPPXQLW\�LQ�VHYHUDO�YROXQWHHU�DUHQDV�VXFK�DV�WKH�:RPHQ�
&RQWUDFWRUV�$VVRFLDWLRQ�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�IRU�WKUHH�\HDUV��+RXVWRQ�%OXHSULQW�3ODQQLQJ�
&RPPLWWHH�IRU�RQH�\HDU��-R�$QQ�DWWULEXWHV�KHU�VXFFHVVIXO�SURMHFWV�WR�KDUG�ZRUN��VWURQJ�
FRPPXQLFDWLRQ��GHGLFDWLRQ�WR�FRPPXQLW\�DQG�FOLHQW¶V�QHHGV�DQG�GHVLUHV��DQG�D�SHUVRQDO�
KDQGV�RQ�DSSURDFK�DQG�DWWHQWLRQ�WR�GHWDLOV�� �
� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

135

8.



�
3URIHVVLRQDO�([SHULHQFH��
�
�����WR�������-R�$QQ�-DUUHDX�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFW��3DRQLD��&2�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV���ODQGVFDSH�GHVLJQLQJ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�PDQDJHPHQW�IRU�UHVLGHQWLDO�DQG�
SXEOLF�VSDFHV�LQ�WKH�ZHVWHUQ�VORSH�RI�FRORUDGR�
�
�����WR��������&R�3ULQFLSDO�RI�&RORUDGR�'HWRXUV��//&���3DRQLD�&2�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FXVWRPHU�DQG�FROODERUDWRU�UHODWLRQV��WRXU�DQG�HYHQW�SODQQLQJ��PDUNHWLQJ��
ZULWLQJ�RI�PDUNHWLQJ�DQG�HGXFDWLRQDO�PDWHULDOV��EXGJHWLQJ�DQG�ILQDQFHV���
�
�����WR�������3ULQFLSDO�RI�-DUUHDX�	�$VVRFLDWLRQV��,QF���+RXVWRQ��7;�DQG�0RQWHUH\��&$�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FRPSUHKHQVLYH�VLWH�GHVLJQ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�VHUYLFH��ODQGVFDSH�
DUFKLWHFWXUH�FRQVXOWLQJ��SURMHFW�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ��SUHVHQWDWLRQ�
GUDZLQJV�DQG�GUDIWLQJ�VHUYLFHV��PDVWHU�SODQ�GHVLJQ�DQG�GHYHORSPHQW��VXVWDLQDEOH�GHVLJQ�
DQG�JUHHQ�VWUDWHJLHV��/(('�FRQVXOWLQJ��PDUNHWLQJ�DQG�QHWZRUNLQJ���
�
�����WR�������0DQDJHU�RI�'HVLJQ�'HSDUWPHQW��5\DQ¶V�/DQGVFDSLQJ�&RPSDQ\��
+RXVWRQ��7;�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV���VWDIIHG�DQG�PDQDJHG�GHSDUWPHQW�ZLWK�FRPSHWHQW�ODQGVFDSH�DUFKLWHFWV�DQG�
GHVLJQHUV�IRU�ODUJH�FRPPHUFLDO�ODQGVFDSLQJ�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�FRPSDQ\��
PDUNHWLQJ�DQG�SURFXUHG�QHZ�FRPPHUFLDO�DQG�UHVLGHQWLDO�DFFRXQWV�IRU�FRPSDQ\��LQLWLDWHG��
GHVLJQHG�DQG�SURMHFW�PDQDJHG�FRPPHUFLDO�UHVLGHQWLDO�DQG�SXEOLF�SURMHFWV���
�
�����WR��������$VVRFLDWH�3DUNV�3ODQQHU��+DUULV�&RXQW\�(QJLQHHULQJ�
DQG�3UHFLQFW���
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��DVVLVWHG�3DUNV�3ODQQHU�ZLWK�GHVLJQLQJ��PDVWHU�SODQQLQJ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ�IRU�WKH�+DUULV�&RXQW\�3DUN�6\VWHP��
�
(GXFDWLRQ��
%DFKHORU�RI�/DQGVFDSH�$UFKLWHFWXUH�������
/RXLVLDQD�6WDWH�8QLYHUVLW\��%DWRQ�5RXJH��/$�
30,�3URMHFW�0DQDJHPHQW�7UDLQLQJ��'HQYHU������
�
3URIHVVLRQDO�FUHGHQWLDOV���

Ɣ ��8�6��*UHHQ�%XLOGLQJ�&RXQFLO�/(('�$3�
Ɣ �7H[DV�%RDUG�RI�$UFKLWHFWXUDO�([DPLQHUV��5HJLVWHUHG�/DQGVFDSH�$UFKLWHFW�������

�
�
� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

136

8.



�
'DYLG�1RH�
�
'U��'DYLG�&��1RH�KDV�RYHU����\HDUV�RI�H[SHULHQFH�DV�D�3URIHVVLRQDO�*HRORJLVW��+H�UHWLUHG�WR�
3DRQLD�DIWHU�D����\HDU�VWLQW�DV�D�UHVHDUFKHU�ZLWK�WKH�&RORUDGR�*HRORJLFDO�6XUYH\�DQG�
&RORUDGR�6FKRRO�RI�0LQHV��+H�LV�DGHSW�LQ�WKH�GLVFLSOLQHV�RI�JHRORJLF�PDSSLQJ��
JHRPRUSKRORJ\��VHGLPHQWRORJ\��DQG�HQJLQHHULQJ�JHRORJ\��7KHVH�VNLOOV�JLYH�KLP�D�XQLTXH�
DELOLW\�WR�DVVHVV�ODQG�SDUFHOV�IRU�GHYHORSPHQW�IHDVLELOLW\��,Q�DGGLWLRQ��KH�KDV�D�VWURQJ�
EDFNJURXQG�LQ�WHFKQLFDO�ZULWLQJ�DQG�WHFKQLFDO�HGLWLQJ�DQG�UHYLHZ��ZKLFK�ZLOO�EH�XWLOL]HG�IRU�
WKLV�SURMHFW��'U��1RH�LV�D�5HJLVWHUHG�3URIHVVLRQDO�*HRORJLVW��OLFHQVHG�LQ�8WDK�DQG�:\RPLQJ��
DQG�LV�D�3URIHVVLRQDO�*HRORJLVW�LQ�&RORUDGR��
�
3URIHVVLRQDO�([SHULHQFH��
�
�����WR�3UHVHQW���&R�3ULQFLSDO�RI�&RORUDGR�'HWRXUV��//&��3DRQLD��&2�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FXVWRPHU�DQG�FROODERUDWRU�UHODWLRQV��WRXU�DQG�HYHQW�SODQQLQJ��VSHDNLQJ�DW�
SXEOLF�JDWKHULQJV��PDUNHWLQJ��ZULWLQJ�RI�PDUNHWLQJ�DQG�HGXFDWLRQDO�PDWHULDOV��EXGJHWLQJ�DQG�
ILQDQFHV���
�
�����WR�3UHVHQW���'DYLG�&��1RH��3K�'���&RQVXOWLQJ�*HRORJLVW��3DRQLD��&2�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FRQGXFWLQJ�FXVWRP�JHRORJLFDO�LQYHVWLJDWLRQV�IRU�LQGLYLGXDO�FOLHQWV��,QFOXGHV�
ILHOGZRUN��EDFNJURXQG�UHVHDUFK��DQG�ZULWLQJ�UHSRUWV�RI�ILQGLQJV���
�
�����WR��������&RORUDGR�*HRORJLFDO�6XUYH\�DQG�&RORUDGR�6FKRRO�RI�0LQHV��'HQYHU�DQG�
*ROGHQ��&2�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FRQGXFWHG�VWXGLHV�RI�JHRORJLFDO�KD]DUGV�DV�VHQLRU�JHRORJLFDO�UHVHDUFKHU��
UHYLHZHG�KXQGUHGV�RI�GHYHORSPHQW�VLWHV�DURXQG�WKH�VWDWH�DV�&KLHI�(QJLQHHULQJ�*HRORJLVW�IRU�
6WDWH�RI�&RORUDGR��PDSSHG��ZURWH�UHSRUWV��DQG�PDQDJHG�WKH�6WDWH�*HRORJLF�0DSSLQJ�
3URJUDP��$XWKRU�RI����SXEOLVKHG�ERRNOHWV��UHSRUWV��DUWLFOHV��JXLGHERRNV�DQG�DEVWUDFWV�DV�
OHDG�DXWKRU��DQG����PRUH�DV�D�FRQWULEXWLQJ�DXWKRU��+LV�SXEOLFDWLRQV�KDYH�JDUQHUHG�WKUHH�
QDWLRQDO�DZDUGV�IURP�SURIHVVLRQDO�JHRORJLFDO�VRFLHWLHV���
�
�����WR��������5HVHDUFK�3ODQQLQJ�,QVWLWXWH��$XVWLQ��7;�DQG�%RXOGHU��&2�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV��FRQGXFWHG�VWXGLHV�RI�VHGLPHQWDU\�VWUDWD�IRU�RLO�DQG�JDV�H[SORUDWLRQ��
LQFOXGLQJ�ILHOG�LQYHVWLJDWLRQV�RI�URFN�RXWFURSV��GHVFULSWLRQV�RI�GRZQKROH�URFN�FRUHV��DQG�
LQWHUSUHWDWLRQV�RI�HOHFWULF�JHRSK\VLFDO�ORJV��:URWH�DQG�LOOXVWUDWHG�VHFWLRQV�RI�ILQDO�UHSRUWV�DV�
SDUW�RI�D�UHVHDUFK�WHDP��
�
(GXFDWLRQ��
%DFKHORU�RI�$UWV�LQ�*HRORJ\��8QLYHUVLW\�RI�1RUWKHUQ�&RORUDGR��*UHHOH\��&2�������
0DVWHU�RI�$UWV�LQ�*HRORJ\��8QLYHUVLW\�RI�7H[DV�DW�$XVWLQ��$XVWLQ��7;�������
'RFWRU�RI�3KLORVRSK\�LQ�*HRORJLFDO�(QJLQHHULQJ��&RORUDGR�6FKRRO�RI�0LQHV��*ROGHQ��&2��
����� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

137

8.



�
�

.DWKU\Q�&DPS�

.DWKU\Q�&DPS�ZLOO�HGLW�DQG�GHVLJQ�WKH�3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�ERRNOHW��

.DWKU\Q�KDV�PRUH�WKDQ�WZHQW\�ILYH�\HDUV�H[SHULHQFH�SURYLGLQJ�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�VXSSRUW�WR�
5&/$��6KH�LV�DOVR�WKH�HGLWRU�RI�0RXQWDLQ�3DUHQW�PDJD]LQH��ZKHUH�VKH�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DOO�
FUHDWLYH�FRQWHQW�IRU�SULQW�DQG�GLJLWDO�HGLWLRQV��.DWKU\Q�KDV�DQ�H[SHUW�ZRUNLQJ�NQRZOHGJH�RI�
$GREH�&UHDWLYH�6XLWH��LQFOXGLQJ�,Q'HVLJQ�DQG�3KRWRVKRS��6KH�ZLOO�SUHVHQW�HDFK�DVSHFW�RI�
WKH�SURMHFW�LQ�D�IRUPDW�WKDW�FOHDUO\�FRPPXQLFDWHV�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD¶V�YLVLRQ��VR�WKDW�WKH�
FRPPXQLW\�DW�ODUJH�FDQ�XQGHUVWDQG�WKH�VFRSH�RI�WKH�SURMHFW�DQG�FRQQHFW�ZLWK�LW��
�
�
�
$QGUHD�:DQJ� � �
$QGUHD�:DQJ�LV�DQ�HQYLURQPHQWDO�VFLHQWLVW�DQG�ZLOGOLIH�ELRORJLVW�ZLWK�RYHU�WZR�GHFDGHV�RI�
H[SHULHQFH�ZRUNLQJ�LQ�IHGHUDO��VWDWH��DQG�SULYDWH�VHFWRUV��$QGUHD�KDV�RYHU����\HDUV�
H[SHULHQFH�LQ�QDWXUDO�UHVRXUFH�PDQDJHPHQW��KDELWDW�UHVWRUDWLRQ�DQG�ELRORJLFDO�FRQVHUYDWLRQ�
SURMHFWV�LQ�ZHVWHUQ�&RORUDGR��+HU�ZRUN�KDV�LQFOXGHG�HQYLURQPHQWDO�LPSDFW�DQDO\VLV�DQG�
PLWLJDWLRQ�GHYHORSPHQW��GHVLJQ�DQG�LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI�HFRORJLFDO�VXUYH\V��LQFOXGLQJ�ZLOGOLIH�
VWXGLHV��WKUHDWHQHG�DQG�HQGDQJHUHG�VSHFLHV�VXUYH\V��SODQW�LQYHQWRULHV��QR[LRXV�ZHHG�
VXUYH\V��UDSWRU�DQG�PLJUDWRU\�ELUG�VXUYH\V��$QGUHD¶V�FDUHHU�KDV�LQFOXGHG����\HDUV�ZLWK�WKH�
8�6�)RUHVW�6HUYLFH�DV�WKH�3DRQLD�'LVWULFW�:LOGOLIH�%LRORJLVW�PDQDJLQJ�WKH�'LVWULFW¶V�ZLOGOLIH��
SODQW�DQG�ILVK�SURJUDPV��$QGUHD�FXUUHQWO\�RZQV�DQG�RSHUDWHV�:HVW�6ORSH�(QYLURQPHQWDO�
//&��D�FRQVXOWLQJ�ILUP�IRFXVHG�RQ�FRQVHUYLQJ�QDWXUDO�HFRORJLFDO�SURFHVVHV��ZLOGOLIH�DQG�
KDELWDW�FRQVLGHUDWLRQV�LQ�ODQG�XVH�SODQQLQJ��DQG�HQYLURQPHQWDO�FRPSOLDQFH��6KH�KROGV�D�
%�6��LQ�%LRORJ\�IURP�:HVWHUQ�6WDWH�&RORUDGR�8QLYHUVLW\�DQG�:LOGOLIH�0DQDJHPHQW�IURP�
8QLYHUVLW\�RI�&DOLIRUQLD��'DYLV�� �
�
6XSSRUW�VHUYLFHV�LQFOXGH��*HRJUDSKLF�,QIRUPDWLRQ�6\VWHP��*,6��0DSSLQJ��&RPPXQLW\�
5HODWLRQV�DQG�(GXFDWLRQ��$UFKHRORJ\�(YDOXDWLRQV��(QYLURQPHQWDO�(QJLQHHULQJ�
�

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

138

8.



3DVW�SHUIRUPDQFHV�LQFOXGH���
�
:HVWHUQ�6ORSH�&RQVHUYDWLRQ�&HQWHU���:6&&��
6PLWK�)RUN�DQG�7RQJXH�&UHHN�:DWHUVKHG�$VVHVVPHQWV���,GHQWLILHG�HFRORJLFDO�FRQGLWLRQV�RI�
WZR�ZDWHUVKHGV�LQ�WKH�1RUWK�)RUN�DUHD��6PLWK�)RUN�DQG�7RQJXH�&UHHN�ZDWHUVKHGV��LGHQWLILHG�
DVVHWV��SUREOHPV�DQG�FULWLFDO�ZDWHUVKHG�QHHGV�WKDW�FRXOG�UHVXOW�LQ�UHVWRUDWLRQ�DQG�
LPSURYHPHQW�SURMHFWV��:RUN�LQFOXGHG�SDUWQHULQJ�ZLWK�SULYDWH�ODQGRZQHUV�DQG�FRPPXQLW\�
RUJDQL]DWLRQV�WR�LGHQWLI\�HFRORJLFDO�QHHGV��DQG�SRWHQWLDO�SURMHFWV�WR�HQKDQFH�WKH�
HQYLURQPHQWDO�LQWHJULW\�RI�WKH�WZR�ZDWHUVKHGV��7KHVH�ZDWHUVKHG�DVVHVVPHQWV�DUH�XVHG�E\�
:6&&�DV�D�VWUDWHJ\�DQG�SODQQLQJ�JXLGH�IRU�GHWHUPLQLQJ�HOLJLELOLW\��SULRULWLHV��DQG�JUDQW�
IXQGLQJ�IRU�IXWXUH�SURMHFWV�� �
&RQWDFW��3DWULFN�'RROLQJ��������������
�
5DUH�(DUWK�6FLHQFH��
&RQVHUYDWLRQ�(DVHPHQW�%DVHOLQH�'RFXPHQWDWLRQ�5HSRUWV���&RQGXFWHG�ELRORJLFDO�ILHOG�
VXUYH\V�RQ�ILYH�SULYDWH�UDQFK�DQG�IDUP�SURSHUWLHV�WR�LGHQWLI\�HFRORJLFDO�UHVRXUFHV�DQG�
FRQGLWLRQV��LGHQWLI\�SXEOLF�EHQHILW�RI��HDVHPHQWV��FRQVHUYDWLRQ�DWWULEXWHV��SXUSRVHV��XVH�
OLPLWDWLRQV��DQG�UHVHUYHG�ULJKWV�WR�GHWHUPLQH�HOLJLELOLW\�DQG�SULRULW\�RI�WKH�SURSHUW\�DV�D�WD[�
GHGXFWLEOH�FRQVHUYDWLRQ�HDVHPHQW��
&RQWDFW��'DZQ�5HHGHU��������������
�
86'$�)RUHVW�6HUYLFH���*UDQG�0HVD��8QFRPSDKJUH��*XQQLVRQ�1DWLRQDO�)RUHVWV�
%LRORJLFDO�ILHOG�VWXGLHV��7KUHDWHQHG��(QGDQJHUHG��DQG�6HQVLWLYH�ZLOGOLIH�	�SODQW�LQYHQWRULHV��
VHQVLWLYH�EDW�LQYHQWRU\��%LRORJLFDO�$VVHVVPHQWV�DQG�,PSDFW�5HSRUWV�IRU���PLQH�UHFODPDWLRQ�
SURMHFWV��1DWLRQDO�(QYLURQPHQWDO�3ROLF\�$FW��1(3$��WHFKQLFDO�VXSSRUW�IRU�UHPHGLDWLRQ�RI�
7HOOXULGH�9DOOH\�)ORRU�7DLOLQJV�6LWH��DQG�6DQ�0LJXHO�5LYHU�FURVV�VHFWLRQV��
&RQWDFW��/LQGD�/DQKDP��������������
�
86'$�)RUHVW�6HUYLFH���:KLWH�5LYHU�1DWLRQDO�)RUHVW�
(QYLURQPHQWDO�6WXGLHV��:LOGOLIH��SODQW��DQG�DUFKHRORJ\�VWXGLHV�DQG�LPSDFW�DQDO\VLV�IRU���
DEDQGRQHG�PLQH�VLWHV���3URYLGH�WHFKQLFDO�VXSSRUW�LQ�WKH�GHVLJQ�DQG�LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI��WKH�
UHFODPDWLRQ��DQG�UHPRYDO�RI�PLQH�VLWHV�DQG�KD]DUGRXV�PDWHULDOV���
�

�
� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

139

8.



�
(��6LPLODU�(QJDJHPHQWV�ZLWK�RWKHU�*RYHUQPHQWDO�(QWLWLHV�
�
�

7RZQ�RI�1HZ�&DVWOH��&2���*UDQG�5LYHU�3DUN�
�

�
�
5&/$�FRPSOHWHG�WKH�GHVLJQ�IRU�D�SDUN�RQ�WKH�&RORUDGR�5LYHU�IRU�WKH�7RZQ�RI�1HZ�&DVWOH��
&2��7KH�SDUN�UHFHQWO\�ZRQ�DQ�DZDUG�IURP�WKH�&RORUDGR�3XEOLF�:RUNV�-RXUQDO���7KH�*UDQG�
5LYHU�3DUN�LQ�1HZ�&DVWOH��&2�LV�D�WHQ�DFUH�VLWH��VLWXDWHG�RQ�WKH�EDQNV�RI�WKH�&RORUDGR�5LYHU��
5&/$���ZLWK�WKH�DVVLVWDQFH�RI�WKH�&RORUDGR�'LYLVLRQ�RI�:LOGOLIH��WKH�8�6��$UP\�&RUSV�RI�
(QJLQHHUV��%LRORJLVWV�DQG�&LYLO�(QJLQHHUV��GHVLJQHG�D�ZD\�WR�WUDQVIRUP�D�GLWFK��FKRNHG�ZLWK�
LQYDVLYH�SODQWV��LQWR�D�KDELWDW�IRU�D�VSHFLHV�RI�FRQFHUQ��WKH�1RUWKHUQ�/HRSDUG�)URJ���7KLV�ZDV�
GRQH�E\�FUHDWLQJ�ODUJH�DQG�VPDOO�EUHHGLQJ�SRQGV��DQG�ZHWODQGV�FRQGXFLYH�WR�VXVWDLQLQJ�WKH�
IURJV��6WRUP�ZDWHU�UXQ�RII�LV�FROOHFWHG�E\�WKLV�GUDLQDJH�ZKHUH�LW�LV�ILOWHUHG�WKURXJK�D�ODUJH�
ZHWODQG�EHIRUH�LW�IORZV�LQWR�WKH�ULYHU���,W�LV�D�SULPDU\�JRDO�RI�5&/$�WR�VHHN�ZD\V�WR�RIIHU�D�
YDULHW\�RI�H[SHULHQFHV���,Q�WKLV�LQYLWLQJ�SODFH��\RX�ZLOO�ILQG�D�VRFFHU�ILHOG��SLFQLF�VKHOWHUV��
WUDLOV��D�SOD\JURXQG��D�ZDGLQJ�EHDFK��ILVKLQJ�DUHDV��DQ�DUERUHWXP��DQG�LQWHUSUHWLYH�RYHUORRN�
DUHDV��5&/$�ZURWH�D�*2&2�JUDQW�WKDW�ZDV�HYHQWXDOO\�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DQ�DZDUG�RI�
������������WR�JR�WRZDUG�WKH�FRPSOHWLRQ�RI�WKH�SDUN���
�
6HH�DWWDFKHG�H[DPSOH�RI�ZRUN��([KLELW�2QH�
�
5HIHUHQFHV��
3XEOLF�:RUNV�'HSDUWPHQW�'LUHFWRU 3XEOLF�:RUNV�'HSDUWPHQW�$VVLVWDQW�'LUHFWRU�
-RKQ�:HQ]HO 'DYLG�*UD\�
��������������([W����� ��������������([W������
MZHQ]HO#QHZFDVWOHFRORUDGR�RUJ GJUD\#QHZFDVWOHFRORUDGR�RUJ�

ǧ ǧ

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

140

8.



ǧ
7RZQ�RI�&DUERQGDOH���5(���6FKRRO�'LVWULFW�5HFUHDWLRQ�0DVWHU�3ODQ�
5&/$�FRPSOHWHG�D�PDVWHU�SODQ�IRU�WKH�7RZQ�RI�&DUERQGDOH�DQG�WKH�5(���6FKRRO�'LVWULFW��
7KH�WDVN�RI�WKLV�MRLQW�HIIRUW�ZDV�WR�DVVHVV�WKH�WZR�HQWLWLHV�UHVSHFWLYH�SURSHUWLHV�ORFDWHG�LQ�WKH�
7RZQ�RI�&DUERQGDOH��DQG�PD[LPL]H�WKH�SRWHQWLDO�IRU�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�RI�SOD\LQJ�ILHOGV��7KURXJK�
WKLV�HIIRUW�5&/$�LGHQWLILHG�WKH�SRWHQWLDO�IRU�WKH�DGGLWLRQ�RI��WZR�VRIWEDOO�GLDPRQGV��IRXU�PXOWL�
SXUSRVH�ILHOGV��IRXU�WHQQLV�FRXUWV��WKUHH�YROOH\EDOO�FRXUWV��DQG�WKH�H[SDQVLRQ�RI�SDUNLQJ�DQG�
WUDLOV�WKDW�OLQN�DOO�RI�WKH�SURSRVHG�DPHQLWLHV�WRJHWKHU�� �
�
6HH�DWWDFKHG�H[DPSOH�RI�ZRUN��([KLELW�7ZR�
�
5HIHUHQFHV��
5)6'�$VVLVWDQW�6XSHULQWHQGHQW� 7RZQ�RI�&DUERQGDOH�3DUNV�DQG�5HF�'LUHFWRU�
6KDQQRQ�3HOODQG (ULF�%UHQGOLQJHU�
������������� ��������������
SHOODQG#UIVFKRROV�FRP HEUHQGOLQJHU#FDUERQGDOHFR�QHW �
�
�
5(���6FKRRO�'LVWULFW�±�&RPPXQLW\�6SRUWV3OH[��
5&/$�ZRUNHG�ZLWK�WKH�5(���VFKRRO�GLVWULFW�DORQJ�ZLWK�WKH�7RZQ�RI�&DUERQGDOH�WR�FUHDWH�WKH�
&RPPXQLW\�6SRUWV3OH[�DW�WKH�ORFDWLRQ�DW�WKH�VLWH�RI�WKH�GLODSLGDWHG�7HQQLV�&RXUWV��RQ�
&DUERQGDOH�0LGGOH�6FKRRO�SURSHUW\��7KURXJK�WKH�6SRUWV�&RPSOH[�0DVWHU�3ODQ�SURFHVV��WKLV�
DUHD�ZDV�LGHQWLILHG�DV�WKH�KXE�RI�DOO�RI�WKH�VXUURXQGLQJ�VSRUWV�DFWLYLWLHV��7KLV�SOD\JURXQG�DQG�
PXOWL�VSRUW�DUHQD�ZLOO�VHUYH�WKH�FKLOGUHQ�RI�WKH�0LGGOH�6FKRRO��DV�ZHOO�DV�WKH�SXEOLF�DW�ODUJH��
7KH�ILUVW�SKDVH�RI�WKH�6SRUWV3OH[�LV�FXUUHQWO\�XQGHU�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�ZLWK�D�EXGJHW�RI�
�������������7KH�SURMHFW�UHFHLYHG�D�JUDQW�IRU�������������DQG�SULYDWH�GRQDWLRQV�RI�
������������7KH�VHFRQG�SKDVH�LV�FXUUHQWO\�VODWHG�IRU�D�*2&2�JUDQW��5&/$�LV�FXUUHQWO\�
ZRUNLQJ�DV�WKH�3URMHFW�0DQDJHU�GXULQJ�WKH�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�SKDVH�RQH��6RPH�RI�WKH�
DPHQLWLHV�RIIHUHG�DW�WKH�6SRUWV3OH[�DUH��

Ɣ 6WDWH�RI�WKH�DUW�³.RPSDQ´�SOD\JURXQG�HTXLSPHQW�
Ɣ $Q�RXWGRRU�FODVVURRP���SHUIRUPDQFH�DUHD��
Ɣ $���¶�[����¶�³)UHH*DPH´�ZDOOHG�WXUI�FRXUW�IRU�VRFFHU��YROOH\EDOO��EDGPLQWRQ«�
Ɣ )XOO�VL]H�UHIXUELVKHG�%DVNHWEDOO�FRXUW��
Ɣ 5HPRGHOHG�%DWKURRPV���6WRUDJH�6KHG�
Ɣ $�SLFQLF�VKHOWHU��VKDGH�VWUXFWXUHV��EHQFKHV��ZDWHU�IRXQWDLQ��WUDVK�UHFHSWDFOHV���
Ɣ $'$�DFFHVVLEOH�SDUNLQJ�DQG�SOD\�VWUXFWXUHV�

��6HH�DWWDFKHG�H[DPSOH�RI�ZRUN��([KLELW�7KUHH�
�

5HIHUHQFHV���
5)6'�$VVLVWDQW�6XSHULQWHQGHQW� 5)6'�&KLHI�$FDGHPLF�2IILFHU�
6KDQQRQ�3HOODQG 5LFN�+ROW�
������������� ��������������
SHOODQG#UIVFKRROV�FRP UKROW#UIVFKROOV�FRP �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

��

141

8.



(� 6LPLODU�(QJDJHPHQWV�ZLWK�RWKHU�*RYHUQPHQWDO�$JHQFLHV��FRQWG���
�

:HOFRPH�5DQFK�0DVWHU�3ODQ��%UHQKDP��7;���/(('��*ROG�&HUWLILHG�
7KLV�ZDV�D�ODUJH�VFDOH�UHVLGHQWLDO�SURMHFW�LQYROYLQJ�D�GHVLJQ�RI�D�����DFUH�ZHHNHQG�UDQFK�IRU�
D�IDPLO\�IURP�+RXVWRQ��7H[DV��7KH�PDVWHU�SODQ�SURMHFW�LQFOXGHV�IRXU�FDELQV�GHVLJQHG�DURXQG�
D�QDWXUDO�IUHH�IORZLQJ�VHULHV�RI�EHUPV��ZKLFK�H[WHQG�RYHU�WKH�FDELQV��7KLV�KDV�UHFHLYHG�
/(('�*ROG�FHUWLILFDWLRQ��ZLWK�WKH�XVH�RI�UDLQZDWHU�FDWFKPHQW�EDVLQV�XQGHUJURXQG�LQ�ODUJH�
UDLQZDWHU�WDQNV���7KH�V\VWHP�RI�UDLQZDWHU�FDWFKPHQW�ZDV�XVHG�WR�LUULJDWH�WKH�DUHDV�DURXQG�
WKH�PDLQ�UHVLGHQFH��WKH�IRXU�FDELQV�DQG�WKHLU�UHFUHDWLRQ�DUHDV���
�

6HH�DWWDFKHG�H[DPSOH�RI�ZRUN���([KLELW�)RXU�
�

5HIHUHQFHV��
+DUROG�9RQ�<RXQJHU�
&RQWUDFWRU��
�������������� �
YRQ\RXQJHU#PVQ�FRP �
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

� �
�
�

0ROO\�3U\RU�0HPRULDO�2UFKDUG��3DUNV��7UDLOV�DQG�7HDFKLQJ�*D]HER���
+DUULV�&RXQW\�3DUNV�DQG�3ODQQLQJ�
�
3ODFHG�DPLGVW�URDGZD\V�DQG�SRZHU�OLQHV��WKH�0ROO\�3U\RU�0HPRULDO�2UFKDUG�SURYLGHV�D�
TXLHW�UHIXJH�IRU�FKLOGUHQ�DQG�DGXOWV��7KLV�RQH�DFUH�SDUN�LQFOXGHV�D�JD]HER��DUERU��ZLQGLQJ�
WUDLOV��DQG�LV�SODQWHG�ZLWK�QXPHURXV�QDWLYH�SODQWV��YLQHV�DQG�IUXLW�WUHHV��7KH�GHVLJQ�FRQFHSW�
LQFOXGHG�SURYLGLQJ�DQ�HGXFDWLRQDO�HQYLURQPHQW�DQG�IRU�XUEDQ�FKLOGUHQ�WR�YLHZ�GLIIHUHQW�HGLEOH�
IRRGV�ZKLOH�WKH\�DUH�VWLOO�JURZLQJ�RQ�WKH�YLQHV�RU�WUHHV��$GGLWLRQDOO\��WKH�RUFKDUG�ZDV�
GHVLJQHG�WR�EH�IXOO\�KDQGLFDS�DFFHVVLEOH�DQG�WKXV�SURYLGHV�D�SODFH�IRU�\RXQJ�DQG�ROG�WR�
SODQW�DQG�KDUYHVW�YDULRXV�EHUULHV�DQG�FLWUXV�� �

�
5HIHUHQFHV��
&RPPLVVLRQHU�6WHYH�5DGDFN� �
�����3UHVWRQ���WK�)ORRU�
�������������� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

142

8.



�
)���6FRSH�RI�6HUYLFHV�
�

5&/$�ZLOO�SHUIRUP�WKH�IROORZLQJ�VFRSH�RI�VHUYLFHV��
���%DFNJURXQG�5HVHDUFK�DQG�3URMHFW�.LFN�2II�

����$�NLFN�RII�PHHWLQJ�ZLOO�LQFOXGH�NH\�VWDNHKROGHUV�WR�UHYLHZ�VLWHV�DQG�EXLOG�D�VKDUHG�
XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�VLWH�VSHFLILF�SURMHFW�JRDOV��
����7KH�ILUP�ZLOO�UHYLHZ�H[LVWLQJ�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LQFOXGLQJ�7RZQ�SODQV��]RQLQJ��EXLOGLQJ�
RUGLQDQFHV��*,6��SK\VLFDO�DVVHWV�DQG�QHHGV��DQG�RWKHU�GDWD�SURYLGHG�E\�WKH�7RZQ��
����7KH�ILUP�ZLOO�SURSRVH�D�FRPELQDWLRQ�RI�LQWHUYLHZV��IRFXV�JURXSV��DQG�WRZQ��
PHHWLQJV�WR�JDWKHU�FRPPXQLW\�LQSXW��
�

���%DVH�3ODQ���6LWH�$QDO\VLV�DQG�,QYHQWRU\�
����$Q�H[LVWLQJ�VLWH�DQDO\VLV�ZLOO�EH�FRPSOHWHG�IRU�HDFK�SDUN�WR�GHWHUPLQH�DFWXDO�VL]HV��
FRQVWUDLQWV��DFFHVV��FRGH�FULWHULD��HQYLURQPHQWDO�FRQVLGHUDWLRQV��DQG�RWKHU�SHUWLQHQW�GDWD��
����$Q�LQYHQWRU\�RI�SDUN�DPHQLWLHV��FXUUHQW�DQG�GHVLUHG��ZLOO�EH�OLVWHG��
����$Q�HYDOXDWLRQ�RI�VLJQLILFDQW�WUHHV�DQG�ODQGVFDSH�ZLOO�EH�QHHGHG��
����2SSRUWXQLW\�IRU�FRPPXQLW\�JDWKHULQJ�VSDFHV�ZLOO�EH�GHILQHG��
����5HFUHDWLRQDO�IDFLOLWLHV�IRU�DOO�DJHV�ZLOO�EH�GHILQHG��
����&RQQHFWRU�SDWKZD\V�LQFOXGLQJ�WUDLOV�DQG�URDGZD\V��ZLOO�EH�QRWHG�DORQJ�ZLWK��
5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV�IRU�LPSURYHPHQWV��
����+LVWRULF�DQG�FXOWXUDO�IHDWXUHV�ZLOO�EH�FRQVLGHUHG�WR�LQVSLUH�WKH�GHVLJQ�DQG�PDLQWDLQ�
FRQVLVWHQF\�ZLWK�FRPPXQLW\�YDOXHV�DQG�KHULWDJH��
�

���6FKHPDWLF�'HVLJQ�3KDVH�
����&RQFHSW�GHVLJQV�DQG�VXJJHVWHG�HQKDQFHPHQWV�DQG�DPHQLWLHV�ZLOO�EH�3URYLGHG��
����3XEOLF�LQSXW�WKURXJK�FKDUHWWV��WRZQ�PHHWLQJV��IRFXV�JURXSV��DQG�LQWHUYLHZV�ZLOO�EH�
HVVHQWLDO�DQG�LQFRUSRUDWHG�LQWR�WKH�ILQDO�GHVLJQ��
�

���'HVLJQ�'HYHORSPHQW�
����7ZR�WR�WKUHH�GUDIW�SODQV�ZLOO�EH�UHYLHZHG�E\�7RZQ�RIILFLDOV�DQG�WKH�SXEOLF��GLVFXVVLRQV�
ZLOO�LQIRUP�WKH�ILUP�RQ�WKH�SUHIHUUHG�ILQDO�SODQ���
����)LQDO�0DVWHU�3ODQ�ZLOO�LQFOXGH�UHQGHULQJV��GHWDLOV��UHVRXUFH�GUDZLQJV��DQG�GHILQHG�
DUHDV�IRU�SODQQLQJ��DQG�PDWHULDOV�SODQ��
�

���&RQVWUXFWLRQ�'RFXPHQWV�
����2QH�SURMHFW�LQ�RQH�SDUN�ZLOO�EH�VHOHFWHG�DQG�D�VHW�RI�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GRFXPHQWV�IRU�WKDW�
SURMHFW�ZLOO�EH�GHYHORSHG��7KLV�ZDV�127�LQ�WKH�5)3�VFRSH�RI�VHUYLFHV��KRZHYHU��5&/$�LV�
RIIHULQJ�WKLV�DV�DQ�H[WUD�VHUYLFH�DQG�SDUW�RI�RXU�SURSRVDO��
�

���'HOLYHUDEOHV�ZLOO�,QFOXGH�
����)LQDO�'HVLJQ�DQG�/D\RXW�0DVWHU�3ODQ�
����*UDSKLF�ERDUGV�IRU�SXEOLF�GLVSOD\V���
����$Q�RSLQLRQ�RI�SUREDEOH�FRVW�RU�DSSUR[LPDWH�FRVW�HVWLPDWHV���

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

143

8.



����$�OLVWLQJ�RI�SRWHQWLDO�UHVRXUFHV�DQG�VXJJHVWHG�VXSSOLHUV�DQG�YHQGRUV�WR�KHOS�ZLWK�
LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ���
����0DLQWHQDQFH�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ�DQG�VXVWDLQDELOLW\�SODQ��
����(OHFWURQLF�ILOHV�DQG�JUDSKLFV�IRU�WKH�SURMHFW�ZLOO�EH�SURYLGHG�WR�WKH�7RZQ���
� �

�
�
�
*� 6SHFLILF�$SSURDFK���:RUN�3ODQ�DQG�0HWKRGRORJ\�
�

�
3KDVH����0DUFK�WR�$SULO��������%DFNJURXQG�5HVHDUFK�DQG�3URMHFW�.LFN�2II�
�
Ɣ ,QIRUPDWLRQ�*DWKHULQJ�0HHWLQJ��0DUFK������7HDP�ZLOO�PHHW�ZLWK�WKH�WRZQ�RI�3DRQLD�WR�

JDWKHU�LQIRUPDWLRQ�UHJDUGLQJ�H[LVWLQJ�FRQGLWLRQV�LQ�RUGHU�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WKH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WR�
EH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�%DVH�3ODQ��L�H��*,6�PDSV��H[LVWLQJ�VLWH�SODQV��KLVWRULF�GRFXPHQWV�IRU�
HDFK�VLWH��ERXQGDU\�VXUYH\V��]RQLQJ�SODQV��SOD\JURXQG�HTXLSPHQW�PDQXIDFWXULQJ�
LQIRUPDWLRQ��H[LVWLQJ�DV�EXLOW�GRFXPHQWV��SUHYLRXV�VXUYH\�DQG�GRFXPHQWV��EXLOGLQJ�
RUGLQDQFHV��SKRWRV��HWF���$�OLVW�RI�VLWHV�WR�LQFOXGH�LQ�WKH�PDVWHU�SODQ�ZLOO�EH�GHWHUPLQHG�
DQG�DJUHHG�RQ��5HYLHZ�WKH�H[LVWLQJ�LQIRUPDWLRQ��IURP�DERYH��IRU�FRPSLOLQJ�LQWR�WKH�EDVH�
SODQ��
�

Ɣ %DVH�3ODQ�,QLWLDO�3UHSDUDWLRQ���5&/$�ZLOO�FUHDWH�DQ�LQLWLDO�EDVH�SODQ�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�LQ�
JDWKHULQJ�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LQ�WKH�ILHOG��

�
Ɣ .LFN�RII�0HHWLQJ���7KH�WHDP�ZLOO�PHHW�ZLWK�NH\�VWDNHKROGHUV�WR�UHYLHZ�VLWHV�DQG�EXLOG�D�

VKDUHG�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�VLWH�VSHFLILF�SURMHFW�JRDOV���
�

Ɣ 6HW�3XEOLF�(QJDJHPHQW�(YHQWV����5&/$�ZLOO�SURSRVH�D�FRPELQDWLRQ�RI�LQWHUYLHZV��IRFXV�
JURXSV��FKDUUHWWHV��DQG�WRZQ�PHHWLQJV�WR�JDWKHU�FRPPXQLW\�LQSXW�DQG�ZLOO�ZRUN�ZLWK�WKH�
7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�WR�VFKHGXOH�DQG�DQQRXQFH�WKRVH�HYHQWV��
��

�
3KDVH�����0DUFK�WR�$SULO��������%DVH�3ODQ��6LWH�$QDO\VLV�DQG�,QYHQWRU\��
�
Ɣ 6LWH�$QDO\VLV���7KLV�LV�SHUIRUPHG�ZLWK�D�WUDLQHG�H\H�WR�GRFXPHQW�VLWH�GHWDLOV�DQG�

FRQGLWLRQV�WKDW�FDQ�LQIOXHQFH�GHVLJQ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GHFLVLRQV��2XU�ODQGVFDSH�
DUFKLWHFW��ORFDWHG�LQ�3DRQLD��ZLOO�EH�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�GRFXPHQWLQJ�WKH�FULWHULDV�XVHG�IRU�
GHVLJQ�VFKHPDWLFV�DQG�GHYHORSPHQW��7KLV�ZRXOG�LQFOXGH�DQ�HYDOXDWLRQ�RI�VLJQLILFDQW�
WUHHV�DQG�ODQGVFDSH�IHDWXUHV��
�

Ɣ )LHOGZRUN�IRU�LQYHQWRU\���7KH�WHDP�ZLOO�YLVLW�HDFK�VLWH�WR�FRQGXFW�D�UXGLPHQWDU\�VXUYH\�
RI�WKH�H[LVWLQJ�FRQGLWLRQV�DQG�EUDLQVWRUP�LGHDV�IRU�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�DQG�LPSURYHPHQWV��7KLV�

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

144

8.



ZRXOG�LQFOXGH�SDUN�DPHQLWLHV��FRPPXQLW\�JDWKHULQJ�VSDFHV��UHFUHDWLRQDO�IDFLOLWLHV�IRU�DOO�
DJHV��FRQQHFWRU�SDWKZD\��WUDLOV�DQG�URDGZD\V�DQG�KLVWRULF�DQG�FXOWXUDO�IHDWXUHV��2XU�
WHDP�JHRORJLVW�ZLOO�GHWHUPLQH�WKH�JHQHUDO�VLWH�VRLO�FRQGLWLRQV�DQG�GRFXPHQW�DUHDV�RI�
SRWHQWLDO�JHRORJLF�VLJQLILFDQFH��7KH�VLWHV�WR�EH�LQYHQWRULHG�ZLOO�LQFOXGH���3RXORV�3DUN��
3DRQLD�7RZQ�3DUN��$SSOH�9DOOH\�3DUN��/HHV�3DUN�DQG�RWKHU�DJUHHG�RQ�VLWHV���5&/$�ZLOO�
UHTXHVW�DVVLVWDQFH�IURP�WKH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�LQ�LQYHQWRU\LQJ�H[LVWLQJ�VLWH�FRQGLWLRQV�DQG�
WKHLU�DPHQLWLHV��DQG�LQ�VXUYH\LQJ�DQG�PHDVXULQJ�VSHFLILF�IRFXV�DUHDV��DORQJ�ZLWK�RWKHU�
RQ�UHTXHVW�VHUYLFHV���
�

Ɣ 2YHUDOO�%DVH�3ODQ���,QSXW�DOO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WKDW�KDV�EHHQ�JDWKHUHG�WR�JHQHUDWH�DQ�RYHUDOO�
SODQ�WKDW�HFRPSDVVHV�WKH�HQWLUH�DUHD�RI�WKH�7RZQ�LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�WKUHH�PLOH�UDGLXV�RI�WKH�
VXUURXQGLQJ�DUHD��7KLV�ZLOO�LQFOXGH�DQ\�7RZQ�SODQV��]RQLQJ�LQIRUPDWLRQ��EXLOGLQJ�
RUGLQDQFHV��*,6�LQIRUPDWLRQ���

�

Ɣ (QODUJHG��)RFXV�$UHD�%DVH�3ODQV���7KH�RYHUDOO�EDVH�SODQ�ZLOO�EH�EURNHQ�XS�LQWR�PRUH�
GHWDLOHG�IRFXV�DUHDV��7KH�IRFXV�DUHDV�ZLOO�EH�LGHQWLILHG�GXULQJ�WKH�ILHOGZRUN�SURFHVV��7KLV�
ZLOO�HQDEOH�GHWDLOHG�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WR�EH�VKRZQ�IRU�HDFK�IRFXV�DUHD���

�

Ɣ %HJLQ�FUHDWLRQ�RI�0DVWHU�3ODQ�PDQXDO�
�
�

3KDVH�����0D\�WR�-XQH��������&RQFHSWXDO�'LDJUDPV�DQG�6FKHPDWLF�'HVLJQ��
�

Ɣ &RPPXQLW\�,QSXW���7KH�WHDP�ZLOO�FRQGXFW�LQWHUYLHZV�DQG�PHHW�ZLWK�IRFXV�JURXSV��DQG�
KROG�FKDUUHWWHV�DQG�WRZQ�PHHWLQJV�WR�JHW�D�EHWWHU�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�GHVLUHV�RI�WKH�
FRPPXQLW\��7KLV�ZLOO�LQFOXGH�D�UHYLHZ�DQG�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�RI�ZULWWHQ�IRFXV�SRLQWV�IURP�WKH�
7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD��³0DVWHU�3ODQ�&RPPXQLW\�,QSXW�0HHWLQJV´�IURP������DQG�EHJLQQLQJ�RI�
������5&/$�ZLOO�LQFRUSRUDWH�UHOHYDQW�LQSXWV�LQWR�WKH�3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ��	�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�
3ODQ�

�

Ɣ %DVH�3ODQ�5HILQHPHQW���$GG�DOO�SHUWLQHQW�GDWD�WR�WKH�%DVH�3ODQ�LQFOXGLQJ��EXW�QRW�OLPLWHG�
WR�VLWH�DQDO\VLV�LQIRUPDWLRQ��SDUN�DPHQLWLHV��H[LVWLQJ�YHJHWDWLRQ��UHFUHDWLRQDO�IDFLOLWLHV��
SDWKV�DQG�WUDLOV��JHRORJLF�IHDWXUHV��QDWXUDO��KLVWRULF�DQG�FXOWXUDO�IHDWXUHV���

�

Ɣ ,GHQWLI\�2SSRUWXQLWLHV���5&/$¶V�WHDP�ZLOO�LGHQWLI\�DQG�GHILQH�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�IRU�
FRPPXQLW\�JDWKHULQJ�VSDFHV��QRGHV��FRQQHFWLYLW\��YHJHWDWLYH�EXIIHULQJ��VFUHHQLQJ�DQG�
IUDPLQJ���

�

Ɣ &RQFHSWXDO�3ODQV���:H�ZLOO�SUHSDUH�FRQFHSWXDO�GLDJUDPV�LQGLFDWLQJ�VSDFH�UHODWLRQVKLSV�
DQG�VXJJHVWHG�HQKDQFHPHQWV�IRU�WKH�FRQVLGHUHG�SDUNV��UHFUHDWLRQ�IDFLOLWLHV��WUDLOV��DQG�
HDFK�IRFXV�DUHD��7KHVH�SODQV�ZLOO�LQFRUSRUDWH�DOO�RI�WKH�GDWD�FROOHFWHG�RYHU�WKH�SUHYLRXV�
PRQWKV��7KH�SURFHVV�ZLOO�EH�GRFXPHQWHG�LQ�ERRNOHW�IRUP��7KLV�ERRNOHW�ZLOO�EH�WKH�ILUVW�
UHQGLWLRQ�RI�WKH�)LQDO�0DVWHU�3ODQ���

�

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

145

8.



Ɣ 3XEOLF�,QSXW�IRU�6FKHPDWLF�'HVLJQ�3ODQV���5&/$¶V�WHDP�ZLOO�FRQGXFW�WZR�
GHVLJQ�RULHQWHG�FKDUUHWWHV�ZLWK�IRFXV�JURXSV�DQG�WKH�FRPPXQLW\�DW�ODUJH��LQ�RUGHU�WR�JHW�
IHHGEDFN�IURP�WKH�ORFDO�FRPPXQLW\�UHJDUGLQJ�WKH�VFKHPDWLF�GHVLJQ��7KDW�IHHGEDFN�ZLOO�
EH�GLVWLOOHG�GRZQ�WR�XVHIXO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�WR�LQIOXHQFH�WKH�ILQDO�PDVWHU�SODQ���

Ɣ &RQWLQXH�FUHDWLQJ�WKH�0DVWHU�3ODQ�PDQXDO���5&/$�DQG�7KH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD��ZLOO�
FRQYHQH�D�IRFXV�JURXS�DQG�ZLOO�UHTXHVW�DVVLVWDQFH�ZLWK�LQ�NLQG�FOHULFDO�VWDII�VHUYLFHV�

�
�
�

3KDVH�����-XQH�WR�-XO\��������'HVLJQ�'HYHORSPHQW��'UDIW�3ODQV�
�
Ɣ 'UDIW�3ODQV���5&/$¶V�WHDP�ZLOO�WDNH�WKH�LQSXW�SURYLGHG�E\�WKH�FRPPXQLW\��IRFXV�JURXSV��

DQG�NH\�VWDNHKROGHUV�DQG�LGHQWLI\�WZR�GLVWLQFWO\�GLIIHUHQW�YLVLRQV�IRU�WKH�PDVWHU�SODQ��
7KHVH�YLVLRQV�ZLOO�EH�GHSLFWHG�LQ�WZR�GUDIW�SODQV�RI�WKH�RYHUDOO�6LWH�3ODQ�DQG�WZR�GUDIW�
SODQV�RI�HDFK�WRZQ�SDUN�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�UHYLHZHG�E\�7RZQ�RIILFLDOV�DQG�WKH�SXEOLF��7KLV�
UHYLHZ�ZLOO�LQIOXHQFH�WKH�ILQDO�SODQ���

�
�

������3KDVH�����-XO\�WR�$XJXVW��������)LQDO�0DVWHU�3ODQ�
Ɣ )LQDO�0DVWHU�3ODQ���7KLV�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�FRPSLODWLRQ�RI�DOO�RI�WKH�GDWD�WKDW�KDV�EHHQ�

FROOHFWHG�ZLOO�GHVFULEH�WKH�SURFHVV�RI�FRPPXQLW\�LQSXW�DQG�VKRZ�KRZ�WKDW�LQSXW�KDV�
LQIOXHQFHG�WKH�GHVLJQ��,W�ZLOO�LQFOXGH�LOOXVWUDWLYH�SODQV�IRU�WKH�FRQVLGHUHG�SDUNV��UHFUHDWLRQ�
IDFLOLWLHV��WUDLOV��DQG�HDFK�IRFXV�DUHD��'HWDLOHG�VNHWFKHV��VHFWLRQV�DQG�HOHYDWLRQV�ZLOO�
IXUWKHU�HODERUDWH�WKH�FRQFHSWV�VKRZQ�RQ�WKH�SODQ�DQG�LQ�WKH�WH[W�RI�WKH�GRFXPHQW��7KH�
ILQDO�PDVWHU�SODQ�ZLOO�GHILQH�D�WKHPH��RU�RYHUDOO�ORRN�WKURXJK�VLJQDJH��ZD\ILQGLQJ��
FRQVWUXFWLRQ�PDWHULDOV��FRORUV�DQG�WH[WXUHV��DQG�D�PDWHULDOV�SODQ��$OVR�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�
PDVWHU�SODQ�ZLOO�EH�DSSUR[LPDWH�FRVW�HVWLPDWHV��D�OLVWLQJ�RI�SRWHQWLDO�VXSSOLHUV�DQG�
YHQGRUV�WR�KHOS�ZLWK�LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ��PDLQWHQDQFH�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV��DQG�D�
VXVWDLQDELOLW\�SODQ���
�
�
�

� � �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

146

8.



����3KDVH�����6HSWHPEHU�WR�'HFHPEHU��������&RQVWUXFWLRQ�'RFXPHQWV�
Ɣ $Q�$GGLWLRQDO�3URSRVHG�6HUYLFH���7KLV�LV�DQ�DGGLWLRQDO�SKDVH�WKDW�ZDV�QRW�UHTXHVWHG�LQ�

WKH�LQLWLDO�5)3���+RZHYHU��WKURXJK�WKH�FRVW�VDYLQJV�RI�RXU�DSSURDFK��ZH�SURSRVH�WR�
SURYLGH�WKLV�DGGLWLRQDO�VHUYLFH�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�6FRSH�RI�6HUYLFHV��

�
Ɣ ([WHQVLRQ�RI�3URMHFW�)LQDO�'DWH����5&/$�SURSRVHV�D�GLIIHUHQW�ILQDO�GDWH�IRU�WKH�SURMHFW��

7KLV�LV�WR�DOORZ�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�RI�D�VHW�RI�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GRFXPHQWV�DV�VWDWHG�EHORZ��
�

Ɣ &RQVWUXFWLRQ�'RFXPHQWV�DQG�6SHFLILFDWLRQV���5&/$�ZLOO�FRPSOHWH�&RQVWUXFWLRQ�
'RFXPHQWV�IRU�SKDVH�RQH�RI�WKH�PDVWHU�SODQ��7%'���7KLV�ZLOO�EH�IRU�RQH�SDUN�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�
LGHQWLILHG�LQ�WKH�PDVWHU�SODQ�VWDJH�DQG�ZLOO�LQFOXGH�WKH�IROORZLQJ�GUDZLQJV��
�

/D\RXW�DQG�*UDGLQJ�3ODQV�
7KHVH�SODQV�ZLOO�VKRZ�H[LVWLQJ�DQG�SURSRVHG�JUDGLQJ�FRQWRXUV��$OO�GUDLQDJH�FRQFHSWV�
ZLOO�EH�VKRZQ��VXFK�DV��VKHHW�IORZ��GUDLQDJH�VZDOHV�DQG�GU\�ZHOOV��7KH�H[DFW�
ORFDWLRQ��DUHD�DQG�VL]H�RI�DOO�KDUGVFDSH�HOHPHQWV�RI�WKH�SURMHFW�ZLOO�EH�GHSLFWHG��7KLV�
SODQ�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�IRU�WKH�EDVLV�RI�WKH�&LYLO�(QJLQHHUV�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV��
�

3ODQWLQJ�3ODQV�
7KHVH�SODQV�ZLOO�VKRZ�WKH�ORFDWLRQ�RI�DOO�H[LVWLQJ�WUHHV�DQG�VKUXEV�WR�UHPDLQ�DQG�WR�
EH�UHPRYHG��DQG�DOO�SURSRVHG�WUHHV��VKUXEV��SHUHQQLDOV�EHGV��JURXQG�FRYHU��VRG�DQG�
QDWLYH�JUDVV�DUHDV��$�SODQW�OHJHQG�ZLOO�EH�SURYLGHG�VKRZLQJ�SODQW�VSHFLHV��TXDQWLWLHV��
VL]HV��VSDFLQJ�DQG�FRQGLWLRQ�RI�DOO�SURSRVHG�SODQW�PDWHULDO��
�

,UULJDWLRQ�+\GUR�]RQH�3ODQV�
7KHVH�SODQV�ZLOO�VKRZ�DOO�LUULJDWLRQ�]RQHV�IRU�WKH�SURMHFW�DQG�ZLOO�GHSLFW�WKH�W\SHV�RI�
KHDGV�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�UHTXLUHG�IRU�HDFK�]RQH��7KLV�SODQ�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�DV�WKH�EDVLV�IRU�DQ�
LUULJDWLRQ�GHVLJQHU¶V�ILQDO�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GRFXPHQWV�
�

&RQVWUXFWLRQ�'HWDLOV�
7KH�IROORZLQJ�SKDVH�ZLOO�EH�FRPSOHWHG�RQ�DQ�KRXUO\�EDVLV�DV�WKH�QHHG�IRU�GHWDLOV�LV�
LGHQWLILHG�E\�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�WHDP���'HWDLOHG�VHFWLRQV��HOHYDWLRQV�DQG�VSHFLILFDWLRQV�
ZLOO�VHUYH�DV�WKH�EDVLV�IRU�\RXU�6WUXFWXUDO�(QJLQHHUV�GUDZLQJV�DQG�ZLOO�EH�VXIILFLHQW�
IRU�WKH�SULFLQJ�DQG�OD\RXW�RI�WKH�UHTXHVWHG�LWHPV��3RVVLEOH�LWHPV�LQFOXGH���

��)UHH�6WDQGLQJ�:DOO �
��3DYLQJ���6WHSV �
��+DQGUDLO���*XDUGUDLO�

�

&RQVWUXFWLRQ�2EVHUYDWLRQ�
7KLV�SKDVH�FRQVLVWV�RI�VLWH�YLVLWV�FRQGXFWHG�WR�HQVXUH�WKDW�WKH�GHVLJQ�LQWHQW�LV�EHLQJ�
IROORZHG�DQG�DOO�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�VSHFLILFDWLRQV�DQG�GHWDLOV�DUH�EHLQJ�LPSOHPHQWHG�
FRUUHFWO\��,�ZLOO�UHYLHZ�WKH�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�GUDZLQJV�ZLWK�WKH�FRQWUDFWRU�DQG�DQ\�
VXEFRQWUDFWRUV��DQG�DVVLVW�LQ�WKH�OD\RXW�RI�DOO�KDUGVFDSH�DQG�ODQGVFDSH�HOHPHQWV��$OO�
VLWH�YLVLWV�ZLOO�EH�UHTXHVWHG�E\�WKH�7RZQ��RU�WKH�7RZQ¶V�UHSUHVHQWDWLYH��DQG�ZLOO�EH�
ELOOHG�RQ�DQ�KRXUO\�EDVLV�DW�WKH�UDWH�RI���������KU�� �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

147

8.



+��%LG�&RVW��
�
)HH�IRU�VHUYLFHV���
�

���5HVHDUFK�DQG�3URMHFW�.LFN�2II �
,QIRUPDWLRQ�*DWKHULQJ�0HHWLQJ ����������
%DVH�3ODQ�3UHSDUDWLRQ ����������
.LFNRII�0HHWLQJ�6HW�(YHQWV� ����������
6XEWRWDO ����������

�
���6LWH�$QDO\VLV�DQG�,QYHQWRU\ �

)LHOGZRUN�,QYHQWRU\�DQG�$QDO\VLV ����������
2YHUDOO�DQG�)RFXV�$UHD�%DVH�3ODQV ����������
6XEWRWDO ����������

�
���&RQFHSWXDO�'LDJUDPV�DQG�6FKHPDWLF�'HVLJQ �

&RPPXQLW\�0HHWLQJV ����������
���������%DVH�3ODQ�5HILQHPHQW ����������
���������2YHUDOO�&RQFHSWXDO�6LWH�3ODQ ����������

����&RQFHSWXDO�3DUN�3ODQV�#�����������HD� ��������� �
0DVWHU�3ODQ�0DQXDO�/D\RXW�DQG�3UHSDUDWLRQ ����������
6XEWRWDO �����������

���'HVLJQ�'HYHORSPHQW��'UDIW�3ODQV �
2YHUDOO�6LWH�3ODQV� ��������� �
����3DUN�3ODQV��WZR�FRQFHSWV�SHU�SDUN��#�����������HD� �����������
%RRNOHW�5HILQHPHQW ����������
6XEWRWDO �����������

�
���)LQDO�0DVWHU�3ODQ �

2YHUDOO�6LWH�3ODQ ����������
����3DUN�3ODQV��RQH�ILQDO�SODQ�SHU�SDUN��#�����������HD�� �����������
)LQLVKHG�%RRNOHW� ����������
6XEWRWDO �����������

�
���&RQVWUXFWLRQ�'RFXPHQWV �

/D\RXW�DQG�*UDGLQJ�3ODQ ����������
3ODQWLQJ�3ODQ ����������
,UULJDWLRQ�+\GUR�]RQH�3ODQ ����������
&RQVWUXFWLRQ�'HWDLOV ����������
&RQVWUXFWLRQ�2EVHUYDWLRQ��KRXUO\� ����������
6XEWRWDO ����������

�
*UDQG�7RWDO �����������

�

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

148

8.



�
$GGLWLRQDO�6HUYLFHV��
6HUYLFHV�QRW�RXWOLQHG�LQ�WKH�SURSRVDO�ZLOO�EH�ELOOHG�RQ�D�WLPH�DQG�PDWHULDO�EDVLV��$OO�VLWH�YLVLWV�DQG�
PHHWLQJV�ZLOO�RFFXU�DW�WKH�UHTXHVW�RI�WKH�RZQHU��DQG�ZLOO�EH�ELOOHG�RQ�DQ�KRXUO\�EDVLV��DW�D�UDWH�RI�
��������KU��7KLV�UDWH�LV�VXEMHFW�WR�FKDQJH�DIWHU�RQH�\HDU�IURP�WKH�GDWH�RI�DFFHSWDQFH��
�
5HLPEXUVDEOH�([SHQVHV� �
$Q\�DGGLWLRQDO�VWUXFWXUDO��FLYLO��RU�PHFKDQLFDO�HQJLQHHULQJ��WKDW�LV�UHTXLUHG�ZLOO�EH�FRPSOHWHG�
XSRQ�ZULWWHQ�UHTXHVW�DQG�ZLOO�EH�ELOOHG�DW�FRVW��&RPSXWHU�SORWV��SULQWLQJ��GHOLYHU\��HWF��ZLOO�EH�
ELOOHG�DW�FRVW���7UDYHO�H[SHQVHV��KRWHOV��SHU�GLHP�IRRGV��PLOHDJH�DQG�RWKHU�XQH[SHFWHG�FRVWV��
�
,Q�.LQG�6HUYLFHV���
7KH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�6WDII�VKDOO�DVVLVW�XV�JDWKHULQJ�GDWD�DV�QHFHVVDU\�WR�FRPSOHWH�WKH��
7DVN�UHTXHVWHG���:H�ZLOO�UHTXHVW�WKH�3XEOLF�:RUNV�GHSDUWPHQW�WR�DVVLVW�5&/$�DQG�VWDII�LQ�
VXUYH\LQJ��PHDVXULQJ�DQG�RWKHU�RQ�UHTXHVW�VHUYLFHV���
�
%LOOLQJ��
7KH�7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD�ZLOO�EH�ELOOHG�XSRQ�WKH�FRPSOHWLRQ�RI�HDFK�SKDVH�RU�GUDZLQJ�IRU�WKH�
FRQWUDFWHG�DPRXQW�SOXV�DQ\�UHLPEXUVDEOH�H[SHQVHV�LQFXUUHG�DQG��RU��DGGLWLRQDO�VHUYLFHV�
SURYLGHG��3D\PHQWV�DUH�GXH����GD\V�DIWHU�WKH�ELOOLQJ�GDWH��7KHUH�ZLOO�EH�DQ�����SHU�DQQXP�ODWH�
IHH�DSSOLHG�HYHU\�PRQWK�ODWH��,Q�DQ\�OHJDO�DFWLRQ�EURXJKW�E\�HLWKHU�SDUW\�WR�HQIRUFH�WKH�WHUPV�RI�
WKLV�FRQWUDFW��5&/$�VKDOO�EH�SDLG�DOO�FRVWV�LQFXUUHG��LQFOXGLQJ�DWWRUQH\¶V�IHHV��LI�5&/$�LV�WKH�
SUHYDLOLQJ�SDUW\���$OO�RULJLQDO�GUDZLQJV�DUH�WKH�SURSHUW\�RI�5&/$��
�
:DUUDQWLHV��
5&/$�LV�IXOO\�LQVXUHG�XS�WR���������������DQG�ZLOO�SURYLGH�FHUWLILFDWH�RI�OLDELOLW\�LQVXUDQFH�XSRQ�
UHTXHVW���
�
7HUPLQDWLRQ�RI�&RQWUDFW��
5&/$�PD\�WHUPLQDWH�WKH�FRQWUDFW�XSRQ�WKLUW\�GD\V�QRWLFH�DQG�ZLOO�EH�IXOO\�FRPSHQVDWHG�IRU�WKH�
ZRUN�FRPSOHWHG�XS�WR�WKDW�GDWH���
�
7KDQN�\RX�IRU�WKLV�RSSRUWXQLW\��
�
6LQFHUHO\��
�

�
5LFKDUG�&DPS�
�
�
$FFHSWHG�BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB'DWH� BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB � �

7RZQ�RI�3DRQLD���3DUNV��5HFUHDWLRQ�DQG�7UDLOV�0DVWHU�3ODQ�3URSRVDO�
)HEUXDU\���������

���

149

8.



150

8.



Sports Complex Master Plan

Roaring Fork School District 
Carbondale, Colorado Scale: 1" = 100'- 0"

0 50 100 200

North

Date: September 2, 2009

Revised: September 4, 2009
Revised: September 25, 2009
Revised: October 12, 2009

D

Y

H

6
2
1
8

X
X

6
3
2
0

630
0

629
0

628
0

627
0

626
0

625
0

624
0

6230

6220

621
0

62
10

6
2
1
0

62
10

6210

62
10

6210

6330

6320

6310

6300

6290

6280

6270

6260

6250

6240

6230

6220

6220

6220

624
0

6240

6240

6250

6250

6260

63
00

63
10

63
20

63
30

6270

6280

6290

6
2
9
0

6
2
8
0

6260

6270

6280

6290
6300

6300

6290
6280

62
50

6260

M
eadowood Drive

State Highway 133

Little Leage Diamond
(250' Foul Line)

Field House

Existing Stadium Lights

Softball Baseball Diamond
(340' Foul Line)

Multi-Purpose Field
(165' x 300')

Proposed Under 10
Soccer Field

(120' x 210')

Multi-Purpose Field
(165' x 300')

Greenhouse
and Garden

Softball Diamond
(300' Foul Line)

Proposed
Tennis Courts

Future
Parking

(75 New Spaces)

Proposed On-Street Parking
(Sixty spaces total, net twenty.)

Parking Lot
(Thirty four Spaces)

Sculpture Garden /
Outdoor Classroom

Sand Volleyball Court

E
xi

st
in

g 
Pa

rk
in

g 
L
ot

Skate Park

Inline Skate Rink

Existing
Parking Lot

Bus Parking
(34 Spaces @)

Crystal River Elementary School:
1. Remove High school Baseball Diamond and relocate any usable materials to the North Face diamond.
2. Construct two Little League Baseball Diamonds: Backstops, Dugouts, Grass Infields.
3. Construct Field House w/ storage, bathrooms and concessions.
4. Utilize existing light poles at the football field for lights on little league fields.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from existing CRES parking lot to Ron Patch parking lot.
6. Construct large playing field.

White Hill R
oad

Proposed 8'-0" Bicycle Path

The North Face Field:
1. Construct a High School Baseball Diamond at the location of the existing Softball Diamond.
2. Relocate existing lights poles for new Baseball Diamond. 
3. Decrease the size of the existing parking lot to allow room for an Under 10 Soccer Field.
4. Construct angled parking along Meadowood Drive.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from Inline Skating Rink, along the East property line, 

    to the RFHS property.
6. Construct Under 10 Soccer field.

Roaring Fork High School:
1. Construct a Men's Softball Diamond.
2. Construct two Sand Volleyball Courts.
3. Add four Basketball Standards to the existing court.
4. Construct four Tennis Courts.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from North Face Field property line, along 

    the East property line, to the High School and the Crystal River Trail.
6. Construct Junior High sized Soccer field.
7. Construct 8'-0" trail from proposed parking lot to the existing asphalt trail.
8. Construct Field House with storage and water fountain.
9. Construct angled parking along Meadowood Drive.

Carbondale Middle School:
1. Construct a Sand Volleyball court.
2. Construct a Playground.
3. Improve existing Basketball court.
4. Utilize existing Tennis Courts for bus parking.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from Ron Patch Field property line, along 
    the East property line, to the North Face park.
6. Improve path along the north side of Roaring fork Drive by widening it to 5'-0" and joining 
    it to the proposed bicycle path.
7. Construct storage, bathrooms and water fountain at the site of the existing storage building.
8. Add on-street parking along Roaring Fork Drive at Tiny Nightingale Field.

R
oarin

g F
ork

 D
rive

Tiny Nightingale Field

Existing Storage Building
(To be remodeled.)

Roaring Fork
High School

Softball Diamond
(300' Foul Line)

Multi-Purpose Field
(165' x 300')

C
rystal B

rid
ge D

rive

Storm Water
Detention Area

Existing Basketball Court
(Add four standards.)

Crystal River
Elementary

School

Carbondale
Middle School

Snowmass Drive

Existing
Parking Lot

Existing 8'-0" Bicycle Path

Carbondale
South

Carbondale
Fire Station

Carbondale
Fire Headquarters

River Valley Ranch
Colorado Divisio

n

of T
ransportatio

n

Villas de Santa Lucia

Villas de Santa Lucia

Existing BMX Track

Existing
Parking Lot

Existing 8'- 0" Bicycle Path

Proposed 8'- 0"
Bicycle Path

Proposed 8'- 0" Bicycle Path

Fire Truck Access

Proposed
Playground

Proposed On-Street Parking
(Sixteen spaces.)

Proposed 5'- 0" Bicycle Path

Proposed 5'- 0" Bicycle Path
(Widen existing 3'-0" sidewalk.)

Garden

Batting Cage

Multi-Purpose Field
(Regulation Soccer / Football Field

195 x 330' / 160' x 360')

One Acre
Agricultural Area6220

6
2
2
0

6230

623
0

62
30

6240

6
2
5
062

60

62
50

6
2
7
0

6
2
8
0

62
90

62
30

6210

Proposed
Park Entry

Proposed Sand
Volleyball Courts

Proposed Disc Golf Course

Proposed 5'- 0" Bicycle Path
(Extend existing path around parking lot to join with

 Second Street, and Roaring Fork Ave. paths)

Proposed 5'- 0" Bicycle Path
(Extend existing path to  join w/ Second Street path.)

Regulation Soccer / Football Field
(195 x 330' / 160' x 360')

Softball Diamond
(250' Foul Line)

Proposed Field House

Potential Garden Site

Key:
Existing Path

Proposed Path

Existing Contours

Property Line

Existing Pavement

Proposed Pavement

Sand Volleyball
Court

Multi-Purpose Field
(Regulation Soccer / Football Field

195 x 330' / 160' x 360')

Multi-Purpose Field
(Regulation Soccer / Football Field

195 x 330' / 160' x 360')

151

8.



4
3
6
9

1
7
2
"

Acce
ss

 Gate

621
0

62
10

6
2
1
0

6210

6210

62
10

6210

6260

6250

6240

6230

6220

Softball / Little League Diamond
(300' Foul Line, Grass infield.)

Proposed Stadium Lights
(Relocate four existing lights form the North Face field.)

Field House
(30' x 30' frame construction.

Bathrooms / Concession / Storage)

Proposed Under 10
Soccer Field

(Expand existing 120' x 150' to 120' x 210')

E
dg

e 
of

 E
xi

st
in

g 
Pa

rk
in

g 
L
ot

Existing Inline
Skate Rink

Existing
Tennis Courts

Crystal River Elementary School:
1. Remove High school Baseball Diamond and relocate any usable materials to the North Face diamond.
2. Construct two Little League Baseball Diamonds: Backstops, Dugouts, Grass Infields.
3. Construct Field House w/ storage, bathrooms and concessions.
4. Utilize existing light poles at the football field for lights on little league fields.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from existing CRES parking lot to Ron Patch parking lot.
6. Construct large playing field.
7. Renovate existing irrigation system.

Proposed 8'-0" Bicycle Path
(16,000 sq. ft.  4" concrete.)

Carbondale Middle School:
1. Construct a Sand Volleyball court.
2. Construct a Playground.
3. Improve existing Basketball court.
4. Utilize existing Tennis Courts for bus parking.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from Ron Patch Field property line, along 

    the East property line, to the North Face park.
6. Improve path along the north side of Roaring fork Drive by widening it to 5'-0" and joining 

    it to the proposed bicycle path.
7. Construct storage, bathrooms and water fountain at the site of the existing storage building.
8. Add on-street parking along Roaring Fork Drive at Tiny Nightingale Field.

R
oarin

g F
ork

 D
rive

Tiny Nightingale Field

Existing Storage Building
(To be remodeled.)

Multi-Purpose Field
(Regulation Soccer / Football Field

195 x 330' / 160' x 360')

Multi-Purpose Field
(165' x 300')

Crystal River
Elementary School

Carbondale
Middle School

Existing Parking Lot

Existing 8'-0" Bicycle Path

Villas de Santa Lucia

Villas de Santa Lucia

Proposed Playground

Proposed Sand
Volleyball Court

Proposed 8'- 0" Bicycle Path
(Widen existing 4'-0" conc. sidewalk.)

Garden

Little League Diamond
(250' Foul Line, Grass Infield.)

E
xistin

g In
fi
eld

Exist
ing O

utfield F
ence

Proposed 190'-0" Culvert
(to be sized by Civil Engineer.)

Existing Stadium Lights
(Utilize existing light poles for proposed Diamond lights.)

Existing Stadium Lights
(Utilize existing light poles for new lights.)

Proposed Stadium Lights
(Relocate four existing lights form the North Face field.)

Proposed Stadium Lights
(Relocate four existing lights form the North Face field.)

Proposed Parking Lot
(Existing gravel parking area to be redefined with 48 spaces.)

Existing
Basketball Court

(to be resurfaced.)

Existing Courts

6
2
1
4

6
2
1
4

Roaring Fork High School:
1. Construct a Men's Softball Diamond.
2. Construct two Sand Volleyball Courts.
3. Add four Basketball Standards to the existing court.
4. Construct four Tennis Courts.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from North Face Field property line, along 

    the East property line, to the High School and the Crystal River Trail.
6. Construct Junior High sized Soccer field.
7. Construct 8'-0" trail from proposed parking lot to the existing asphalt trail.
8. Construct Field House with storage and water fountain.
9. Construct angled parking along Meadowood Drive.

Ron Patch Field

Snowmass Drive

E
xistin

g D
u
gou

t

E
xi

st
in

g 
Fi

el
d

B
ull P

en

Existing Bathrooms

Proposed Concession Stand

1

2

4

3

Date:   

Revised:               

Sheet:

C
R

E
S

 a
n

d
 C

M
S

 S
it

e 
P

la
n

R
o

a
ri

n
g

 F
o

rk
 S

ch
o

o
l 

D
is

tr
ic

t
C

a
rb

o
n

d
a
le

, 
C

o
lo

ra
d

o

L - 1.0
Scale: 1" = 40'- 0"

North

June 6, 2006Date:   

Revised:

Sheet:

C
R

E
S

 /
 C

M
S 

 C
o
n

ce
p

tu
a
l 

S
it

e 
P

la
n

R
o

a
ri

n
g

 F
o

rk
 S

ch
o

o
l 

D
is

tr
ic

t
C

a
rb

o
n

d
a
le

, 
C

o
lo

ra
d

o

L - 1.0
Scale: 1" = 40'- 0"

North

September 24, 2006

October 12, 2009

152

8.



D

Y

H

6220

624
0

6250

The North Face Field:
1. Construct a High School Baseball Diamond at the location of the existing Softball Diamond.
2. Relocate existing lights poles for new Softball Diamond at Ron Patch Field. 
3. Decrease the size of the existing parking lot to allow room for an Under 10 Soccer Field.
4. Construct angled parking along Meadowood Drive.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from Inline Skating Rink, along the East property line, 
    to the RFHS property.
6. Construct Under 10 Soccer field.
7. Construct on street, angled parking.
8. Construct new bicycle path along Meadowood Dr.
9. Relocate existing trees along Meadowood Dr.

M
eadowood Drive

Softball / Baseball Diamond
(340' @ Foul Line / 340' @ Center Field)

Multi-Purpose Field
(165' x 300')

Proposed Under 10
Soccer Field

(Expand existing 120' x 150' to 120' x 210')

Multi-Purpose Field
(165' x 300')

Potential Softball Diamond
(300' Foul Line)

Future
Parking

(75 New Spaces)
Proposed On-Street Parking

(Sixty spaces total, net twenty.)

Proposed Parking Lot
(Thirty four Spaces)

Sculpture Garden /
Outdoor Classroom

Sand Volleyball Court
(80' x 50')

E
dg

e 
of

 E
xi

st
in

g 
Pa

rk
in

g 
L
ot

Existing Skate Park

Existing Inline
Skate Rink

Existing
Tennis Courts

R
oarin

g F
ork

 D
rive

Roaring Fork
High School

Existing Storm Water
Detention Area

Existing Basketball Court
(Add four standards: SnapSorts® DuraSlam™

Re-surface w/ SnapSports® Bounceback™
synthetic court surfacing.)

Carbondale
Fire Headquarters

Villas de Santa Lucia

Existing BMX Track

Existing
Parking Lot

Proposed 8'- 0" Bicycle Path
(to corner of Meadowood and Highway 133)

Proposed 8'- 0" Bicycle Path

Fire Truck Access

B
at

ti
n
g 

C
ag

e

(R
el

oc
at

e 
fr

om
 M

id
dl

e 
S
ch

oo
l)

Multi-Purpose Field
(Soccer: 195 x 330' / Football: 160' x 360')

62
20

6
2
2
0

6230

623
0

62
30

6230

6
2
2
8

+6223.0'

Proposed Storm Water
Detention Area

Proposed Tennis Courts
(SnapSports®, DuraCourt™ Synthetic Court Surfacing

installed on 25,920 s.f. concrete underlayment.
Tennis Nets, Containment Nets, and Lights for two courts.)

6
2

2
8

4'-0" Retaining Wall

6
2

2
6

6
2

2
4

6
2

2
2

6218

Proposed Storm Water
Detention Area

6218

6220

6222

6224

6226

6228

6230

+6227.5'6223.5'+

4'-0" Boulder Wall

Field House
(30' x 30' frame construction.

Bathrooms / Storage / Drinking Fountain)

18 Hole Disc Golf Course

18 Hole Disc Golf Course

E
d

g
e 

o
f  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

F
ie

ld

E
d

g
e 

o
f  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

F
ie

ld

Garden and
Greenhouse

62
16

621
4

6
2
1
4

62
22

6
2
1
4

6
2
1
2

6212

6214

1

2

3

4

5

6

11
1213

14

15

16

1718
Fire

 A
cc

es
s

Roaring Fork High School:
1. Construct a Men's Softball Diamond.
2. Construct two Sand Volleyball Courts.
3. Add four Basketball Standards to the existing court.
4. Construct four Tennis Courts.
5. Construct 8'-0" Bicycle Path from North Face Field property line, along 
    the East property line, to the High School and the Crystal River Trail.
6. Construct Junior High sized Soccer field.
7. Construct 8'-0" trail from proposed parking lot to the existing asphalt trail.
8. Construct Field House with storage and water fountain.
9. Construct angled parking along Meadowood Drive.

E
xi

st
in

g 
20

'-
0"

 D
ri

ve
w

ay

6220

E
xi

st
in

g 
8'

-0
" 

P
at

h

Existing Trees

Existing Trees

E
xi

st
in

g 
Fi

el
d

6
2
1
46
2
1
6

Existing 4'-0" Berm

B
u
ll
 P

en

B
ull P

en

Existing Bathrooms

E
xi

st
in

g 
B

ac
k
st

op

Proposed Concession Stand

4

5

6

7

Date:   

Revised:               

Sheet:

C
R

E
S

 a
n

d
 C

M
S

 S
it

e 
P

la
n

R
o

a
ri

n
g

 F
o

rk
 S

ch
o

o
l 

D
is

tr
ic

t
C

a
rb

o
n

d
a
le

, 
C

o
lo

ra
d

o

L - 1.0
Scale: 1" = 40'- 0"

North

June 6, 2006Date:   

Revised:

Sheet:

R
F

H
S

 /
 N

o
rt

h
 F

a
ce

 F
ie

ld
 C

o
n

ce
p

tu
a
l 

S
it

e 
P

la
n

R
o

a
ri

n
g

 F
o

rk
 S

ch
o

o
l 

D
is

tr
ic

t
C

a
rb

o
n

d
a
le

, 
C

o
lo

ra
d

o

L - 2.0
Scale: 1" = 40'- 0"

North

September 24, 2006

October 12, 2009

153

8.



E
d
g
e
 o

f G
ra

ve
l

P
ro

p
o
se

d
 A

D
A

 P
a
rkin

g

E
N
C
R
O
A
C
H
M
E
N
T

E
N
C
R
O
A
C
H
M
E
N
T

N
O

Z
O
N
E

Z
O
N
E

N
O

6'-0"

6'-0"

3
0
'-0

"

Ramp 12'-6
"

ve
rify

Bench
(Phase Two)

9
3
'-3

 1
/8

"

Light Post Footing:
(24" sonotube w/ bigfoot footing @ 36" depth.

Install 1" conduit into light anchor.)

37'-3"

Dn.

D
n.

R
 1

5'
-9

"

4
'-3

"

18'-0
"

2
3
'-0

"

Light / Net Post:
(Double 400 watt Metal Halide fixture w/ shields)

Light Post:
(Single 400 watt Metal Halide
fixture w/ shields @ corners.)

Concrete Paving
(1,770 sq.ft. 4" colored, broom finish concrete. 3,000 psi

@ 28 days.  Reinforce as required. Toweled edge.
5' x 5' tooled control joints. Davis Color "San Diego Buff" 5237)

Tiny Nightingale Field

Existing Storage Building
(To be remodeled.)

Carbondale
Middle School

Existing
Basketball Court

(58' x 96' to be resurfaced in Phase Two.)

Villas de
Santa Lucia

6210

6212

6212
6210

6212

0 10 20 40

6213

6214

6215

Proposed 4'-0" Split Rail Fence
(Phase Two)

Proposed ADA Parking

Playground Equipment Area
(4,837 sq.ft.  4" poured in place rubber surface

on compacted roadbase / gravel material.)

Proposed 3'-0" Berm

Boulder Steps
(Stacked 9" stone slabs.)

Planter

Free Game Court
(Phase Two. 60' x 120'  court to receive X-GRASS
Artificial Turf installed on existing asphalt paving.)

Bleachers
(Phase Two)

F
u
tu

re E
n
tran

ce R
oad

(T
o R

on P
atch F

ield.)

Future Parking Expansio
n

Future Sidewalk Expansio
n

6212.25' +

+6214.5'

Existing Trees

F
u
tu

re S
id

ew
alk

(T
o R

on P
atch F

ield / N
orth F

ace F
ield.)

Proposed Walkway
(Low area to be filled to the Basketball
Court level. Install 8'-0" asphalt path.

Phase Two.)

Proposed Picnic Shelter
(15' x 22' shed roof off of the existing storage building.

Remove existing east and west overhangs.)

3" PVC Irrigation Sleeve

Shade Structures
(36' x 42' span)

Stage
18" high, colored, broom finish concrete. 3,000 psi

@ 28 days.  Reinforce as required. Toweled edge. )

Existing Batting Cage
(to be relocated in the future.)

Existin
g Asphalt W

alkway

Existing Trees

3" PVC Irrigation Sleeve

Proposed Bicycle Rack

Concrete Walkway
(4,920 sq.ft. 4" broom finish concrete. 3,000 psi @ 28 days.

Reinforce as required. Toweled edge. )

Planter

6'-0" Tree Grate
(Iron Age 6'-0" Round "Locust")

Planter

6214

Drinking Fountain
(Wall mount, frost proof)

Step Info:
(three risers @ 6", two treads @ 14")

Existing Storage Shed
(To receive a new roof, siding,

and bathroom remodel.)

6212.0' +

6213.5' +

Concrete Paving
(1,070 sq.ft. 4" colored, broom finish concrete. 3,000 psi

@ 28 days.  Reinforce as required. Toweled edge.
5' x 5' tooled control joints. Davis Color "San Diego Buff" 5237))

5
'-8

"

ADA Ramp

ADA Bathrooms
(see Architects Drawings)

Bench

Bench

Bench

Concrete Paving
(430 sq.ft. 4" colored, broom finish concrete. 3,000 psi

@ 28 days.  Reinforce as required. Toweled edge.
5' x 5' tooled control joints. Davis Color "San Diego Buff" 5237))

Post Footing:
(24" sonotube w/

bigfoot footing @ 36" depth.)

Ramp @
 8%

Slope @
 2%

+ 6213.5'

+ 6212.63'

Playground Surface
(4,838 sq.ft. Pour-in-Place rubber surface from 6" to 10" thick)

Step Info:
(two risers @ 6", one treads @ 14")

Post Footing:
(To be determined by structural engineer.)

(2) 1" Electrical Conduit

Electrical Outlet
(In-ground GFI)

4
'-
3
"

26'-5
"

R
. =

 2
5
'-0

"

Trash Receptacle

6'-2
 1/4"

66'-0 3/8"

60" A
isle

Existing Edge of Gravel Driveway
(To be moved.)

E
xistin

g
 O

ve
rh

a
n
g

(to b
e
 re

m
o
ve

d
.)

1
2
'-0

"

1
4
'-11

"

1
2
'-6

"

5
'-1

0
"

Existing Outlet

34" Handrail / Guardrail:
(1.5" Steel pipe)

7'-1
1"

13'-6
"

6'-0
"

R 20'-0"

Date:   

Revised:               

Sheet:

Scale: 1" = 10'- 0"

N
o

rt
h

June 14, 2012

Sheet:

L
a
y
o
u

t 
a
n

d
 G

ra
d

in
g
 P

la
n

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 S
p

o
rt

s 
P

le
x

C
a
rb

o
n

d
a
le

, 
C

o
lo

ra
d

o

L - 3.0

June 27, 2012       

154

8.



155

8.



156

8.



157

8.



158

8.



159

8.



160

8.



161

8.



162

8.



163

8.



164

8.



165

8.



166

8.



167

8.



168

8.



169

8.



170

8.



171

8.



172

8.



173

8.



174

8.



175

8.



176

8.



177

8.



178

8.



179

8.



180

8.



181

8.



182

8.



183

8.



184

8.



185

8.



186

8.



187

8.



188

8.



189

8.



190

8.



191

8.



192

8.



193

8.



194

8.



195

8.



196

8.



197

8.



198

8.



199

8.



200

8.



201

8.



202

8.



203

8.



204

8.



205

8.



206

8.



207

8.



208

8.



209

8.



210

8.



211

8.



212

8.



213

8.



214

8.



215

8.



216

8.



217

8.



218

8.



219

8.



220

8.



221

8.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

The Learning Council – Large Park Event 

Street Closure 

Sponsorship in Lieu of Fees 

Summary:   

The Learning Council request for a large park event, street closure, and sponsorship in lieu of 

fees.  This would typically be included as a consent agenda item, but this request has two 

items outside the scope of a normal request. 

 

Notes: 

 

ITEMS TO NOTE: 

 

1. Art installations and artists working in the street during closure. 

2. Sponsorship request in lieu of fees associated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

222

9.



223

9.



224

9.



225

9.



226

9.



227

9.



228

9.



229

9.



230

9.



231

9.



232

9.



233

9.



234

9.



235

9.



236

9.



237

9.



238

9.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Blue Sage Center for the Arts – Letter of Support – Grant Application 

Summary:   

Letter of support for the Laura Jane Musser grant.  

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

239

10.



 

 
Office: 970-527- 4101 / 214 Grand Avenue / P.O Box 460, Paonia, CO 81428-0460     

www.townofpaonia.com 

03/10/2020 

 

 

 

Laura Jane Musser Fund 

Dear Board of Directors: 

 

On behalf of The Town of Paonia Board of Trustees, it is an honor to write a letter in support of the Blue 

Sage Center for the Art’s grant proposal to the Laura Jane Musser Fund. 

The Blue Sage Center for the Arts is a vital container for arts and humanities to flourish in our 

community.  The two historic buildings which make up the Blue Sage create a prominent and attractive 

presence for locals and visitors, just two doors down from City Hall on the main street of Paonia. 

Economically, the Blue Sage Center for the Arts provides local artists a space to show and sell their work 

through the gallery and giftshop, making it a wonderful attraction for tourists.  In their events hall, local 

instructors hold meditation, yoga, Tai Chi, Tae Kwon Do and dance classes for all ages.  Local musicians 

are also able to rent the hall for live performances. These activities promote entrepreneurship and 

creative economic stimulation.   

Perhaps most importantly, the Blue Sage offers arts and humanities programs for youth of the North 

Fork Valley and beyond. These efforts have been expanded in recent years and with cooperation with 

many other local nonprofits.   

For nearly 25 years, the Blue Sage Center for the arts has provided our community with an enriching 

vibrancy and quality of life.  The State of Colorado’s recognition of the North Fork Valley as a Creative 

District was largely influenced by the Blue Sage. 

By supporting the Blue Sage Center for the Arts, the Laura Jane Musser Fund supports a major asset to 

our town and community as a whole. Thank you for your consideration.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

240

10.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Colorado Oil & Gas Conservation Commission Mission Change 

Rulemaking – Draft Letter – Requested by Trustee Bachran – Local 

Governmental Designee (LGD) 

Summary:   

                     Draft letter included in packet. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

241

11.



Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission 
Mission Change Rule Making 
Town of Paonia Comments 
 
Dear Commissioners; 
 
As the Local Governmental Designee, I am offering these comments on the Mission Change 
Rulemaking: 
 
1. Notification of LGD’s concerning drilling and other activities.  

At the present time LGD’s are only notified when activity occurs in their area of 
responsibility. This disadvantages LGD’s who live in areas unlikely to be drilled but reside 
downstream of oil and gas development activity that could negatively impact their 
communities. I urge the COGCC to expand the notification areas especially in the rural parts of 
the state. A mile may make a difference in an urban area, but a mile is insignificant where the 
drilling may be 25 miles away but directly in the watershed and airshed that supplies the town 
and the surrounding farms. We cannot take appropriate action if we do not know what is 
happening in our water and airsheds. 

 
2. Notification of Community and Public 
 For the reasons outlined in the comment above, the public and communities potentially 
impacted by oil and gas development in their water and airsheds should be provided notice of 
activities at the same level as LGDs. The people of Delta County are no longer protected by any 
county level regulations and Delta County has no obligation to inform the people of spills, 
drilling applications, seismic testing, etc. Our only protection comes from the State.  
 
3. Geohazard recognition 
 The mountainous regions of Colorado contain many geologically unstable areas in which 
drilling would not be appropriate. One such area, the land surrounding Terror Reservoir and 
Ditch, which provides water to many local wineries and several organic farms, is built on a 
landslide as determined by the Colorado Geological Survey. The vibrations associated with 
drilling and hydraulic fracturing and wastewater injection wells could destabilize these 
structures and cause their failure, particularly Terror Creek Dam which is a Class 1 High Risk 
Dam. Another area is the Ragged Wilderness. A major landslide has already incurred damages 
in the past, and that is without the increased dangers that hydraulic fracturing presents. 
 Geohazards are not specifically addressed in the rules except surrounding the well pads. 
An engineering solution primarily focused on the well pad is not going to be sufficient to 
address widespread issues with the underlying geology.  
 
4. Designation of specific areas of the State as unsuited to oil and gas development. 
 There are areas of the State which because of their fragile environments, their organic 
agriculture businesses, their pristine environments which promote economically beneficial 
tourism, just to name three, are unsuited to the major environmental disturbances created by 
oil and gas development. 

242

11.



 As LGD representing the Town of Paonia, in the North Fork Valley, I would include our 
Town and surrounding areas as one of those places. We are in the process of successfully 
transitioning our economy from one primarily undergirded by extractive industries to one 
which relies on sustainable industries (organic agriculture and agritourism, arts and culture, 
wine making, outdoor recreation and hunting, small industries, among others) to survive. The 
environmental consequences of oil and gas exploration and development in our Valley or in our 
water and airsheds could be disastrous to all the work we have done. I am sure we are not the 
only community in the State facing this issue. I urge the COGCC to take into account these 
fragile islands of change into your rulemaking. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of these comments. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Mary Bachran 
Board of Trustees 
Town of Paonia 

243

11.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Clark Alley Sewer Line Project – Settlement Agreement 

Summary:   

Upon the direction of the Board, included in the packet is the final draft agreement between 

the Town and the contractors involved on the Clark Alley sewer line project. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

244

12.



 

Settlement Agreement - Page 1 of 4 

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into and 

made effective this _____ day of March, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the TOWN 

OF PAONIA, COLORADO, a Colorado Statutory Town (the “Town”), ROOP EXCAVATING, 

LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (“Roop”), WESTWATER ENGINEERING, INC., 

a Colorado Corporation (“WestWater”), and WILMORE AND COMPANY PROFESSIONAL 

LAND SURVEYING, INC., a Colorado Corporation (“Wilmore”). Hereinafter, the Town, Roop, 

WestWater and Wilmore shall be referred to individually as a “Party,” or collectively as the 

“Parties.” 

 

 RECITALS 

 

A. The Town, at the direction of its Board of Trustees, by and through its Public Works 

Department contracted with Roop, WestWater and Wilmore for a project commonly referred to as 

the Clark Alley Sewer Line Replacement to replace a portion of its municipal sewer line in the 

Clark Alley (the “Project”), wherein Roop agreed to provide excavation services, WestWater 

agreed to provide engineering services, and Wilmore agreed to provide surveying services.  The 

total estimated cost of the Project was One Hundred Fifty-six Thousand Seven Hundred and Forty 

Dollars ($156,740.00).   

  

B. Subsequent to the commencement of the Project, the Parties discovered that the 

sewer line was installed an incorrect depth, thereafter, the sewer line was removed and relocated 

within the Town’s utility easement. 

 

C. The reinstall off the sewer line created additional costs and expenses for the Project 

totaling Fifty-one Thousand One Hundred Sixteen Dollars and Seventy-nine Cents ($51,116.79) 

(the “Project Overage”).   
 

D. The Parties have agreed to a proposed settlement to address each Party’s 

responsibility and contribution to meet the Project Overage. 
 

E. The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement to address the Project Overage and 

the contribution from each Party.  
 

 AGREEMENT 

  

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties, for and in consideration of the foregoing Recitals and 

the mutual promises and agreements and undertakings contained herein, the receipt and sufficiency 

of which are hereby acknowledged, agree to a full and final compromise and settlement of the 

Project Overage in accordance with the following terms and conditions: 

 

1. Allocation of Project Overage. With the mutual execution of this Agreement, the 

Parties agree to the following allocation regarding their respective costs and contributions to the 

Project Overage:  

 

245

12.



 

Settlement Agreement - Page 2 of 4 

a. Roop – Reimbursement to the Town of Fifteen Thousand Six Hundred 

Dollars ($15,600.00) on or before September 30, 2020.   

   

b. WestWater – Reimbursement to the Town of Eleven Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($11,500.00) on or before September 30, 2020; and the 

waiving and cancelation of all monies due and owning by the Town for 

Invoice #1-525.18.01B-2 in the amount of Two Thousand Eight Hundred 

Thirty-one Dollars and Sixty-one Cents ($2,831.61).  

 

c. Wilmore – Reimbursement to the to the Town in the amount of Six 

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($6,500.00) due on or before September30, 

2020; and the waiving of and cancellation of all monies due and owing by 

the Town for Invoice 9054 in the amount of One Thousand Two Hundred 

Sixty Dollars ($1,260.00). 

 

d. Town – The Town shall contribute an additional Twelve Thousand Nine 

Hundred Dollars ($12,900.00) towards the Project Overage.  
 

2. No Admission of Liability.  The Parties expressly understand that by entering into this 

Settlement Agreement none of the Parties admit any liability to the other with respect to the Project 

Overage and to this end, the Parties have always denied and still deny any liability to the other Parties, 

and nothing in this Settlement Agreement shall be construed to be an admission of any liability 

whatsoever.  This provision is strictly related to the Project Overage and the realignment of the sewer 

line, placing it within the Town’s utility easement.   

  

3. Mutual Release.  Notwithstanding the obligations contained in this Settlement  

Agreement and enforcement thereof and understanding and recognizing the intent of the Parties 

going forward as concerns the Project, the Parties hereby release, remise and forever discharge 

each other and each Party’s successors and assigns of and from any and all claims, actions or 

causes of action, demands, rights, liabilities and damages, in law or in equity, known rights, 

liabilities and damages, in law or in equity, whether as of this date known or unknown, asserted or 

unasserted, of whatsoever kind or character, which the Parties now have or may claim to have in 

the future, arising from or based in whole or in part upon any act, omission, event, transaction, 

matter or thing involved, alleged or referred to, or arising directly or indirectly from or in 

connection with or arising out of the Project Overage.    
 

4. Fees and Costs. Each Party shall be responsible for its own professional fees 

incurred in connection with this Agreement. 

 

5. Warranties and Authority.  The Parties to this Agreement, and each of them, 

expressly warrant and represent to the other Parties that each has the full right, title, interest and 

authority to enter into this Agreement and that no approvals or consents of any other persons, 

entities or agencies are necessary to affect the same.   

 

6. Additional Documents.  The Parties to this Agreement, and each of them, agree to 

execute or secure the execution of any documents subsequently determined to be necessary to 

carry out the obligations set forth herein. 

246

12.



 

Settlement Agreement - Page 3 of 4 

 

7. Counterparts/Facsimile Transmission of Signatures.  This Agreement may be 

executed in counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one agreement, and any Party 

may execute this Agreement by signing any such counterpart.  Original signatures on copies of 

this Agreement transmitted by facsimile or by “pdf” file in an email shall be deemed originals for 

all intents and purposes and shall be binding on the Parties.  The failure to request or deliver an 

original signature shall not affect this Agreement in any manner. 

 

8. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 

the Parties hereto, their heirs, successors in interest, trustees, beneficiaries, assigns, officers, 

employees, attorneys, agents, directors and shareholders. 

 

9. Costs of Litigation.  In the event any litigation or other proceeding is brought for 

the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement or the related documents or because of an 

alleged dispute, default, misrepresentation or breach in connection with any of the provisions of 

this Agreement or the related documents, the prevailing Party shall recover from the other Party 

its reasonable attorney’s fees, expert witness fees and other costs and expenses actually incurred 

in initiating or responding to such proceeding, in addition to any other relief to which such 

prevailing Party may be entitled. 

 

10. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the related documents constitute the entire 

understanding and agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and 

cannot be amended, supplemented or changed, nor can any provision hereof be waived or 

terminated except by written instrument signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any 

such amendment, supplement, modification, waiver, or termination is sought. 

 

11. Contractual Terms.  The terms of this Agreement are contractual and not mere 

recitals and are the result of negotiations among the Parties.   

 

12. Specific Performance. The obligations and covenants set forth in this Agreement 

may be specifically enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction in Delta County, Colorado, by 

any Party certified to the benefit thereof.   

 

13. Controlling Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be interpreted pursuant to the 

laws of the State of Colorado.  The exclusive venue for any litigation or proceeding relating to this 

Agreement shall be in Delta County, Colorado. 

 

14. Headings.  Headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only 

and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

 

15. Survival.  The warranties and representatives of the Parties contained in this 

Agreement are deemed to survive the execution and effectiveness hereof. 

 

16. Review.  This Agreement has been carefully read by the Parties, the contents hereof 

are known and understood by the Parties, and it is signed freely by each person executing this 

Agreement.  

 

247

12.



 

Settlement Agreement - Page 4 of 4 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement effective the day and 

year first above written. All Parties by signing below agree that they have consulted with legal 

counsel of their choosing prior to executing this Agreement and related documents, or have 

knowingly waived their right to do so. 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, Colorado, a Colorado 

statutory town 

 

        

___________________, Mayor 

 

 

ROOP EXCAVATING LLC, a Colorado limited 

liability company 

 

        

By: _______________________, its ____________ 

 

 

WESTWATER ENGINEERING, INC., a Colorado 

corporation 

 

        

By: _______________________, its ____________ 

 

 

WILMORE AND COMPANY PROFESSIONAL 

LAND SURVEYING INC., a Colorado corporation 

 

        

By: _____________________, its ______________ 

 

 

248

12.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Resolution 2020-04 Accepting Roop Excavating, LLC Project: Clark 

Alley Sewer Line Replacement 

Summary:   

Standard acceptance of the complete project and the initiation of the one-year warrantee. 

 

Notes: 

 

NOTE: The project has reached substantial completion.  The road repair will begin late-spring, 

when the risk of frost has passed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

249

13.



Resolution 2020-04 – Project Accept – Clark Alley 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA 

COLORADO 

 

RESOLUTION 2020-04 

 

Accepting Roop Excavating, LLC 

Project: In-Town Waterline Replacement Project 
 
 

 

WHEREAS, Roop Excavating, LLC has completed construction work for the Town of 

Paonia, Colorado, and as certified by the Town’s Engineer, WestWater Engineering, 

pursuant to contracts dated October 2019 respectively; and 

 

WHEREAS, final payments for said contracts have been made by the Town; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Town’s acceptance of the project and work performed has been 

requested, following publishing Notice of Intent to Make Final Payment, pursuant to 

applicable contractual terms; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it hereby resolved by the Board of Trustees of the Town of 

Paonia, Colorado, that the work and the project performed by Roop Excavating, LLC, 

installing new sections of in-Town sewer line, is hereby accepted by the Town of Paonia, 

Colorado. 

 

Adopted by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, Colorado, this 10th day of 

March 2020. 
 
 
 

      ______________________________ 

      Charles Stewart, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________ 

J. Corinne Ferguson, Town Clerk 

 

250

13.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Town Hall Electrical Repairs 

Summary:   

 

Four contractors were direct solicited, two bids were received. Town staff recommends Tiger 

Electric. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

251

14.



252

14.



253

14.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

I. Town Administrator and Police Chief - Direct Reporting Relationships 

– Requested by Finance & Personnel 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

254

15.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Personnel Handbook – Addition of Language to Section 803 – Requested 

by Finance & Personnel 

Summary:   

Language changes provided – the change is an addition of retaliation clause. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

255

16.



ORIGINAL TEXT: 
 
The Town Council hereby determines and declares that employees of the 
Town of Paonia should never suffer retaliation from their supervisors or 
appointing authorities for communicating information about illegal activities, 
unethical practices or other forms of official misconduct experienced or 
witnessed by employees in the scope of their employment. The interests of the 
Town and the larger interests of the citizens of Paonia are served by 
encouraging all employees to speak out fully and frankly on any official 
misconduct which comes to their attention without fear of retaliation. 
Therefore, the purpose of this Article is to eliminate the possibility or the 
threat of any adverse employment action that may be taken against any city 
employee for reporting such information to their supervisor, the Town 
Manager, the Town Attorney, or the Personnel Liaison Committee. 
 

MODIFIED TEXT: 

 

The Town Council Board of Trustees hereby determines and declares that 
employees of the Town of Paonia should never suffer retaliation from their 
supervisors or appointing authorities for communicating information about 
illegal activities, unethical practices or other forms of official misconduct 
experienced or witnessed by employees in the scope of their employment. The 
interests of the Town and the larger interests of the citizens of Paonia are 
served by encouraging all employees to speak out fully and frankly on any 
official misconduct which comes to their attention without fear of retaliation. 
Therefore, the purpose of this Article is to eliminate the possibility or the 
threat of any adverse employment action that may be taken against any city 
Town employee for reporting such information through appropriate channels. 
Example: co-worker to Department Head 
Department Head to Town Administrator 
Town Administrator to who on the Board or ? 
 

 

 

256

16.



 

March 7, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Modifications to Mayor Duties – Requested by Finance & Personnel  

Summary:   

                         See Below 

 

Notes: 

 

 

From committee: 

 
Review of CRS (Colorado Revised Statutes) and ordinances regarding the Mayor for Town of Paonia. 
 
Decision Points for the Trustees: 
 
Mayor voting or veto power: The Council may designate the Mayor as a voting member or only voting in the case of a 
tie. If the Council decides the Mayor only breaks ties, then the Mayor has veto power over any item passed by the 
Council. A veto can be overridden by a 2/3 majority of the Council. 
 
Length of terms: We missed the 180 day deadline to consider a change in terms of office. The Council can go back to 
two year terms by ordinance if this is passed at least 180 days in advance of an election. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

257

17.



§ 31-4-302. Mayor - powers. 
 

Colorado Statutes
 

Title 31. GOVERNMENT - MUNICIPAL
 

CORPORATE CLASS - ORGANIZATION AND TERRITORY
 

Article 4. Organizational Structure and Officers
 

Part 3. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND OFFICERS OF STATUTORY TOWNS
 

Current through 2019 Legislative Session
 

§ 31-4-302. Mayor - powers 
 
 

The mayor or, in his absence, one of the trustees, who may be elected mayor pro tem, shall

preside at all meetings of the board of trustees and shall have the same voting powers as any

member of said board. The mayor shall be considered a member of the governing body and the

board of trustees. However, a town may provide by ordinance that the mayor shall not be entitled

to vote on any matter before the board, except in the case of a tie vote. If such an ordinance is

adopted, it shall also provide that any ordinance adopted and all resolutions authorizing the

expenditure of money or the entering into of a contract shall be subject to disapproval by the

mayor as provided in section 31-16-104. Such an ordinance may provide or may be amended to

provide that the mayor shall not be counted for purposes of determining a quorum or for the

requisite majority on any matter to be voted on by the board of trustees. Any such ordinance may

be adopted, amended, or repealed only within the sixty days preceding any election of a mayor, to

take effect upon such mayor's assumption of office.
 
 

Cite as C.R.S. § 31-4-302 

History. L. 75: Entire title R&RE, p. 1034, § 1, effective July 1. L. 81: Entire section amended, p. 1494, § 6, effective

June 8. L. 89: Entire section amended, p. 1291, § 10, effective April 6. 
 

Editor's Note:  

This section is similar to former §31-3-302 as it existed prior to 1975.

 

Case Notes: 

 

ANNOTATION

 

Applied in Hayden v. Town of Aurora, 57 Colo. 389, 142 P. 183 (1914).

258

17.



§ 31-4-301. Mayor - board of trustees - election - compensation. 

Colorado Statutes

Title 31. GOVERNMENT - MUNICIPAL

CORPORATE CLASS - ORGANIZATION AND TERRITORY

Article 4. Organizational Structure and Officers

Part 3. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND OFFICERS OF STATUTORY TOWNS

Current through 2019 Legislative Session

§ 31-4-301. Mayor - board of trustees - election - compensation 

(1) The legislative and corporate authority of towns shall be vested in a board of trustees,

consisting of one mayor and six trustees, who shall be registered electors who have

resided within the limits of the town for a period of at least twelve consecutive months

immediately preceding the date of the election; except that, in case of annexation, any

person who has resided within the annexed territory for the time prescribed in this

subsection (1) shall be deemed to have met the residence requirements for the town to

which the territory was annexed.

(2) At the regular election, there shall be elected a mayor for a term of two years and six

trustees for terms of two years. Such election shall be conducted in accordance with the

provisions of the "Colorado Municipal Election Code of 1965".

(3) All officers elected under this section shall hold their offices until their successors are

elected and have complied with section 31-4-401, and four members of said board of

trustees shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

(4) The mayor and members of the board of trustees shall receive such compensation as

fixed by ordinance.

(5) The board of trustees may provide by ordinance for four-year overlapping terms of office

for trustees. The ordinance may also provide for four-year terms for the mayor and any

officers elected pursuant to section 31-4-304. The board of trustees may reinstate the two-

year terms provided for in subsection (2) of this section by ordinance. Any ordinance

passed pursuant to this subsection (5) shall be enacted at least one hundred eighty days

before the next regular election and is subject, notwithstanding an emergency declaration,

to referendum if the referendum is brought pursuant to section 31-11-105 or pursuant to

an applicable municipal ordinance enacted in accordance with section 1 of article V of the

state constitution. No ordinance enacted pursuant to this subsection (5) shall extend or

reduce the term for which any person was elected. If any vacancy occurs in an office for

which a four-year term is in effect pursuant to this subsection (5), the board of trustees

shall fill such vacancy, as provided in section 31-4-303. If the office in which the vacancy

occurs is not an office for which a successor would otherwise have been elected at the

next regular election, the term of office of the successor elected at that regular election

shall be shortened so that the following regular election for the office is held at the time at

which it would have been held if no vacancy had occurred.
259

17.



 

Cite as C.R.S. § 31-4-301 

History. L. 75: Entire title R&RE, p. 1033, § 1, effective July 1. L. 77: (3) amended, p. 286, § 58, effective June 29. L.

79: (5) amended, p. 1174, § 8, effective July 1. L. 83: (1), (3), and (5) amended, p. 1257, § 10, effective July 1. L. 93:

(5) amended, p. 699, § 7, effective May 4. L. 95: (5) amended, p. 441, § 28, effective May 8. 

Editor's Note: 

This section is similar to former §31-3-301 as it existed prior to 1975.

Case Notes: 

 ANNOTATION

Applied in City of Denver v. Webber, 15 Colo. App. 511, 63 P. 804 (1900); Goerke v. Bd. of Trustees, 89 Colo. 510, 4

P.2d 909 (1931).

Cross References: 

For the "Colorado Municipal Election Code of 1965", see article 10 of this title.

260

17.



Sec. 2-2-20. - Mayor.  

(a)  Four-year terms for Mayor. At the April 6, 1976, election and at the regular election every four (4) 
years thereafter, a Mayor shall be elected to serve a four-year term. The Mayor shall meet the same 
qualifications as a Trustee and, in the event of a vacancy in the office of Mayor, such vacancy shall 
be filled in the same manner as a vacancy in the office of Trustee, as set forth in Section 2-2-10 
above.  

(b)  The Mayor shall preside over all meetings of the Board of Trustees and shall be entitled to vote on 
any question only in case of a tie vote. He or she shall perform such duties as may be required of 
him or her by statute or ordinance. Insofar as is required by statute and for all ceremonial purposes, 
the Mayor shall be the executive head of the Town. In case of the nonattendance of the Mayor at any 
meeting of the Board of Trustees, the Mayor Pro Tem shall preside.  

(c)  The Mayor shall execute and authenticate by his or her signature all bonds, warrants, contracts and 
instruments of and concerning the business of the Town, as the Trustees or any statutes or 
ordinances may require.  

(d)  Except as may be required by statute, the Mayor shall exercise only such powers as the Trustees 
shall specifically confer upon him or her.  

(Ord. No. VIII, § 1, 1910; Ord. No. 336, 1974; Ord. No. 2014-04, § 1, 1-13-2015)  

261

17.



Sec. 2-2-10. - Board of Trustees; terms, authority, qualifications and vacancies.  

(a)  Four-year terms for Trustees. At the April 6, 1976 election, six (6) Trustees shall be elected. The 
three (3) candidates for Trustee receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected for four-year 
terms, and the three (3) candidates for Trustee receiving the next highest numbers of votes shall be 
elected for two-year terms. At the next subsequent election and at each regular election thereafter, 
three (3) Trustees shall be elected to serve four-year terms.  

(b)  Authority. The Board of Trustees shall constitute the legislative body of the Town, shall have the 
power and authority, except as otherwise provided by statute, to exercise all power conferred upon 
or possessed by the Town, and shall have the power and authority to adopt such laws, ordinances 
and resolutions as it shall deem proper in the exercise thereof.  

(c)  Qualifications. Each Trustee shall be a resident of the Town and a registered elector who has 
resided within the Town limits for a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months immediately 
preceding the date of the election. However, in case of annexation of property, any person who has 
resided within the annexed territory for the time prescribed in this Subsection shall be deemed to 
have met the residence requirements for the Town.  

(d)  Removal from office. By a majority vote of all members of the Board of Trustees, the Mayor or any 
Trustee may be removed from office. No such removal shall be made without a charge in writing and 
an opportunity of hearing being given unless the officer against whom the charge is made has 
moved out of the Town limits. When any officer ceases to reside within the Town limits, he or she 
may be removed from office pursuant to this Subsection.  

(e)  Vacancies. The Board of Trustees shall have power, by appointment, to fill all vacancies in the 
Board of Trustees or in any other elected office, and the person so appointed shall hold office until 
the next regular election and until his or her successor is elected and qualified. If the term of the 
person creating the vacancy was to extend beyond the next regular election, the person elected to fill 
the vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term. Where vacancies exist in the offices of Trustee 
and successors are to be elected at the next election to fill the unexpired terms, the three (3) 
candidates for Trustee receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected to four-year terms, and 
the candidates receiving the next highest number of votes, in descending order, shall be elected to 
fill the unexpired terms.  

(Ord. No. 336, 1974; Ord. No. 2014-04, § 1, 1-13-2015)  

262

17.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Finance & Personnel 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

263

18.



CURRENT 
Sec. 18-9-10. - Fences, hedges and walls.  
(1)All fences and walls are subject to the applicable sections of the IBC. 
(2)Prior to the installation of a new fence, the property owner or their agent shall file for a 
fence review with the Town Building Official and shall pay the appropriate review fee as may be 
set by the Town Board of Trustees via resolution. The purpose of the Town requiring a fence 
review and fee is to allow the Town Building Official to inspect the proposed fence plan to 
confirm that it meets the provisions of the Town Code, the IBC, and that the fence does not 
encroach on a public right-of-way. 
(3)No fence, hedge or wall may extend beyond or across a property line unless it is done with 
the joint agreement of the abutting property owners. It shall be the responsibility of the 
property owner to locate all property lines. 
(4)No fence, hedge or wall shall encroach upon a public right-of-way or a public sidewalk. 
(5)No barbed wire, sharp-pointed or electrically charged fence shall be permitted in the R-1, R-
2, R-3, MH, C-1 or C-2 Districts. 
(6)Fences, hedges or walls shall not exceed four (4) feet in height from the front edge of the 
house to the property line. Rear yard fences, hedges or walls shall not exceed six (6) feet in 
height in the R-1, R-2, R-3 or MH Districts. The height shall be measured at the finished grade 
on the side of the fence nearest the street or abutting property. 
(7)On corner lots, no fence, hedge or wall exceeding thirty-six (36) inches in height shall be 
placed in a triangular area formed by three (3) points as established by: 
(a)The intersection of the property lines at the corner (Point A); and 
(b)Points B and C measured thirty (30) feet along the property lines from Point A. 
 
REVISED (new text in blue) 
Sec. 18-9-10. - Fences, hedges and walls.  
(1)All fences and walls are subject to the applicable sections of the IBC and/or IRC. 
(2)Prior to the installation of a new fence, hedge or wall the property owner or their agent shall 
file for a fence review with the Town Building Official and shall pay the appropriate review fee 
as may be set by the Town Board of Trustees via resolution. The purpose of the Town requiring 
a fence review and fee is to allow the Town Building Official to inspect the proposed fence plan 
to confirm that it meets the provisions of the Town Code, the IBC, and that the fence does not 
encroach on a public right-of-way. 
(3)No fence, hedge or wall may extend beyond or across property lines unless it is done with 
the joint agreement of the abutting property owners. It shall be the responsibility of the 
property owner to locate all property lines. 
(4)No fence, hedge or wall shall encroach upon a public right-of-way or a public sidewalk. 
(5)No barbed wire, sharp-pointed or electrically charged fence shall be permitted in the R-1, R-
2, R-3, MH, C-1 or C-2 Districts. 
(6)The Town recommends a maximum height of 4 feet for fences, hedges, and walls in front 
yards (from the front edge of the house to the property line) and a maximum height of 6 feet 
for fences, hedges and walls in rear yards for all districts. The height shall be measured at the 
finished grade on the side of the fence nearest the street or abutting property.  

264

18.



(8) On corner lots, a minimum 50% transparency is required subject to safety review by Town 
staff in conjunction with the building official. 
(7) Town staff will have discretion to approve minor variations from Town recommendations 
(up to 6" different than recommended) at the time of fence review provided that the Town 
deems the variation to have no negative impact on public safety. 
(8) For major variations from Town recommendations, staff may forward the fence review to 
the Planning Commission for consideration and recommendation to the Board of Trustees. This 
consideration will not require a separate application for variance. 
(9) If a fence review is denied by the Town, the applicant may still pursue a formal variance 
request. 
 

265

18.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Space 2 Create 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

266

19.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Tree Board 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

267

20.



 

March 4, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Adjournment 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bachran: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: 

Trustee Diehl: Trustee Knutson: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Stewart: 

 

 

 

268

21.


	Top
	. ASF 1 - Roll Call
	ASF 1 - Roll Call

	. ASF 2 - Agenda Approval
	ASF 2 - Agenda Approval

	. ASF 3 - Announcements
	ASF 3 - Announcements
	Announcement - Mayoral Debate
	Announcement - Candidate Forum
	Blue Sage_Thank You
	Hope West_Thank You
	Enlighten Offset

	1. ASF 4 - Visitors & Guests
	ASF 4 - Visitors &amp; Guests

	2. ASF 5 - Consent Agenda
	ASF 5 - Consent Agenda
	021120-draft
	Blue Sage StoryFest_Redacted
	En Passant LLR Application_Redacted

	3. ASF 6 - Mayor's Report
	ASF 6 - Mayor&#39;s Report

	4. ASF - Staff Reports
	ASF 7 - Staff Reports
	blotter

	5. ASF 8 -Treasurer's Report
	ASF 8 -Treasurer&#39;s Report

	6. ASF 9 - Disbursements
	ASF 9 - Disbursements
	Disbursements_Redacted

	7. ASF - Dark Skies
	ASF - Dark Skies
	Dark Skies Paonia Update for TC

	8. GOCO Grant Award – Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan
	ASF - GOCO Grant Award – Parks, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan
	WSC PRT RFP
	DHM Design PRT RFP
	Richard Camp LA PRT RFP
	Lose Design PRT RFP

	9. The Learning Council – Large Park Event
	ASF - The Learning Council – Large Park Event
	Learning Council Large Park_Redacted

	10. Blue Sage Center for the Arts – Letter of Support – Grant Application
	ASF - Blue Sage Center for the Arts – Letter of Support – Grant Application
	Blue Sage Draft LOS

	11. COGCC Draft Letter
	ASF - COGCC Draft Letter
	COGCC Mission change comment

	12. Clark Alley Sewer Line Project – Settlement Agreement
	ASF - Clark Alley Sewer Line Project – Settlement Agreement
	Contractor Settlement Agreement

	13. Resolution 2020-04 Clark Alley
	ASF - Resolution 2020-04 Clark Alley
	Resolution 2020-04 - Roop Project Acceptance

	14. Electrical Repairs to Town Hall
	ASF - Electrical Repairs
	Tiger Electric Bid
	Integrity Electric Bid

	15. I. Town Administrator and Police Chief - Direct Reporting Relationships – Requested by Finance & Personnel
	I. Town Administrator and Police Chief - Direct Reporting Relationships – Requested by Finance &amp; Personnel

	16. Personnel Handbook – Addition of Language to Section 803
	ASF - Personnel Handbook – Addition of Language to Section 803
	Handbook Language - Article 803

	17. Modifications to Mayor Duties – Requested by Finance & Personnel
	ASF - Modifications to Mayor Duties – Requested by Finance & Personnel
	Powers of Mayor
	Mayor- board of trustees
	Sec._2_2_20.___Mayor.-2
	Sec._2_2_10.___Board_of_Trustees__terms__authority__qualifications_and_vacancies.-2

	18. ASF 10 -Committee Reports
	ASF 10 -Committee Reports
	fence-hedge-wall

	19. ASF 11 -S2C
	ASF 11 -S2C

	20. ASF 12 -Tree Board
	ASF 12 -Tree Board

	21. ASF 13 -Adjournment
	ASF 13 -Adjournment

	Bottom

